INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
___________________________________________________________
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To Be Held on November 10, 2017
___________________________________________________________
Dear Stockholders:
We cordially invite you to attend the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“2017 Annual Meeting” or “Annual
Meeting”) of Independence Holding Company (“IHC” or the “Company”). Our 2017 Annual Meeting will be held on
Friday, November 10, 2017 at 10:00 a.m. Eastern and will be our fourth completely virtual meeting of stockholders. You
will be able to attend the 2017 Annual Meeting, vote, and submit your questions during the meeting via live webcast by
visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2017. To enter the meeting, you must have your sixteen-digit control
number that is shown on the proxy card accompanying this Proxy Statement. You will not be able to attend the Annual
Meeting in person.
Details regarding logging onto and attending the meeting over the website and the business to be conducted are described
in the Proxy Card included with this Proxy Statement. We have also made available a copy of our 2016 Annual Report with
this Proxy Statement. We encourage you to read our Annual Report. It includes our audited financial statements and
provides information about our business and products.
The purpose of the meeting is to:
1.

elect nine directors, each for a term of one year;

2.

ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017;

3.

conduct an advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers;

4.

conduct an advisory vote regarding the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of
IHC’s named executive officers; and

5.

transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on September 15, 2017 may vote at the meeting or any
postponements or adjournments of the meeting.
By order of the Board of Directors,

Loan Nisser
Vice President – Legal and Secretary
September 26, 2017
HOW TO VOTE: Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, we hope you will vote
as soon as possible. You may vote over the Internet, as well as by telephone or, if you requested to receive printed
proxy materials, by mailing a proxy or voting instruction card. Please review the instructions on each of your voting
options described in this Proxy Statement as well as in the proxy card. Your vote is important, no matter how many
shares you owned on the record date. A return envelope is enclosed for your convenience and needs no postage if
mailed in the United States.
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2017 PROXY STATEMENT
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Independence Holding Company (“IHC”) is furnishing you this proxy statement in
connection with the solicitation of proxies on its behalf for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held via live
webcast on the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2017. The meeting will take place on Friday, November
10, 2017 at 10:00 a.m. Eastern.
At the online meeting, stockholders will vote on the following proposals:
1.

elect nine directors, each for a term of one year;

2.

ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017;

3.

conduct an advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers;

4.

conduct an advisory vote regarding the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of
IHC’s named executive officers; and

5.

transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

Stockholders also will consider any other matter that may properly come before the meeting, although we know of no other
business to be presented.
By submitting your proxy (via the Internet, telephone or mail), you authorize Ms. Teresa A. Herbert, IHC’s Chief Financial
Officer and Senior Vice President, and Ms. Loan T. Nisser, IHC’s Vice President - Legal and Secretary, to represent you and
vote your shares at the meeting in accordance with your instructions. They also may vote your shares to adjourn the meeting
and will be authorized to vote your shares at any postponements or adjournments of the meeting.
IHC’s 2016 Annual Report, which includes IHC’s audited financial statements, is being made available to IHC’s
stockholders concurrently herewith (the “Annual Report”). Although the Annual Report is being made available
concurrently with this proxy statement, it does not constitute a part of the proxy solicitation materials and is not incorporated
by reference into this proxy statement.
We are first sending the proxy statement, form of proxy and accompanying materials to stockholders on or about September
26, 2017.
We will be hosting the 2017 Annual Meeting live via the Internet. A summary of the information you need to attend the
meeting online is provided below:
•

Any
stockholder
can
attend
the
2017
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2017;

Annual

Meeting

live

via

the

Internet

•

Webcast starts at 10:00 a.m. Eastern;

•

Stockholders may vote and submit questions while attending the 2017 Annual Meeting on the Internet; and

•

Stockholders need a sixteen-digit control number to join the 2017 Annual Meeting.

at

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING, PLEASE
PROMPTLY VOTE YOUR SHARES OVER THE INTERNET, BY TELEPHONE OR BY MAIL.
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
What is the purpose of the 2017 Annual Meeting and why is it being held over the Internet?
At the 2017 Annual Meeting, the stockholders will be asked to:
1.

elect nine directors, each for a term of one year;

2.

ratify the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017;

3.

conduct an advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers;

4.

conduct an advisory vote regarding the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of
IHC’s named executive officers; and

5.

transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

The 2017 Annual Meeting is being held on a virtual-only basis in order to reach the broadest number of stockholders possible
and to save costs relative to holding a physical meeting. A number of prominent publicly-traded Delaware companies have
held virtual-only meetings.
Who is entitled to vote?
The record date for the meeting is September 15, 2017. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on that date are
entitled to vote at the meeting. The only class of stock entitled to be voted at the meeting is IHC common stock. Each
outstanding share of common stock is entitled to one vote for all matters before the meeting. At the close of business on the
record date, there were 14,934,136 shares of IHC common stock outstanding.
How do I vote by proxy?
If you properly complete, sign and date the accompanying proxy card or voting instruction card and return it in the enclosed
envelope, it will be available for examination on the Internet through the virtual web conference during the annual meeting.
Please note that there are separate telephone and Internet arrangements depending on whether you are a registered
stockholder (that is, if you hold your stock in your own name) or you hold your shares in “street name” (that is, in the name
of a brokerage firm or bank that holds your securities account). In either case, you must follow the procedures described in
the proxy card.
Am I entitled to vote if my shares are held in “street name”?
If your shares are held by a bank, brokerage firm, trustee or other nominee, you are considered the “beneficial owner” of
shares held in “street name.” If your shares are held in street name, the proxy materials are being made available to you by
your bank, brokerage firm, trustee or other nominee (the “record holder”), along with voting instructions. As the beneficial
owner, you have the right to direct your record holder how to vote your shares, and the record holder is required to vote your
shares in accordance with your instructions. If you do not give instructions to your record holder, it will nevertheless be
entitled to vote your shares in its discretion on the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public
accounting firm (Proposal 2), but not on the election of directors, advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named
executive officers, or advisory vote regarding the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of IHC’s named
executive officers (Proposal 1, Proposal 3 and Proposal 4, respectively).
As the beneficial owner of shares, you are invited to attend the annual meeting. If you are a beneficial owner, however, you
may not vote your shares at the meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy, executed in your favor, from the record holder of
your shares.
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How many shares must be present to hold the online meeting?
A quorum must be present at the meeting for any business to be conducted. The presence at the meeting, in person or by
proxy, of the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding on the record date will constitute a quorum.
Proxies received but marked as abstentions or treated as broker non-votes will be included in the calculation of the number of
shares considered to be present at the meeting.
What if a quorum is not present at the online meeting?
If a quorum is not present or represented at the meeting, the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at the meeting
who are present in person or represented by proxy, or the chairman of the meeting, may adjourn the meeting until a quorum is
present or represented. The time and place of the adjourned meeting will be announced at the time the adjournment is taken,
and no other notice will be given.
What do I need in order to be able to attend the online meeting?
The Company will be hosting the 2017 annual meeting live online. You can attend the 2017 annual meeting live online at
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2017. The webcast will start at 10:00 a.m. Eastern. You may vote and submit
questions while attending the meeting online. You will need the sixteen-digit control number included on your proxy card in
order to be able to enter the meeting.
How can I vote my shares during the online meeting?
Shares held in your name as the stockholder of record may be voted by you, while the polls remain open, at
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/IHC2017 during the meeting. You will need your sixteen-digit control number found
in the proxy card. Shares held beneficially in street name may be voted by you at the meeting only if you obtain a legal
proxy from the brokerage firm, bank, trustee or other nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares.
Even if you plan to attend the online meeting, we recommend that you also submit your proxy or voting instructions as
described below so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to attend the online meeting.
How can I vote my shares without attending the online meeting?
Whether you hold shares directly as the stockholder of record or beneficially in street name, you may direct how your shares
are voted without attending the online meeting. If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote by proxy. You can vote by
proxy over the Internet or telephone by following the instructions provided on the proxy card. If you hold shares beneficially
in street name, you may also vote by proxy over the Internet, telephone or by mail by following the voting instruction card
provided to you by your brokerage firm, bank, trustee or other nominee.
Is there a deadline for submitting proxies electronically or by telephone or mail?
Proxies submitted electronically or by telephone as described above must be received by 11:59 pm Eastern on November 9,
2017. Proxies submitted by mail should be received before 10:00 a.m. Eastern on November 9, 2017.
Can I revoke my proxy and change my vote?
You may change your vote at any time prior to the taking of the vote at the online meeting. If you are the stockholder of
record, you may change your vote by (1) granting a new proxy bearing a later date (which automatically revokes the earlier
proxy) using any of the methods described above (and until the applicable deadline for each method), (2) providing a written
notice of revocation to IHC’s Secretary at Independence Holding Company, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York,
New York 10022 prior to your shares being voted, or (3) attending the online meeting and voting. Attendance at the online
meeting will not cause your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you specifically so request. For shares you hold
beneficially in street name, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your brokerage firm, bank,
trustee or other nominee following the instructions they provided, or, if you have obtained a legal proxy from your brokerage
firm, bank, trustee or other nominee giving you the right to vote your shares, by attending the online meeting and voting.
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Who can participate in the online meeting?
Only stockholders eligible to vote or their authorized representatives in possession of a valid sixteen-digit control number
will be admitted as participants to the online meeting.
Will my vote be kept confidential?
Yes, your vote will be kept confidential and not disclosed to IHC unless:
•

required by law;

•

you expressly request disclosure on your proxy; or

•

there is a proxy contest.

Who will count the votes?
Broadridge Financial Solutions, an independent third party, will tabulate and certify the votes.
Broadridge Financial Solutions will serve as the inspector of election.

A representative of

How does the Board recommend I vote on the proposals?
The Board recommends that you vote:
•

FOR the election of the nine nominees to the Board;

•
FOR the ratification of the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC’s independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017;
•

FOR endorsing the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers; and

•

FOR a triennial advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers.

What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?
If you submit a proxy but do not indicate any voting instructions, your shares will be voted:
•

FOR the election of the nine nominees to the Board;

•
FOR the ratification of the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC’s independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017;
•

FOR endorsing the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers; and

•

FOR a triennial advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers.

Will any other business be conducted at the meeting?
IHC’s by-laws require stockholders to give advance notice of any proposal intended to be presented at the meeting. The
deadline for this notice has passed and we have not received any such notices. If any other matter properly comes before the
stockholders for a vote at the meeting, however, the proxy holders will vote your shares in accordance with their best
judgment.
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How many votes are required to elect the director nominees?
The affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the online meeting is required to elect the nine nominees as directors.
This means that the nine nominees will be elected if they receive more affirmative votes than any other person. The proxy
card enables you to vote FOR all nominees proposed by the Board, to WITHHOLD authority for all nominees or to vote FOR
ALL EXCEPT one or more of the nominees being proposed. Voting for all nominees except those you list on the proxy card
is the equivalent of withholding your vote for those directors you have listed. If you vote “Withheld” with respect to one or
more nominees, your shares will not be voted with respect to the person or persons indicated.
What happens if a nominee is unable to stand for election?
If a nominee is unable to stand for election, the Board may either reduce the number of directors to be elected or select a
substitute nominee. If a substitute nominee is selected, the proxy holders will vote your shares for the substitute nominee,
unless you have withheld authority.
How many votes are required to ratify the appointment of IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017?
The ratification of the appointment of RSM US LLP as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2017 requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present at the online meeting or by
proxy and entitled to vote. The proxy card enables you to vote FOR or AGAINST the proposal or ABSTAIN from voting on
the proposal. Abstentions will have the same practical effect as votes against the proposal.
How many votes are required to endorse the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers?
The endorsement of the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers requires the affirmative vote of a majority
of the shares present at the meeting in person or by proxy and entitled to vote. The vote on this matter is advisory, and
therefore the results are not binding on IHC. The proxy card enables you to vote FOR or AGAINST the proposal or
ABSTAIN from voting on the proposal. Abstentions will have the same practical effect as votes against the proposal.
How many votes are required to endorse the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of IHC’s named
executive officers?
The affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the meeting in person or by proxy is required to select among
the three frequency options: “annually,” “biennially,” or “triennially.” The vote on this matter is advisory, and therefore the
results are not binding on IHC.
How will abstentions be treated?
Abstentions will be treated as shares present for quorum purposes and entitled to vote, and will have the same practical effect
as votes against a proposal.
How will broker non-votes be treated?
Broker non-votes will be treated as shares present for quorum purposes. Your broker will be entitled to vote your shares in
its discretion on the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2017 (Proposal 2) without your voting instructions, but not on the election of directors (Proposal 1),
advisory vote on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers (Proposal 3) or advisory vote regarding the frequency
of future advisory votes on the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers (Proposal 4).
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STOCK OWNERSHIP
Directors and Executive Officers
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the number of shares of our common stock
beneficially owned based on 14,934,136 issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of September 15, 2017 (the
“Record Date”) by: (i) each of our directors and nominees, and (ii) each of our named executive officers.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting or investment power
with respect to securities. Other than as described in the notes to the table, we believe that all persons named in the table
have sole voting and investment power with respect to shares beneficially owned by them. All share ownership figures
include shares issuable upon exercise of options or warrants exercisable within sixty (60) days of the Record Date, which are
deemed outstanding and beneficially owned by such person for purposes of computing his or her percentage ownership, but
not for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
The address of each individual named below is c/o IHC at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06902.
Name of Beneficial Owner

Number of Shares

Mr. Gary J. Balzofiore
Mr. Larry R. Graber
Ms. Teresa A. Herbert
Mr. David T. Kettig
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman
Mr. John L. Lahey
Mr. Steven B. Lapin
Mr. Ronald I. Simon
Mr. James G. Tatum
Mr. Roy T. K. Thung
All directors, nominees for director and executive
officers as a group (10 persons)

69,473
100,285
131,987
158,185
27,126
23,100
122,162
40,825
39,126
525,898
1,238,167

Percent of Class
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(5)
(8)

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
3.5%
8.0%

*

Represents less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

(1)

Includes 44,000 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date.

(2)

Includes 55,000 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date above.

(3)

Includes 74,800 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date. Includes 410 shares of common stock held by Ms. Herbert’s children of which shares Ms. Herbert
disclaims beneficial ownership. Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of
which the named individual is an officer.

(4)

Includes 66,300 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date. Includes 110 shares of common stock held by Mr. Kettig’s children of which shares Mr. Kettig
disclaims beneficial ownership.
Includes 825 shares of common stock underlying restricted share units vesting within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date above.

(5)

(6)

Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the named individual is an
officer.

(7)

Includes 825 shares of common stock underlying restricted share units vesting within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date. Includes 30,000 shares of common stock held by the Simon Family Trust and 2,000 shares of
6

common stock held in Mr. Simon’s wife’s IRA account, all of which shares Mr. Simon disclaims beneficial
ownership.
(8)

Includes 258,500 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from the
Record Date. Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the named
individual is an officer.

Significant Stockholders
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the number of IHC shares of common stock
beneficially owned, based on 14,934,136 issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of the Record Date, by certain
persons known by IHC to beneficially own more than five percent of the outstanding shares of IHC common stock.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting or investment power
with respect to securities. Other than as described in the notes to the table, we believe that all persons named in the table
have sole voting and investment power with respect to shares beneficially owned by them. All share ownership figures
include shares issuable upon exercise of options or warrants exercisable within sixty (60) days of the Record Date, which are
deemed outstanding and beneficially owned by such person for purposes of computing its percentage ownership, but not for
purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
Name

Number of Shares

Percent of Class

9,145,226

61.24%

990,861

6.63%

Geneve Holdings, Inc. (1)
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP. (2)
(1)

According to information disclosed in Amendment No. 35 to Schedule 13D dated May 9, 2001 of Geneve Holdings,
Inc. (“GHI”), a private diversified financial holding company. GHI is a member of a group consisting of itself and
certain of its affiliates that together hold the shares of common stock of IHC. The address of GHI is 96 Cummings
Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06902.

(2)

According to information disclosed in Form 13F, reporting as of June 30, 2017 (the “Form 13F”), Dimensional Fund
Advisors LP, an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, furnishes
investment advice to four investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and serves
as investment manager to certain other commingled group trusts and separate accounts (such investment companies,
trusts and accounts, collectively referred to as the “Funds”). In certain cases, subsidiaries of Dimensional Fund
Advisors LP may act as an adviser or sub-adviser to certain Funds. In its role as investment advisor, sub-adviser
and/or manager, Dimensional Fund Advisors LP or its subsidiaries (collectively, “Dimensional”) possess voting
and/or investment power over the securities of IHC that are owned by the Funds, and may be deemed to be the
beneficial owner of the shares of IHC held by the Funds. However, all shares of IHC’s common stock reported in
the Form 13F are owned by the Funds. Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities. In addition,
its filing of the Form 13F shall not be construed as an admission that it or any of its affiliates is the beneficial owner
of any securities covered by the Form 13F for any other purposes than Section 13(g) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. The address of Dimensional Fund Advisors LP is Palisades West, Building 1, 6300 Bee Cave
Road, Austin, Texas 78746.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires directors and certain officers of IHC and
persons who own more than ten percent (10%) of IHC common stock to file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) initial reports of beneficial ownership (Form 3) and reports of subsequent changes in their beneficial
ownership (Form 4 or Form 5) of IHC’s common stock. Such directors, officers and greater-than-ten-percent stockholders
are required to furnish IHC with copies of the Section 16(a) reports they file. The SEC has established specific due dates for
these reports, and IHC is required to disclose in this proxy statement any late filings or failures to file.
Based solely upon a review of the copies of the Section 16(a) reports (and any amendments thereto) furnished to
IHC and written representations from certain reporting persons that no additional reports were required, IHC believes that its
7

directors, reporting officers and greater-than-ten-percent stockholders complied with all these filing requirements for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, except for the Form 3 that Mr. Simon filed in October of 2016 that was late due to an
administrative oversight.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS
Corporate Governance Documents
In furtherance of its longstanding goals of providing effective governance of IHC’s business and affairs for the longterm benefit of stockholders and promoting a culture and reputation of the highest ethics, integrity and reliability, the Board
has adopted:
•

a Code of Business Ethics that applies to IHC’s Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Operating
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, controller and other IHC employees performing similar functions (the
“Code of Ethics”);

•

a Corporate Code of Conduct that applies to all employees, officers and directors of IHC and its
subsidiaries and affiliates (the “Code of Conduct”);

•

Corporate Governance Guidelines (“Guidelines”) to advance the functioning of the Board and its
committees and set forth the Board’s expectations as to how it should perform its functions; and

•

written charters for its Audit and Compensation Committees of the Board (collectively, the “Charters”).

The Code of Ethics, Code of Conduct, Guidelines and Charters can be found on IHC’s website at
www.ihcgroup.com, and are also available in print to any stockholder who requests them. The information on IHC’s
website, however, is not incorporated by reference in, and does not form part of, this proxy statement. The Board does not
anticipate modifying the Code of Ethics or the Code of Conduct, or granting any waivers to either, but were any such waiver
or modification to occur, it would promptly be disclosed on IHC’s website.
Director Independence
As a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), IHC uses the definition of independence
prescribed in the NYSE Listed Company Manual (the “Manual”). Each of Messrs. Kirkman, Tatum, Lahey and Simon met
such independence requirements. The Board has affirmatively determined that none of them had any material relationship
described in Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC with IHC at all applicable times during 2016.
IHC qualifies as a “controlled company,” as defined in Section 303A.00 of the Manual, because more than 50% of
IHC’s voting power is held by Geneve Holdings, Inc. (“GHI”). Therefore, IHC is not subject to certain NYSE requirements
that would otherwise require IHC to have: (i) a majority of independent directors on the Board (Manual Section 303A.01);
(ii) compensation of IHC’s executive officers determined by a compensation committee composed solely of independent
directors (Manual Section 303A.04); or (iii) director nominees selected, or recommended for the Board’s selection, by a
nominating committee composed solely of independent directors (Manual Section 303A.05).
Of IHC’s directors, none of Ms. Herbert or Messrs. Graber, Kettig, Lapin or Thung is independent under the
NYSE’s standards.
For each independent director, after reasonable investigations and in reliance on representations by such independent
director to IHC, IHC believes there is no material transaction, relationship or arrangement described in Item 407(a) of
Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC between each such director not disclosed in this annual report under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”
Board Leadership Structure
The Board understands that there is no single, generally accepted approach to providing Board leadership and that
given the dynamic and competitive environment in which we operate, the right Board leadership structure may vary as
circumstances warrant. To this end, the Board has no policy mandating the combination or separation of the roles of
Chairman and CEO and believes the matter should be discussed and considered from time to time as circumstances change.
Currently, Mr. Roy T.K. Thung is both our CEO and Chairman.
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Board Role in Risk Oversight
The Board administers its risk oversight function directly and through its Audit Committee. The Board and the
Audit Committee regularly discuss with management, and the Company’s independent auditors and internal auditor, our
major risk exposures, their potential financial impact on the Company, and the steps we take to manage these risks.
In general, management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the risks the Company faces, while the
Board, acting as a whole and through the Audit Committee, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management. In its
risk oversight role, the Board has the responsibility to satisfy itself that the risk management processes designed and
implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed. Senior management attends the regular quarterly
meetings of the Board and is available to address questions and concerns raised by the Board on risk management-related and
other matters.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to risk management in
the areas of financial reporting, internal controls and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. In addition, the
Audit Committee discusses policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management with management, internal audit
and the independent auditors.
The Audit Committee assists the Board with oversight of risk management by reviewing the Company’s financial
statements and meeting with the Company’s independent auditors and internal auditor at regularly scheduled meetings of the
Audit Committee, to review their reports on the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal audit and internal control systems,
and discusses with management the Company’s major financial risks and exposures and the steps management has taken to
monitor and control such risks and exposures.
Audit Committee Financial Expert
The Board has determined that at least one member of the Audit Committee, Mr. Tatum, is an audit committee
financial expert as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.
Executive Sessions of Non-Management Directors
Non-management Board members meet without management present at least twice annually, at regularly scheduled
executive sessions. At least once a year, such meetings include only the independent members of the Board. Mr. Kirkman
presides over meetings of the non-employee and independent directors.
Communications with Directors
You may communicate directly with any member or committee of the Board by writing to: IHC Board of Directors,
c/o Corporate Secretary, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York 10022. Please specify to whom your letter
should be directed. The Corporate Secretary of IHC will review all such correspondence and regularly forward to the Board
a summary of all such correspondence and copies of all correspondence that, in her opinion, deals with the functions of the
Board or its committees or that she otherwise determines requires the attention of any member, group or committee of the
Board. Board members may, at any time, review a log of all correspondence received by IHC that is addressed to Board
members and request copies of any such correspondence.
Interested parties who wish to communicate with non-management IHC directors, or with the presiding director of
the Board’s executive sessions, may do so by writing to IHC Board of Directors, c/o Corporate Secretary, Attn: Nonmanagement Directors or the Presiding Director for Executive Sessions, as applicable, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New
York, New York 10022. All such mail received will first be opened and screened for security purposes.
Nomination of Director Candidates
In light of GHI’s majority voting power, the Board has determined that the Board, rather than a nominating
committee, is the most appropriate body to identify director candidates and select nominees for presentation at the annual
meeting of stockholders. In making nominations, the Board seeks candidates with outstanding business experience who will
bring such experience to the management and direction of IHC. The minimum criteria employed by the Board in its selection
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of candidates are set forth in the Guidelines, along with certain other factors that inform the selection process. All directors
serving on the Board participate in the consideration of director nominees. Furthermore, in light of GHI’s voting power, the
Board has determined that no policy with respect to consideration of candidates recommended by security holders other than
GHI’s would be appropriate.
The Board does not have a formal policy with respect to diversity. However, the Board seeks to have a Board that
reflects an appropriate balance of knowledge, experience, skills, expertise and diversity, as applicable to our industry. The
Board assesses its achievement of diversity through the review of Board composition as part of the Board’s annual selfassessment process.
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MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Meetings
During 2016, the Board held eight formal meetings. Each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of: (i) the
total number of meetings of the Board; and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board on which he
or she served, during the applicable period.
Committees
The Board has standing Audit and Compensation Committees. Committee memberships are as follows:
Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Mr. James G. Tatum (Chairman)
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman
Mr. John L. Lahey

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman (Chairman)
Mr. John L. Lahey
Mr. James G. Tatum

Audit Committee. The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to: (i) select an independent registered public
accounting firm; (ii) review and approve management’s plan for engaging IHC’s independent registered public accounting
firm during the year to perform non-audit services and consider what effect these services will have on the independence of
IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm; (iii) review IHC’s annual financial statements and other financial
reports which require approval by the Board; (iv) oversee the integrity of IHC’s financial statements, IHC’s systems of
disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting and IHC’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (v) review the scope of audit plans of IHC’s internal audit function and independent registered public
accounting firm and the results of their audits; and (vi) evaluate the performance of IHC’s internal audit function and
independent registered public accounting firm.
The Audit Committee met eleven times in 2016. Each of its members meets the independence requirements of the
NYSE and applicable SEC rules and regulations. The Audit Committee and the Board have determined that each member of
the Audit Committee is financially literate and that Mr. Tatum qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as such
term is defined in Item 401(h)(2) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities with
regard to compensation matters, is responsible for determining or ratifying (as the case may be) the compensation of IHC’s
executive officers, and administers IHC’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and 2016 Stock Incentive Plan. The Compensation
Committee met three times in 2016. The Compensation Committee has sole authority to determine the compensation for
IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and President.
Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Each IHC director is expected to be online for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders. At last year’s annual meeting,
every IHC director except one attended online.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Director Independence
As a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), IHC uses the definition of independence
prescribed in the NYSE Listed Company Manual (the “Manual”). Each of Messrs. Kirkman, Tatum, Simon and Lahey met
such independence requirements. The Board has affirmatively determined that none of them had any material relationships
described in Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC with IHC at all applicable times during 2016.
IHC qualifies as a “controlled company,” as defined in Section 303A.00 of the Manual, because more than 50% of
IHC’s voting power is held by GHI. Therefore, IHC is not subject to certain NYSE requirements that would otherwise
require IHC to have: (i) a majority of independent directors on the Board (Manual Section 303A.01); (ii) compensation of
IHC’s executive officers determined by a compensation committee composed solely of independent directors (Manual
Section 303A.04); or (iii) director nominees selected, or recommended for the Board’s selection, by a nominating committee
composed solely of independent directors (Manual Section 303A.05).
Of IHC’s directors, none of Ms. Herbert or Messrs. Graber, Kettig, Lapin or Thung is independent under the
NYSE’s standards.
For each independent director, after reasonable investigations and in reliance on representations by such independent
director to IHC, IHC believes there is no transaction, relationship or arrangement described in Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K
promulgated by the SEC between each such director not disclosed in the annual report under the caption “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions.”
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
Messrs. Kirkman, Lahey and Tatum served on the Compensation Committee of the Board during fiscal year 2016.
Transactions with Management and Other Relationships
With Geneve Holdings, Inc.
IHC and Geneve Holdings, Inc. (“GHI”), IHC’s controlling stockholder, operate under cost-sharing arrangements
pursuant to which certain items are allocated between the two companies. During 2016, IHC paid GHI (or accrued for
payment thereto) approximately $439,000 under such arrangements, and paid or accrued an additional $225,000 for the first
six months of 2017. Such cost-sharing arrangements include GHI’s providing IHC with the use of office space as IHC’s
corporate headquarters for annual consideration of $160,000 in 2016. The foregoing arrangement is subject to the annual
review and approval of the Audit Committee, and IHC’s management believes that the terms thereof are no less favorable
than could be obtained by IHC from unrelated parties on an arm’s-length basis.
Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons
Section 5.7 of IHC’s by-laws provide that no contract or transaction between IHC and one or more of its directors or
officers (or their affiliates) is per se void (or voidable) if, among other things, the material facts as to the relevant
relationships and interests were disclosed to the Board (or the relevant committee thereof) and the transaction in question was
approved by a majority of the disinterested directors voting on the matter. The Audit Committee’s charter requires the Audit
Committee to review and approve all interested-party transactions, and IHC’s other governance documents specifically
prohibit various conflicts of interest and impose disclosure requirements in connection with any potential conflict of interest.
The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved each of the related-party transactions set forth above. IHC is not
aware of any transaction reportable under paragraph (a) of Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in respect of 2016, that was not so reviewed and approved.
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PROPOSAL 1
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Board currently consists of nine members. All of IHC’s directors are elected at each annual meeting of
stockholders and hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders. The Board proposes that each of the nine current
directors be re-elected to the Board. Each of the directors elected at this annual meeting will hold office until the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held in 2018 and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified. The Company
believes that its Board as a whole should encompass a range of talent, skill, diversity, and expertise enabling it to provide
sound guidance with respect to the Company's operations and interests. In addition to considering a candidate's background
and accomplishments, candidates are reviewed in the context of the current composition of the Board and the evolving needs
of our businesses.
Each nominee has consented to being named in this proxy statement and has agreed to serve if elected. If a nominee
is unable to stand for election, the Board may either reduce the number of directors to be elected or select a substitute
nominee. If a substitute nominee is selected, the proxy holders will vote your shares for the substitute nominee, unless you
have withheld authority.
The following table sets forth, with respect to each nominee, his or her name, age, principal occupation, employment
during at least the past five years, the year he or she was first elected an IHC director and directorships held in other public
companies.
NOMINEES FOR ELECTION TO THE BOARD
Director, Year First Elected
as Director
Mr. Larry R. Graber
2000

Age

Principal Occupation, Business and Directorships and Qualifications

68

Since March 2012, Chief Life and Annuity Actuary and Senior Vice President of IHC; for
more than five years prior thereto, Senior Vice President — Life and Annuities of IHC;
for more than the past five years, a director and President of Madison National Life
Insurance Company, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of IHC (“Madison National Life”);
for more than the past five years, a director and President of Southern Life and Health
Insurance Company, an insurance company with principal offices in Homewood,
Alabama and a wholly owned subsidiary of Geneve Holdings, Inc., a private diversified
holding company that is the controlling stockholder of IHC (“GHI”); for more than the
past five years, a director of Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York, a
wholly owned subsidiary of IHC(“Standard Security Life”).
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Graber should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in many facets
of the insurance business, particularly relating to the acquisition and administration of
blocks of life insurance.
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Director, Year First Elected
as Director
Ms. Teresa A. Herbert
2016

Age

Principal Occupation, Business and Directorships and Qualifications

56

Since November 2016, a director of IHC; for more than the past five years, Chief
Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of IHC; for more than the past five years,
Vice President of Geneve Corporation (“Geneve”), a private company controlled by GHI;
for more than the past five years until August 2016, Chief Financial Officer and Senior
Vice President of American Independence Corp., formerly a public company traded on
Nasdaq and a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company that was merged out of
existence on August 31, 2016 (“AMIC”); from March 2011 to August 2016, a director of
AMIC.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Ms.
Herbert should serve as one of IHC’s directors are her extensive financial and accounting
experience and her experience with companies with complex organizational structures,
intercompany transactions, diverse and complex business transactions, the insurance
industry, and public companies.

Mr. David T. Kettig
2011

58

Since September 2017, President of IHC; from April 1, 2016 to September 2017,
Executive Vice President of IHC; since February 2015, Chief Operating Officer and
Acting General Counsel of IHC; from April 2009 to April 1, 2016, Chief Operating
Officer and Senior Vice President of IHC; from August 2013 to August 2016, President
of AMIC; from April 2009 to March 2012, Chief Operating Officer and Senior Vice
President of AMIC; from March 2011 to August 2016, a director of AMIC; for more than
the past five years, President and a director of Independence American Insurance
Company, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of IHC (“IAIC”); from March 2012 to
March 2016, President of Standard Security Life; since April 2016, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Standard Security Life; for more than the past five years, a director
of Standard Security Life.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Kettig should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse,
complex businesses and transactions, corporate governance, legal affairs, risk
management, and insurance.

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman
1980

73

For more than the past five years, a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Compensation Committee of IHC and Chairman of the Compensation Committee of IHC;
for more than five years prior to his retirement in October 2005, Executive Vice President
of Mellon Bank, N.A., a national bank.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Kirkman should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse,
complex businesses and transactions, including that involving public companies in the
financial services fields.
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Director, Year First Elected
as Director
Mr. John L. Lahey
2006

Age

Principal Occupation, Business and Directorships and Qualifications

71

For more than the past five years, a member of the Audit Committee and the
Compensation Committee of IHC; since March 1987, President of Quinnipiac University,
a private university located in Hamden, Connecticut; since 1995, a member of the Board
of Trustees of Yale-New Haven Hospital, a hospital located in New Haven, Connecticut;
between 1994 and December 2015, a director of the UIL Holdings Corporation, a
publicly-held utility holding company with principal offices in New Haven, Connecticut;
since December 2015, a director, Audit and Compliance Committee member, and
Executive Committee member of Avangrid, Inc., a diversified energy and utility company
with principal offices in New Haven, Connecticut that is the successor-in-interest by
merger to UIL Holdings Corporation; since 2004, a director of Alliance for Cancer Gene
Therapy, the only national non-profit organization committed exclusively to cancer gene
and cell therapy research; since June 2006, a director of Standard Security Life
Insurance. Mr. Lahey also serves as a director and Chairman of the Board of the New
York City St. Patrick’s Day Parade, Inc.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Lahey should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive executive experience in
major organizations and valuable expertise in management and corporate governance.

Mr. Steven B. Lapin
1991

72

For more than the past five years, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of IHC; for
more than the past five years, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and a director
of GHI; for more than the past five years, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President
and a director of Geneve; for more than five years prior to August 2016, a director of
AMIC; for more than the past five years, a director of Madison National Life; for more
than the past five years, a director of Standard Security Life.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Lapin should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse,
complex businesses and transactions, corporate governance of public companies, risk
management and insurance.
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Director, Year First Elected
as Director
Mr. Ronald I. Simon
2016

Age

Principal Occupation, Business and Directorships and Qualifications

78

Since November 2016, a director of IHC; from August 1997 until April 1999, Chairman
of the Board of AMIC; from April 1999 to February 2001, Vice Chairman of the Board of
AMIC; from February 2001 through May 2001, Acting Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of AMIC; from January 2003 to August
2016, Chairman of the Compensation Committee of AMIC; from January 2005 to August
2016, a member of the Audit Committee of AMIC; from 2011 to August 2016, Chairman
of the Audit Committee of AMIC; from May 1997 through April 2000, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer, and from September 1999 to September 2001, a
director, of Western Water Company, which owned and developed water rights in the
western United States; from May 1999 through July 2002, when the company was
acquired by Schering, AG, a director of Collateral Therapeutics, Inc., a developer of nonsurgical gene therapy procedures for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases; from
January 2006 through January 2009, a director of Cardium Therapeutics, a company
formed to acquire and further develop the procedures originally developed by Collateral
Therapeutics; from August 2001 through June 2002, Chief Financial Officer of Wingcast,
Inc., a joint venture of Ford Motor Company and Qualcomm, Inc.; from April 2003
through April 2005, director of BDI Investment Corp., a closely held regulated
investment company; from March 2003 through February 2006, a director of WFS
Financial, Inc., one of the nation’s largest independent automobile finance companies;
since August 2007, a director and member of the Audit and Compensation Committees,
and Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, of Ellington Financial, LLC, a
specialty finance company specializing in acquiring and managing mortgage-related
assets; since May 2013, a director and member of the Audit and Compensation
Committees, and Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, of Ellington
Residential Mortgage REIT.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Simon should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in finance and
senior management, and in growing successful organizations with entrepreneurial
company cultures.

James G. Tatum, C.F.A.
2000

75

Since June 2002, Chairman of the Audit Committee of IHC; for more than the past five
years, member of the Compensation Committee of IHC; for more than the past five years,
a director of Standard Security Life; for more than the past five years, sole proprietor of J.
Tatum Capital, LLC, a registered investment advisor, located in Birmingham, Alabama,
managing funds primarily for individual and trust clients; Chartered Financial Analyst for
more than twenty-five years; from March 2011 until August 2016, a director of AMIC;
from March 2011 until August 2016, a member of the Audit Committee of AMIC.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Tatum should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive executive experience in
major organizations and valuable expertise with financial issues, risk management and
oversight.
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Director, Year First Elected
as Director
Mr. Roy T.K. Thung
1990

Age

Principal Occupation, Business and Directorships and Qualifications

73

Since September 2017, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of IHC; since
March 2011, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of IHC; since
January 2000, Chief Executive Officer of IHC; since July 1999, President of IHC; for
more than five years prior to July 1999, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of IHC; for more than the past five years, Executive Vice President of Geneve;
from July 2002 until August 2016, a director of AMIC; from November 2002 until March
2012, Chief Executive Officer and President of AMIC; from March 2012 until August
2016, Chief Executive Officer of AMIC; for more than five years prior to April 2016,
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Standard Security Life; for more
than the past five years, director of Standard Security Life; for more than the past five
years, Chairman of the Board of Madison National Life.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Thung should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse,
complex businesses and transactions, including involving public companies in the
insurance industry, and executive and management experience.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
IHC’s officers are elected by the Board, each to serve until his or her successor is elected and has qualified, or until his or her
earlier resignation, removal from office or death.
Gary Balzofiore (Age 60)
Since March 2012, Corporate Vice President – Accounting and Finance of IHC; from March 2012 until August 2016,
Corporate Vice President – Accounting and Finance of American Independence Corp., formerly a public company traded on
Nasdaq and majority-owned subsidiary of IHC that was merged out of existence on August 31, 2016; since March 2016,
President of Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York, a wholly owned subsidiary of IHC (“Standard
Security”); for more than the past five years until March 2016, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Standard Security; for more than the past five years, Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Independence
American Insurance Company, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of IHC.
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DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION
The general policy of the Board is that compensation for independent directors should be a mix of cash and equity.
IHC does not pay management directors for Board service in addition to their regular employee compensation. The
Compensation Committee has the primary responsibility for reviewing and considering any revisions to director
compensation.
During 2017, each non-employee (outside) director will be paid:
•
an annual retainer of $36,000;
•
$1,500 for each Board or committee meeting attended;
•
$9,000 for service as chairman of a Board committee; and
•
2,475 restricted share units of IHC common stock, vesting ratably over the three annual anniversaries of the
award, and contingent upon continuing service as a director.
The following table summarizes compensation paid to IHC’s directors during 2016, except for Mr. Roy T.K. Thung,
IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, Mr. David T. Kettig, President, Chief Operating Officer and
Acting General Counsel, Mr. Larry R. Graber, Chief Life and Annuity Actuary and Senior Vice President, and Teresa A.
Herbert, Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, for whom compensation is disclosed elsewhere herein.
Director Summary Compensation
Fees Earned or Paid
in Cash
($)

Stock Awards
($)

Total
($)

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman

78,000

47,396

125,396

Mr. John L. Lahey

69,000

47,396

116,396

-

-

-

Mr. Ronald I. Simon

11,300 (2)

47,396

58,696

Mr. James G. Tatum

76,500

47,396

123,896

Name

Mr. Steven B. Lapin (1)

(1)

Mr. Lapin received no compensation in connection with his service as an IHC director during 2016.

(2)

Mr. Simon was newly-elected at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and thus was only paid fees for
the fourth quarter of 2016.

19

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
“Say-on- Pay” and “Say-on-Frequency”
The Compensation Committee considered the voting results of the advisory, non-binding “say-on-pay” vote at
IHC’s 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in connection with the discharge of its responsibilities. IHC’s stockholders
expressed their support of the compensation for our CEO, CFO and the three other most-highly compensated officers in
respect of 2013, with a substantial majority of the votes cast voting to approve the compensation of IHC’s named executive
officers described in IHC’s 2014 proxy statement. Following the Compensation Committee’s review and consideration of
this stockholder support, as well as the other factors discussed in more detail below, we determined to make no changes to
our approach to executive compensation. The next advisory, non-binding “say-on-pay” vote will occur at IHC’s 2017
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
At IHC’s 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, a majority of IHC’s stockholders voted for “say-on-pay” proposals
to occur every three years. In light of this voting result on the frequency of “say-on-pay” proposals, the Board decided that
IHC will present “say-on-pay” proposals every three years until the next required vote on the frequency of stockholder votes
on named executive officer compensation. Accordingly, we held a say on frequency of “say-on-pay” vote at our 2011
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The next stockholder vote on the frequency of stockholder votes on named executive
officer compensation will occur at IHC’s 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Compensation Objectives
Compensation of each of IHC’s executive officers is intended to be based on performance of IHC and the executive.
The Compensation Committee has responsibility for establishing and reviewing the compensation of IHC’s CEO and for
reviewing the compensation for all of IHC’s executive officers.
In establishing executive officer compensation, the following are among the Compensation Committee’s objectives:
•
•
•

attract and retain individuals of superior ability and managerial talent;
ensure compensation is aligned with IHC’s corporate strategies, business objectives and the long-term
interests of IHC’s stockholders; and
enhance incentives to increase IHC’s stock price and maximize stockholder value by providing a portion of
total compensation in IHC equity and equity-related instruments.

IHC’s overall compensation program is structured to attract, motivate and retain highly qualified executive officers
by paying them competitively, consistent with IHC’s success and their contributions to such success. To this end, base salary
and bonus are designed to reward annual achievements and to be commensurate with an executive’s scope of responsibilities,
demonstrated leadership abilities and management experience and effectiveness. Other elements of compensation focus on
motivating and challenging IHC’s executive officers to achieve superior, long-term, sustained results.
Implementation of Objectives
Salaries
The salary of an IHC executive officer is based on his or her level of responsibility, experience and qualifications
and recent performance. Adjustments to salary are made in response to changes in any of the foregoing factors and changes
in market conditions. Executive officer salaries are typically reviewed by the Compensation Committee every twelve
months. The Compensation Committee has sole authority to determine the compensation for IHC’s Chief Executive Officer.
Neither the Compensation Committee nor IHC has retained a compensation consultant or similar organization for assistance
in reviewing or setting executive officer salaries or other compensation.
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Cash Bonuses
Following the close of each fiscal year, IHC’s Chief Executive Officer makes determinations that are communicated
to the Compensation Committee as to cash bonuses for IHC’s executive officers (excluding himself), based on an analysis of:
(i) any contractual commitments set forth in an employment agreement; (ii) IHC’s performance in the year ended versus
IHC’s plan for such year; and (iii) a subjective evaluation of a variety of factors as to each executive officer’s individual
contribution during the year. The Compensation Committee then convenes outside the presence of the Chief Executive
Officer and, following appropriate deliberation, approves or ratifies bonuses for all IHC executive officers.
The salaries paid and annual bonuses awarded to IHC’s named executive officers in respect of 2016 are set forth in
the Summary Compensation Table.
Equity Awards
IHC’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”) provided the opportunity for the Compensation Committee to
make equity incentive awards to, among others, IHC’s executive officers. While there are outstanding grants under the 2006
Plan, it has expired and no new grants may be made under it. The Board of Directors approved a 2016 Stock Incentive Plan
(the “2016 Plan”) that contains substantially the same terms as the 2006 Plan and submitted it for stockholder approval at the
2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. A majority of the shares present at that meeting in person or by proxy approved the
2016 Plan. The following is a description of the 2016 Plan.
The types of equity awards that may be granted under the 2016 Plan are: (i) options; (ii) share appreciation rights
(“SARs”); (iii) restricted shares, restricted share units (which are shares granted after certain vesting conditions are met) and
unrestricted shares; (iv) deferred share units; and (v) performance awards. The Compensation Committee determines the
type and amount of the award with reference to factors that include the present value of the award relative to the executive
officer’s salary and anticipated cash bonus, the anticipated importance of the executive’s position to IHC’s future results, and
the size of the executive’s total compensation relative both to other executives within IHC and to compensation levels at
other companies.
Within the limitations of the 2016 Plan, the Compensation Committee may modify an award to: (i) accelerate the
rate at which an option or SAR may be exercised (including, without limitation, permitting an option or SAR to be exercised
in full without regard to the installment or vesting provisions or whether the option or SAR is at the time exercisable); (ii)
accelerate the vesting of any award; (iii) extend or renew outstanding awards; or (iv) accept the cancellation of outstanding
awards. However, the Compensation Committee may not, without stockholder approval, cancel an outstanding option that is
underwater for the purpose of reissuing the option to a grantee within six months thereafter at a lower exercise price, or
granting a replacement award of a different type. Notwithstanding the foregoing provision, no modification of an
outstanding award can materially and adversely affect a grantee’s rights thereunder, unless the grantee provides written
consent, there is an express 2016 Plan provision permitting the Compensation Committee to act unilaterally to make the
modification, or the Compensation Committee reasonably concludes that the modification is not materially adverse to the
grantee.
Options
Incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and non-incentive stock options (“Non-ISOs”) may be granted under the 2016
Plan. At the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee, any option may be exercisable, in whole or in part, immediately
upon the grant thereof, or only after the occurrence of a specified event, or only in installments, which installments may vary.
The term of any option may not exceed ten years from the grant date; provided, however, that in the case of an ISO granted to
an employee of IHC or any of its affiliates who owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the voting stock on
the grant date (“Employee Ten Percent Holder”), the term of the ISO shall not exceed five years from the grant date. The
exercise price of an option is determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion; provided, however, that if an
ISO is granted to an Employee Ten Percent Holder, the per share exercise price shall not be less than 110% of the closing
price per share on the NYSE on the grant date (“Fair Market Value”); and provided further that for all other options, the per
share exercise price shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the grant date. Neither IHC nor the
Compensation Committee can allow for a repricing without stockholder approval.
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Each of IHC’s named executive officers holds stock options, having varying exercise prices and expiration dates
(based on the date granted). Please see the information set forth in the tables below for additional information. IHC does not
have a target level of stock ownership applicable to any of its employees, including the named executive officers.
Share Appreciation Rights (SARs)
The Compensation Committee may grant SARs either concurrently with the grant of an option or with respect to an
outstanding option (in which case the SAR will extend to all or a portion of the shares covered by the related option, the
exercise price is the same as the exercise price of the related option, and the SAR is exercisable at such time or times, and to
the extent, that the related option will be exercisable), or independent of any option. The Compensation Committee may also
grant SARs that are exercisable only upon or in respect of a change in control (as defined in the 2016 Plan) or any other
specified event. The per share exercise price of a SAR cannot be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value, and the SARs
may only be exercised when the Fair Market Value of the shares underlying the SAR exceeds the exercise price of the SAR.
Neither IHC nor the Compensation Committee can allow for a repricing without stockholder approval.
Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units and Unrestricted Shares
Subject to applicable law, an award of 2,475 restricted shares (or such other amount that the Board may determine
on a prospective basis) will be granted to each non-employee director of IHC following each annual meeting of IHC’s
stockholders. One-third of those restricted shares will vest on each of the next three annual anniversaries of the date the
restricted shares were awarded. In the event that a non-employee director terminates his or her membership on the Board for
any reason, the director will immediately forfeit any unvested restricted shares.
At any time within the thirty-day period (or other shorter or longer period that the Compensation Committee selects
in its sole discretion) in which a grantee who is a member of a select group of management or highly compensated employees
receives an initial award of either restricted shares or restricted share units, the Compensation Committee may permit the
grantee to irrevocably elect to defer the receipt of all or a percentage of the shares that would otherwise be transferred to the
grantee upon the vesting of such award.
Deferred Share Units
The Compensation Committee may permit any director, consultant or member of a select group of management or
highly compensated employees to irrevocably elect to forego the receipt of cash or other compensation (including shares),
and in lieu thereof to have IHC credit to an internal 2016 Plan account a number of deferred share units having a Fair Market
Value equal to the shares and other compensation deferred.
Performance Awards
The Compensation Committee may grant a performance award based on one or more of the following to measure
IHC, affiliate, and/or business unit performance during a specified performance period: (i) gross or net premiums; (ii) profit
margin; (iii) number of insured lives; (iv) basic, diluted, or adjusted earnings per share; (v) sales or revenue; (vi) earnings
before interest, taxes, and other adjustments (in total or on a per share basis); (vii) basic or adjusted net income; (viii) returns
on equity, assets, capital, revenue or similar measure; (ix) economic value added; (x) working capital; (xi) total stockholder
return; and (xii) product development, product market share, research, licensing, litigation, human resources, information
services, mergers, acquisitions, or sales of assets of affiliates or business units. Performance measures may vary from
performance period to performance period and from grantee to grantee.
A grantee will be eligible to receive payment in respect of a performance award only to the extent that the
performance measure(s) for such award is achieved, and it is determined that all or some portion of such grantee’s award has
been earned for the performance period. The Compensation Committee reviews whether, and to what extent, the
performance measure(s) for a particular performance period (of not less than one fiscal year) have been achieved and, if so,
determines the amount of the performance award to be paid. The Compensation Committee may use negative discretion to
decrease, but not increase, the amount of the award otherwise payable based upon such performance.
At any time prior to the date that is at least six months before the close of a performance period (or shorter or longer
period that the Compensation Committee selects), the Compensation Committee may permit a grantee who is a member of a
select group of management or highly compensated employees to irrevocably elect to defer the receipt of all or a percentage
of the cash or shares that would otherwise be transferred to the grantee upon the vesting of a performance award.
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Termination, Rescission and Recapture of Awards
Each award under the 2016 Plan granted to an employee is intended to align such employee’s long-term interest
with those of IHC. Therefore, if the employee discloses confidential or proprietary information of IHC, provides services to
a competitor of IHC, solicits a non-administrative employee of IHC, or has engaged in activities which conflict with IHC’s
interests (including any breaches of fiduciary duty or the duty of loyalty), the employee is acting contrary to IHC’s long-term
interests. Accordingly, except as otherwise expressly provided in an award agreement, IHC may terminate any outstanding,
unexercised, unexpired, unpaid, or deferred awards, rescind any exercise, payment or delivery pursuant to the award, or
recapture any common stock (whether restricted or unrestricted) or proceeds from the employee’s sale of shares issued
pursuant to the award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, IHC may, in its sole and absolute discretion, choose not to terminate,
rescind or recapture upon the occurrence of any of the foregoing events.
Tax Implications
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act amended the Tax Code to add Section 162(m)(6), which limits the
amount that certain health care insurers, including the Company, may deduct for tax years starting after 2012. Section
162(m)(6) limits the tax deduction to $500,000 per individual, and makes no exception for performance-based compensation
or commissions. In addition, the limit applies to compensation, including deferred compensation, paid to all current and
former employees and most independent contractors, not just to compensation paid to a narrow group of current top
executives. The rule became effective for employer tax years beginning after December 31, 2012. Consequently, the
Company is limited to a $500,000 deduction for compensation paid to each named executive officer.
Section 162(m)(1) of the Tax Code limits the amount a publicly-held corporation may deduct for compensation paid
to the CEO and certain named executive officers to $1 million per year per executive, makes an exception for performancebased compensation and commissions, and excludes the compensation paid to former covered executives once they are no
longer covered. Since the Company is subject to Section 162(m)(6), the performance-based exclusion available under Section
162(m)(1) is not available to the Company.
Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities with regard to compensation matters,
and is responsible for establishing and approving the compensation of IHC’s executive officers. The Compensation
Committee has sole authority to determine the compensation for IHC’s Chief Executive Officer. The Compensation
Committee has reviewed and discussed the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” section of the Form 10-K for IHC’s
fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 with management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer.
Compensation Committee
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman (Chairman)
Mr. John L. Lahey
Mr. James G. Tatum
Compensation Risk Assessment
The Compensation Committee considered the Company's compensation policies and practices and concluded that
they did not need to be modified.
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Summary Compensation Table
The following table lists the annual compensation for IHC’s CEO, CFO and its three other most highly compensated
executive officers in 2016 for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Name and Principal
Position

Year

Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

Mr. Roy T.K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman

2016
2015
2014

461,767
452,737
443,885

338,800
338,800
338,000

-

158,400 (1)

3,717,963
804,000
855,000

Ms. Teresa A. Herbert
Chief Financial Officer

2016
2015
2014

291,571
275,821
270,436

623,250 (5)
173,250
157,500

-

51,193 (6)
42,570 (1)

-

Mr. David T. Kettig
President and Chief
Operating Officer

2016
2015

374,946
352,728

775,000 (5)
275,000

-

58,323 (6)
-

2014

345,456

250,000

-

Mr. Larry R. Graber
Chief Life and Annuity
Actuary

2016
2015
2014

295,873
279,091
273,619

143,000
293,120
130,000

Mr. Gary J. Balzofiore (10)
Corporate Vice President –
Accounting and Finance

2016

264,359

Mr. Michael Kemp
Chief Underwriting
Officer

2016 (12)
2015
2014

106,184
328,079
321,295

(2)
(2)
(2)

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
($)
149,722
141,247
133,252

(3)
(3)
(3)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Total
($)

19,049
19,932
28,583

(4)

4,687,301
1,756,716
1,957,120

-

21,456
22,252
23,871

(7)

987,470
471,323
494,377

-

-

24,599
25,217

(8)

1,232,868
652,945

47,520 (1)

-

-

19,448

-

37,775 (6)
24,750 (1)

-

-

32,122
31,863
33,072

(9)

508,770
604,074
461,441

625,000 (5)

-

44,540 (6)

-

-

11,601 (11)

945,500

1,102,209 (13)
325,000
376,680

-

-

-

-

609,550 (14)
26,030
23,533

1,817,943
679,109
721,508

662,424

(1)

Represents the modification of fully vested options during 2014 to extend their expiration date. The amount
reported is the incremental fair value of the modified award as of the modification date.

(2)

Represents strategic and long-term incentive earnings as a result of Mr. Thung’s Employment Agreement
with IHC for the year indicated. IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement by and between IHC and
Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, dated as of
May 11, 2011. Under the agreement, Mr. Thung is entitled to an incentive payment upon the disposition of a
strategic asset of IHC equal to 3% of the amount above which the consideration received by IHC for such
disposition exceeds the book value of such asset as of March 31, 2011. In addition, any termination of the
agreement other than for “cause” triggers an incentive payment to Mr. Thung in respect of such appreciation
in the overall book value of IHC. The initial term of Mr. Thung’s employment agreement was two years
from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, will be automatically extended for successive two-year
periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by IHC. In accordance with the
terms of the agreement, Mr. Thung received cash incentive payments of $3,013,235 and $288,728 in 2016
and 2015, respectively, as a result of the Risk Solutions sale and coinsurance transaction with Swiss Re in
2016 and the Madison National Life coinsurance and sale transaction with National Guardian Life Insurance
Company in 2015. Had the strategic and long-term incentive provisions of Mr. Thung’s agreement been
triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr. Thung would have received $3,075,000.

(3)

Represents the increase (decrease) in the value of Mr. Thung’s Retirement Benefits Agreement with IHC for
the year indicated. Refer to Potential Payments to Named Executive Officers for additional information
regarding this agreement.
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(4)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile, employermatching contributions to Mr. Thung’s 401(k) account, and group life insurance premiums paid on Mr.
Thung’s behalf.

(5)

Includes the transactional bonus paid in connection with the sale of IHC Risk Solutions to Swiss Re.

(6)

Represents the grant date fair value of options granted during 2016 and the incremental fair value of fully
vested option awards modified during 2016, as of the modification date.

(7)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile, employermatching contributions to Ms. Herbert’s 401(k) account, group life insurance premiums paid on Ms.
Herbert’s behalf, and employer contributions to Ms. Herbert’s disability insurance.

(8)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile, employermatching contributions to Mr. Kettig’s 401(k) account, group life insurance premiums paid on Mr. Kettig’s
behalf, and employer contributions to Mr. Kettig’s disability insurance.

(9)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile, employermatching contributions to Mr. Graber’s 401(k) account, and group life insurance premiums paid on Mr.
Graber’s behalf.

(10)

Mr. Balzofiore was not a named executive officer during 2014 and 2015. Thus, compensation for Mr.
Balzofiore in such years is not included in the table.

(11)

The amount shown for 2016 represents employer-matching contributions to Mr. Balzofiore’s 401(k) account,
group life insurance premiums paid on Mr. Balzofiore’s behalf, and employer contributions to Mr.
Balzofiore’s disability insurance.

(12)

Mr. Kemp was not serving as an executive officer of IHC at the end of the last completed fiscal year.
However, had he served as an executive officer at the end of the last fiscal year, he would have been one of
the three most highly compensated executive officers. Therefore, pursuant to Item 402(a)(4) of Regulation SK promulgated by the SEC, compensation for Mr. Kemp is provided for the full 2016 fiscal year.

(13)

Represents the transactional bonus paid in connection with the sale of IHC Risk Solutions to Swiss Re.

(14)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile, employermatching contributions to Mr. Kemp’s 401(k) account, group life insurance premiums paid on Mr. Kemp’s
behalf, employer contributions to Mr. Kemp’s disability insurance, and a severance payment to Mr. Kemp.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth for each named executive officer certain information about unexercised stock options and
unvested shares of restricted stock held as of December 31, 2016.
Option Awards

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Name
Roy T.K. Thung

Teresa A. Herbert

David T. Kettig

Larry R. Graber

Gary J. Balzofiore

Michael Kemp

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option Expiration
Date

176,000
16,500
82,500
47,300
11,000
27,500
38,800
11,000
27,500
27,500
11,000
27,500
44,000
8,800
-

12,000
15,000
10,000
10,000

$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$19.95
$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$19.95
$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$19.95
$9.09
$7.11
$19.95

January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
December 1, 2021
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
December 1, 2021
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
December 1, 2021
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
December 1, 2021

-

-

-

-

Stock Awards
Market
Number
Value of
of Shares Shares or
or Units
Units of
of Stock
Stock
That
That
Have Not Have Not
Vested
Vested
(#)
($)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

-

-

-

-

(1) Stock options granted on December 1, 2016 vest in three equal installments beginning on December 1, 2017.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards
The following table sets forth information about the number and value of plan-based awards granted during the year
2016.
Number of
Stock Awards
Granted (#)

Name

Grant
Date

Roy T.K. Thung
Teresa A. Herbert
David T. Kettig
Larry R. Graber
Gary J. Balzofiore
Michael Kemp

December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016

Number of
Option Awards
Granted (#)

-

12,000
15,000
10,000
10,000
-

Exercise
Price ($)
19.95
19.95
19.95
19.95
-

Grant
Date
Fair Value ($)
31,800
39,750
26,500
26,500
-

Option Exercises and Stock Vested
The following table sets forth information about the number and value of option exercises and vested stock awards
for each named executive officer during the year 2016.

Name
Roy T.K. Thung
Teresa A. Herbert
David T. Kettig
Larry R. Graber
Gary J. Balzofiore
Michael Kemp

Option Awards
Number of shares
acquired on
Value realized on
exercise (#)
exercise ($)
6,500
-

45,184
382,564

(1)

Stock Awards
Number of shares
acquired on vesting
Value realized
(#)
on vesting ($)
-

-

(1) Mr. Kemp exercised 45,000 SARs that were payable in cash.
Potential Payments to Named Executive Officers
With Mr. Thung
IHC is party to a Retirement Benefits Agreement with Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, dated as of September 30, 1991, and
amended by amendments dated as of December 20, 2002, June 17, 2005 and December 31, 2008, respectively, pursuant to
which Mr. Thung is entitled to a lump-sum cash payment upon a “separation from service” from IHC of $1,659,557,
increasing on a cumulative, compounding basis of 6% per annum from December 31, 2008. “Separation from service” is as
defined under U.S. Treasury Regulations 1.409A-1(h)(1), and would generally include Mr. Thung’s death, retirement or any
other termination of employment, including permanent disability. For example, had this provision been triggered on
December 31, 2016, Mr. Thung would have been entitled to receive a payment of $2,645,082.
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement by and between IHC and Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, IHC’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, dated as of May 11, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if
Mr. Thung’s employment by IHC or its affiliate were to cease under certain circumstances, Mr. Thung would be entitled to
receive a lump-sum severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Mr. Thung
during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable severance period
would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the aggregate number of years of service of
Mr. Thung to IHC and its affiliates. The circumstances under which such severance would be paid are: (i) Mr. Thung’s
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employment by IHC being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not constitute “cause” (examples of
“cause” being Mr. Thung’s material failure to follow IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow IHC’s corporate
policies, breach of the non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or his engaging in unlawful behavior that would
damage IHC or its reputation); (ii) such employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that would constitute
“good reason” (examples of “good reason” being in connection with IHC’s material breach of its obligations under the
employment agreement, IHC’s non-renewal of the employment agreement or change in control of IHC or its ultimate parent);
or; (iii) upon Mr. Thung’s death or permanent disability. In addition, under the agreement, Mr. Thung is also entitled to
strategic and long-term incentive payments which are included in the Summary Compensation Table above. The initial term
of Mr. Thung’s employment agreement is two years from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be
automatically extended for successive two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given
by IHC. For example, had the severance provisions of Mr. Thung’s agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr.
Thung would have been entitled to receive approximately $66,146 per month for forty months ($2,645,840 in the aggregate).
With Ms. Herbert
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and between IHC and Ms. Teresa A. Herbert, IHC’s Chief
Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, dated as of April 18, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if Ms. Herbert’s
employment by IHC or its affiliate were to cease under certain circumstances, Ms. Herbert would be entitled to receive a
severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Ms. Herbert during the preceding
five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable severance period would be the longer of: (i)
twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the aggregate number of years of service of Ms. Herbert to IHC and its
affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four months. The circumstances under which such severance would be paid are (i) Ms.
Herbert’s employment by IHC being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not constitute “cause”
(examples of “cause” being Ms. Herbert’s material failure to follow IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow IHC’s
corporate policies, breach of the non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or her engaging in unlawful behavior
that would damage IHC or its reputation), or (ii) such employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that
would constitute “good reason” (examples of “good reason” being in connection with IHC’s (or its successor’s) material
breach of its obligations under the employment agreement or upon IHC’s non-renewal of the employment agreement). The
initial term of Ms. Herbert’s employment agreement is two years from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be
automatically extended for successive two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given
by IHC. For example, had the severance provision in Ms. Herbert’s agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016, Ms.
Herbert would have been entitled to receive approximately $45,068 per month for twenty-four months ($1,081,632 in the
aggregate).
With Mr. Kettig
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and among IHC, Standard Security Life (which
subsequently assigned the agreement to its affiliate AMIC Holdings, Inc.), and Mr. David T. Kettig, IHC’s President, Chief
Operating Officer and Acting General Counsel, dated as of April 18, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if Mr.
Kettig’s employment by Standard Security Life or its affiliate were to cease under certain circumstances, Mr. Kettig would be
entitled to receive a severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Mr. Kettig
during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable severance period
would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the aggregate number of years of service of
Mr. Kettig to IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four months. The circumstances under which such severance would
be paid are (i) Mr. Kettig’s employment by Standard Security Life being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that
would not constitute “cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr. Kettig’s material failure to follow Standard Security Life’s or
IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow Standard Security Life’s or IHC’s corporate policies, breach of the noncompete covenants in the employment agreement or his engaging in unlawful behavior that would damage Standard Security
Life, IHC or their respective reputations), or (ii) such employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that
would constitute “good reason” (examples of “good reason” being in connection with Standard Security Life’s (or its
successor’s) material breach of its obligations under the employment agreement or upon Standard Security Life’s nonrenewal of the employment agreement). The initial term of Mr. Kettig’s employment agreement is two years from the date it
was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically extended for successive two-year periods unless one hundred
twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by Standard Security Life. For example, had the severance provision in
Mr. Kettig’s agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr. Kettig would have been entitled to receive approximately
$59,330 per month for twenty-four months ($1,423,920 in the aggregate).
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With Mr. Graber
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and among IHC, Madison National Life, and Mr. Larry R.
Graber, IHC’s Chief Life and Annuity Actuary and Senior Vice President, dated as of April 18, 2011. Under this
employment agreement, if Mr. Graber’s employment by Madison National Life or its affiliate were to cease under certain
circumstances, Mr. Graber would be entitled to receive a severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total
compensation received by Mr. Graber during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period.
The applicable severance period would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the
aggregate number of years of service of Mr. Graber to IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four months. The
circumstances under which such severance would be paid are (i) Mr. Graber’s employment by Madison National Life being
involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not constitute “cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr. Graber’s
material failure to follow Madison National Life’s or IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow Madison National
Life’s or IHC’s corporate policies, breach of the non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or his engaging in
unlawful behavior that would damage Madison National Life, IHC or their respective reputations), or (ii) such employment
being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that would constitute “good reason” (examples of “good reason” being in
connection with Madison National Life’s (or its successor’s) material breach of its obligations under the employment
agreement or upon Madison National Life’s non-renewal of the employment agreement). The initial term of Mr. Graber’s
employment agreement is two years from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically extended for
successive two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by Madison National Life.
For example, had the severance provision in Mr. Graber’s agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr. Graber
would have been entitled to receive approximately $39,088 per month for twenty months ($781,760 in the aggregate).
With Mr. Balzofiore
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and among IHC, Standard Security Life, and Mr. Gary J.
Balzofiore, IHC’s Corporate Vice President – Accounting and Finance, dated as of May 25, 2011. Under this employment
agreement, if Mr. Balzofiore’s employment by Standard Security Life or its affiliate were to cease under certain
circumstances, Mr. Balzofiore would be entitled to receive a severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total
compensation received by Mr. Balzofiore during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance
period. The applicable severance period would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the
aggregate number of years of service of Mr. Balzofiore to IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four months. The
circumstances under which such severance would be paid are (i) Mr. Balzofiore’s employment by Standard Security Life
being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not constitute “cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr.
Balzofiore’s refusal to perform his duties, material failure to follow Standard Security Life’s corporate policies, breach of the
non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or his committing a crime involving financial or accounting fraud), or
(ii) such employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that would constitute “good reason” (examples of
“good reason” being in connection with Standard Security Life’s or IHC’s material breach of its obligations under the
employment agreement or upon Standard Security Life’s non-renewal of the employment agreement). The initial term of Mr.
Balzofiore’s employment agreement is two years from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically
extended for successive two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by Standard
Security Life. For example, had the severance provision in Mr. Balzofiore’s agreement been triggered on December 31,
2016, Mr. Balzofiore would have been entitled to receive approximately $41,722 per month for twenty-four months
($1,001,328 in the aggregate).
Stock Incentive Plans
Under the terms of IHC’s stock incentive plans, the Compensation Committee may make appropriate provision for
the holders of awards thereunder in the event of a change in control of IHC or similar event. The specifics of such an
occurrence cannot be anticipated, and thus the prospective effect upon IHC cannot reliably be quantified.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain information as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year with
respect to compensation plans under which shares of IHC common stock may be issued.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans
approved by stockholders

Number of Shares to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options

697,180

$11.75
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Number of Shares
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans
(Excluding Shares Reflected
in the First Column)

1,133,100

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee assists the Board in oversight of the financial reporting process, including the effectiveness of
internal accounting and financial controls and procedures, and controls over the accounting, auditing and quality of financial
reporting practices of IHC. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board.
Management of IHC has primary responsibility for the financial reporting process, the preparation of financial
statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, the system of internal controls and the
establishment of procedures designed to insure compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations.
RSM US LLP was responsible for auditing IHC’s financial statements for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. The
Audit Committee’s responsibility is to monitor and review these processes and procedures. Audit Committee members are
not professionally engaged in the practice of accounting or auditing. The Audit Committee relies on the information
provided to it, including the representations of management that the financial statements have been prepared with integrity
and objectivity, and the representations of management and the opinion of RSM that such financial statements are fairly
presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
The Audit Committee also reviewed the Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
contained in IHC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 prior to filing such report with
the SEC, as well as RSM’s Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (also included in IHC’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K) and RSM’s reports related to the audit of IHC’s consolidated financial statements. The Audit
Committee continues to oversee IHC’s efforts related to its internal control over financial reporting and management’s
preparations for the evaluation in 2017.
The Audit Committee met with management periodically during the year to consider the adequacy of IHC’s internal
controls and the objectivity of its financial reporting. The Audit Committee discussed these matters with appropriate IHC
financial and internal audit personnel and with RSM. The Audit Committee also discussed with IHC’s senior management
the process used for certifications by IHC’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer which are required for certain
filings with the SEC.
The Audit Committee appointed RSM as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended
2016 after reviewing the firm’s performance and independence from management.
The Audit Committee reviewed with management and RSM, IHC’s audited financial statements and met separately
with both management and RSM to discuss and review those financial statements and reports prior to issuance. Management
has represented to the Audit Committee that the financial statements were prepared in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. RSM’s report states the firm’s opinion that such financial statements are fairly presented, in
all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
The Audit Committee reviewed with RSM, which is responsible for auditing IHC’s financial statements and for
expressing an opinion on the conformity of those audited financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States, its judgment as to the quality, not just the acceptability, of IHC’s accounting principles and such other
matters as are required to be discussed with the Audit Committee under Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) Auditing Standard No. 16, Communications with Audit Committees. In addition, the Audit Committee has
received from RSM written disclosures regarding the auditors’ independence required by PCAOB Ethics and Independence
Rule 3526, Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, and has discussed with RSM its independence
from the Company and its management. In concluding that RSM is independent, the Audit Committee considered whether
the non- audit services provided by the independent auditors in 2016 were compatible with its independence.
Based on these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that IHC’s audited
financial statements be included in IHC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
Audit Committee Members
Mr. James G. Tatum (Chairman)
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman
Mr. John L. Lahey
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AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES
The following table sets forth fees for services that RSM US LLP and KPMG LLP provided to IHC during 2016 and
2015:

Audit fees (1)
Audit-related fees
Tax fees
All other fees
Total
(1)

(2)

(3)

$

$

2016
1,763,000
21,000
1,784,000

(2)

(3)

2015
2,725,000
177,000
$ 2,902,000
$

Audit Fees. Represents fees for professional services provided for the audit of IHC’s annual financial
statements, the review of IHC’s quarterly financial statements and audit services provided in connection
with other statutory or regulatory filings.
As disclosed in the Company’s Form 8-K filed on September 16, 2016, IHC dismissed KPMG as its
independent registered accounting firm and engaged RSM as its independent registered accounting firm.
Audit fees listed above include $204,000 related to audit services provided by KPMG and $1,559,000
related to audit services provided by RSM.
All other fees for 2016 represent fees paid to RSM for the audit of the Company’s 401(k) plan.

Vote Required For the Election of Directors
The affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the meeting is required to elect the nine nominees as directors.
This means that the nine nominees will be elected if they receive more affirmative votes than any other person.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF EACH OF THE
NINE NOMINEES.
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PROPOSAL 2
RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF
THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG audited IHC’s annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. On September 13, 2016,
the Audit Committee dismissed KPMG as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm. On October 3, 2016, the
Audit Committee appointed RSM US LLP (“RSM”) to be IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2016, which was ratified by stockholders at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. On May 9,
2017, the Audit Committee appointed RSM to be IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2017. The stockholders are asked to ratify this appointment at the annual meeting. Representatives of
RSM will be present at the meeting.
Vote Required For Ratification
The Audit Committee is responsible for selecting IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm.
Accordingly, stockholder approval is not required to appoint RSM as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm
for 2017. The Board believes, however, that submitting the appointment of RSM to the stockholders for ratification is a
matter of good corporate governance. If the stockholders do not ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will review its
future selection of the independent registered public accounting firm.
The ratification of the appointment of RSM as IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm requires the
affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present at the meeting in person or by proxy and entitled to vote.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THIS PROPOSAL.
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PROPOSAL 3
ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, enacted in July 2010, requires that IHC provide its
stockholders with the opportunity to vote to approve, on a nonbinding, advisory basis, the compensation of IHC’s named
executives officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC.
As described in detail under the heading “Executive Compensation – Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” IHC
seeks to closely align the interests of its named executive officers with the interests of its stockholders. IHC’s compensation
programs are designed to reward its named executive officers for the achievement of short-term and long-term strategic and
operational goals and the achievement of increased total stockholder return, while at the same time avoiding the
encouragement of unnecessary or excessive risk-taking.
The Compensation Committee considered the voting results of the advisory, non-binding “say-on-pay” vote at IHC’s
2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in connection with the discharge of its responsibilities. IHC’s stockholders expressed
their support of the compensation for our CEO, CFO and the three other most-highly compensated officers in respect of 2013
(“named executive officers”), with a majority of the votes cast voting to approve the compensation of IHC’s named executive
officers described in IHC’s 2014 proxy statement. Following the Compensation Committee’s review and consideration of
this stockholder support, as well as the other factors discussed in more in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section
hereof, we determined to make no changes to our approach to executive compensation.
The vote on this resolution is not intended to address any specific element of compensation. Rather, the vote relates to
the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers, as described in this proxy statement in accordance with the
compensation disclosure rules of the SEC. The vote is advisory, which means that the vote is not binding on IHC or the
Board. The vote will not be construed to create or imply any change to the fiduciary duties of the Board, or to create or
imply any additional fiduciary duties for the Board. However, the Board and the Compensation Committee will review and
consider the voting results when evaluating future compensation decisions relating to our named executive officers.
Accordingly, IHC is asking its stockholders to vote on the following resolution at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders:
“RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Company’s named executive officers, as disclosed pursuant to Item 402
of Regulation S-K, including Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and narrative discussion, is
hereby APPROVED.”
YOUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THE APPROVAL OF THE
COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AS DISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT.
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PROPOSAL 4
ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF AN
ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act also provides that stockholders be given the
opportunity to vote, on a non-binding, advisory basis, for their preference as to how frequently IHC should seek future
advisory votes on the compensation of its named executive officers as disclosed in accordance with the compensation
disclosure rules of the SEC. By voting with respect to this Proposal 4, stockholders may indicate whether they would prefer
that we conduct future advisory votes on executive compensation annually, biennially or triennially. Stockholders also may,
if they wish, abstain from casting a vote on this proposal.
IHC’s Board of Directors has determined that an advisory vote on executive compensation that occurs triennially is the
most appropriate alternative for the Company and therefore the Board recommends that you vote for a three-year interval for
the advisory vote on executive compensation. In determining to recommend that shareholders vote for a frequency of once
every three years, the Board considered how an advisory vote at this frequency will provide IHC stockholders with sufficient
time to evaluate the effectiveness of IHC’s overall compensation philosophy, policies and practices in the context of IHC’s
long-term business results for the corresponding period, while avoiding over-emphasis on short term variations in
compensation and business results. An advisory vote occurring once every three years will also permit IHC’s stockholders to
observe and evaluate the impact of any changes to IHC’s executive compensation policies and practices which have occurred
since the last advisory vote on executive compensation, including changes made in response to the outcome of a prior
advisory vote on executive compensation.
The vote is advisory, which means that the vote is not binding on IHC. Stockholders may cast a vote on the preferred
voting frequency by selecting the option of one year, two years, or three years (or abstain) when voting in response to the
resolution set forth below:
“RESOLVED, that the shareholders determine, on an advisory basis, whether the preferred frequency of an advisory
vote on the executive compensation of the Company’s named executive officers as set forth in the Company’s proxy
statement should be every year, every two years, or every three years.”
The proxy card provides stockholders with the opportunity to choose among four options (holding the vote every one,
two or three years, or abstaining).
YOUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE
FOR A FREQUENCY OF “THREE YEARS.”
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OTHER MATTERS
IHC’s by-laws require stockholders to give advance notice of any proposal intended to be presented at the annual
meeting. The deadline for this notice has passed and IHC has not received any such notice. If any other matter properly
comes before the stockholders for a vote at the meeting, however, the proxy holders will vote your shares in accordance with
their best judgment.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Proxy Solicitation
IHC will bear all costs of this proxy solicitation. In addition to soliciting proxies by this mailing, IHC expects that
its directors, officers and regularly engaged employees may solicit proxies personally or by mail, telephone, facsimile or
other electronic means, for which solicitation they will not receive any additional compensation. IHC will reimburse
brokerage firms, custodians, fiduciaries and other nominees for their out-of-pocket expenses in forwarding solicitation
materials to beneficial owners upon our request.
Stockholder Proposals for 2018 Annual Meeting
Stockholder proposals intended to be presented at IHC’s 2018 annual meeting must be received by IHC no later than
a reasonable time in advance of the date of the 2018 Annual Meeting, which would be no less than 120 days before that date
(pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act) to be eligible for inclusion in IHC’s proxy statement and form of proxy for next
year’s meeting. IHC has yet to determine the date of its 2018 Annual Meeting. Proposals should be addressed to
Independence Holding Company, Attention: Corporate Secretary, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York
10022.
For any proposal that is not submitted for inclusion in next year’s proxy statement (as described in the preceding
paragraph), but is instead sought to be presented directly at the 2018 annual meeting, the federal securities laws require
stockholders to give advance notice of such proposals. The required notice must (pursuant to Rule 14a-4 of the Exchange
Act) be given no less than a reasonable time in advance of the date of the 2018 Annual Meeting, which would be no less than
45 days before that date. IHC has yet to determine the date of its 2018 annual meeting. Any such notice must be provided to
Independence Holding Company, Attention: Corporate Secretary, 485 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York
10022. If a stockholder fails to provide timely notice of a proposal to be presented at the 2018 Annual Meeting, the chairman
of the meeting will declare it out of order and disregard any such matter.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Loan Nisser
Vice President – Legal and Secretary
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Forward-Looking Statements
This report on Form 10−K contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which
are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by those laws. We have based our forward-looking
statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. Our forward-looking
statements include information about possible or assumed future results of our operations. All statements,
other than statements of historical facts, included or incorporated by reference in this report that address
activities, events or developments that we expect or anticipate may occur in the future, including such
things as the growth of our business and operations, our business strategy, competitive strengths, goals,
plans, future capital expenditures and references to future successes may be considered forward-looking
statements. Also, when we use words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“plan,” “probably” or similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements.
Numerous risks and uncertainties may impact the matters addressed by our forward-looking
statements, any of which could negatively and materially affect our future financial results and
performance. We describe some of these risks and uncertainties in greater detail in Item 1A-Risk Factors
of this report.
Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are
reasonable, any of these assumptions, and, therefore, the forward-looking statements based on these
assumptions, could themselves prove to be inaccurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in
the forward-looking statements that are included in this report, our inclusion of this information is not a
representation by us or any other person that our objectives and plans will be achieved. In light of these
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, any forward-looking event discussed in this report may not occur.
Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made, and we undertake no obligation to
update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or
other developments, unless the securities laws require us to do so.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Business Overview
Independence Holding Company is a Delaware corporation (NYSE: IHC) that was formed in
1980. We are a holding company principally engaged in the life and health insurance business with
principal executive offices located at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut 06902.
Our website is located at www.ihcgroup.com. Detailed information about IHC, its corporate
affiliates and insurance products and services can be found on our website. In addition, we make our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to such reports available, free of charge, through our website, as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The
information on our website, however, is not incorporated by reference in, and does not form part of, this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
IHC primarily provides specialized disability and health coverages and related services to
commercial customers and individuals. We focus on niche products and/or narrowly defined distribution
channels primarily in the United States. Our wholly owned insurance company subsidiaries, Standard
Security Life Insurance Company of New York ("Standard Security Life"), Madison National Life
Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison National Life") and Independence American Insurance Company
(“Independence American”) market their products through independent and affiliated brokers, producers
and agents. Independence American also distributes to consumers through dedicated controlled
distribution companies and through company-owned websites.
Madison National Life, Standard Security Life and Independence American are sometimes
collectively referred to as the "Insurance Group." IHC and its subsidiaries (including the Insurance
Group) are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Company", or "IHC", or are implicit in the terms
"we", "us" and "our".
In 2017, IHC will retain the vast majority of the risk that it underwrites, and will focus on the
following lines of business:
 Multiple specialty health lines
 Group disability, life and New York short-term disability (“DBL”)
 Pet insurance
Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American are each rated A(Excellent) by A.M. Best Company, Inc. ("Best"). Standard Security Life is domiciled in New York and
licensed as an insurance company in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Virgin Islands and Puerto
Rico. Madison National Life is domiciled in Wisconsin, licensed to sell insurance products in 49 states,
the District of Columbia, the Virgin Islands and American Samoa, and is an accredited reinsurer in New
York. Independence American is domiciled in Delaware and licensed to sell insurance products in all 50
states and the District of Columbia. We have been informed by Best that a Best rating is assigned after an
extensive quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a company's financial condition and operating
performance and is also based upon factors relevant to policyholders, agents, and intermediaries, and is
not directed toward protection of investors. Best ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any
of our securities.
Our administrative companies underwrite, market, administer and/or price life and health
insurance business for our owned and affiliated carriers, and, to a lesser extent, for non-affiliated
insurance companies. They receive fees for these services and do not bear any of the insurance risk of the
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companies to which they provide services, other than through profit commissions. During 2016, our
principal administrative companies were: (i) Specialty Benefits, a full-service marketing, technology and
distribution company that focuses on small employer, individual and family products; and (ii) IHC Carrier
Solutions LLC (“Carrier Solutions”), a program management, actuarial and regulatory compliance
company providing product development and valuation services for IHC’s specialty health segment. IHC
owns controlling interests in Global Accident Facilities, LLC (“GAF”) and Healthinsurance.org LLC
(“HIO”). GAF is a holding company for an agency that produces injured on duty business. HIO is an
online marketing company that owns www.healthinsurance.org, a lead generation site for individual
health insurance. Specialty Benefits, GAF and HIO are collectively referred to as our “Agencies.” Our
Agencies earn commissions for selling life and health insurance products underwritten by IHC’s owned
and affiliated insurance companies and also by unaffiliated carriers. IHC also owns a significant equity
interest in Ebix Health Exchange Holdings, LLC (“Ebix Health Exchange”), an administration exchange
for health and pet insurance. Ebix Health Exchange administers various lines of health insurance for IHC
and non-affiliated carriers through Ebix Health Administration Exchange, Inc. (“EHAE”).
On March 31, 2016, the Company sold IHC Risk Solutions, LLC (“Risk Solutions”), its
managing general underwriter of excess or stop-loss insurance for self-insured employer groups that
desire to manage the risk of large medical claims (“Medical Stop-Loss”) to Swiss Re Corporate Solutions,
a division of Swiss Re (“Swiss Re”). In addition, under the purchase and sale agreement, all of the inforce stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and Independence American produced by Risk
Solutions was co-insured by Westport Insurance Corporation (“Westport”), Swiss Re’s largest US carrier,
as of January 1, 2016. The aggregate purchase price was $152,500,000 in cash, subject to adjustments
and settlements. Approximately 89% of the purchase price was allocated to American Independence
Corp. (“AMIC”). At the time of the transaction, IHC owned approximately 92% of AMIC. The balance
of the purchase price was paid to Standard Security Life and other IHC subsidiaries. The aforementioned
transaction is collectively referred to as the “Risk Solutions Sale and Coinsurance Transaction”. The Risk
Solutions Sale and Coinsurance Transaction resulted in a gain on the sale estimated at approximately
$100 million. IHC’s block of Medical Stop-Loss business is in run-off. The sale of Risk Solutions and
exit from the medical stop-loss business represents a strategic shift that has had a major effect on the
Company’s operations and financial results. The disposal transaction is reported as discontinued
operations.
For information pertaining to the Company's business segments, reference is made to Note 18 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.
Our Philosophy
Our business strategy consists of maximizing underwriting profits through a variety of niche
specialty health insurance, pet, and group disability and life products and through distribution channels
that enable us to access specialized or underserved markets in which we believe we have a competitive
advantage. Historically, our carriers have focused on establishing preferred relationships with producers
who seek an alternative to larger, more bureaucratic health insurers, and on providing these producers
with personalized service, competitive compensation and a broad array of products. More recently, larger
health insurers have begun to market our ancillary health products to supplement their major medical
products. A growing portion of our business comes from direct-to-consumer initiatives. While our
management considers a wide range of factors in its strategic planning and decision-making, underwriting
profit is consistently emphasized as the primary goal in all decisions.
As a result of our increased control of distribution through corporate acquisitions, we have
strengthened our ability to respond to market cycles in the health insurance sector by deploying our
insurance underwriting activity across a larger number of business lines.
Our gross written and retained specialty health premiums have decreased as a result of exiting the
individual and small group major medical blocks, however, our specialty health products have generated
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meaningful growth in the last several years as a result of greater emphasis by IHC on these products,
increased distribution (including as a result of equity investments) and greater market demand.
Prior to March 31, 2016, we emphasized writing stop-loss business through Risk Solutions and
two managing general underwriters (“MGUs”) with whom we had done business for many years,
including TRU Services, LLC (“TRU”), in which we still have a significant equity interest.
DISTRIBUTION
Specialty Health
The Specialty Health Segment is comprised of the following categories: (i) ancillary benefits
including dental, vision, short-term medical (“STM”), supplemental products (including fixed indemnity
limited benefit, critical illness, and hospital indemnity); (ii) pet insurance; and (iii) non-subscriber
occupational accident and injured on duty. The segment had some run-off of discontinued major medical
coverage and occupational accident from one producer. Carrier Solutions and our Agencies collectively
perform marketing, sales, underwriting and certain administrative functions on the majority of our
Specialty Health business. EHAE and other third party administrators perform claims and other
administrative functions. In 2016, our pet insurance was marketed and administered by one independent
agency, but IHC will expand its distribution and administration of this product in 2017. In 2016, we
reinsured expatriate health business from a leading provider of international health, life and disability
plans for specialized niche markets, however, this business is now in run-off. Our non-subscriber
occupational accident coverage was largely marketed and administered by a subsidiary of GAF. This
subsidiary was sold in 2016 and its business is in run-off.
During 2016, IHC made the following investments that will increase the distribution of our
specialty health products: (1) in April 2016, IHC purchased 10% of the equity of American Insurance
Agencies Direct Holding, Inc., which is a call center that is one of the leading producers of hospital
indemnity (“HIP”) on Independence American’s paper; (2) in July 2016, IHC purchased 10% of the
equity of The iCan Group LLC, which is a call center that is one of our largest producers of individual
limited medical and has begun to write HIP on Independence American’s paper; (3) in October, 2016, we
acquired a 44% interest in The Abacus Group LLC, which is a managing general underwriter specializing
in worksite marketing of voluntary benefits that is producing disability business for Madison National
Life and will begin selling group limited medical for that carrier; and (4) in October 2016, IHC acquired
the domain name and assets of www.petplace.com (“PetPlace”), which was launched in 1999, including
subscribers and its social media outlets. PetPlace attracts over 1 million visitors each month with more
than 10,000 veterinarian-approved articles. IHC plans to make this domain the focal point of selling its
pet insurance direct to consumers.
The Specialty Health Segment performs underwriting, risk selection and pricing, policy
administration and management of the majority of our specialty health business, which totaled
approximately $164 million of gross individual and group health premiums in 2016. In addition, our
Agencies produce Affordable Care Act and other coverages for multiple insurers and will continue to
produce small group stop-loss. The Agencies total book of business in 2016 was approximately $144
million.
The agents and brokers who produce the Specialty Health business are non-salaried contractors
who receive commissions.
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Disability and Life Products
Our disability and life products are primarily distributed by general agents, agents and brokers.
The short-term statutory disability benefit product in New York State is marketed primarily through
independent general agents who are paid commissions based upon the amount of premiums produced.
Madison National Life's disability and group life products are primarily sold in the Midwest to school
districts, municipalities and hospital employer groups through a managing general agent that specializes
in these target markets. Independence American also reinsured health products serving the needs of
expatriates, third-party nationals and high net-worth local nationals.

Medical Stop-Loss
Standard Security Life was the primary carrier for our employer medical stop-loss products
although, in 2016, we also wrote business for Madison National Life, Independence American and
unaffiliated carriers. IHC’s carriers wrote the vast majority of their medical stop-loss business through
Risk Solutions, which was sold on March 31, 2016, and TRU. IHC owned two managing general
underwriters, Majestic Underwriters, LLC and Alliance Underwriters, LLC, which transferred their stoploss blocks and employees to Risk Solutions as of January 1, 2012 in exchange for fee income based on
the business transferred. These two MGUs were liquidated in 2016 as a result of the Risk Solutions Sale
and Coinsurance Transaction. Risk Solutions was responsible for underwriting accounts in accordance
with guidelines formulated and approved by its carriers, billing and collecting premiums, paying
commissions to agents, third party administrators and/or brokers, and processing claims. With respect to
the MGUs with which we did business, we established underwriting guidelines, maintained approved
policy forms and oversaw claims for reimbursement, as well as appropriate accounting procedures and
reserves. In order to accomplish this, we audited their underwriting, claims and policy issuance practices
to assure compliance with our guidelines, provided them with access to our medical management and cost
containment expertise, and reviewed cases that required referral based on our underwriting guidelines.
MGUs are non-salaried contractors that receive fee income, generally a percentage of gross premiums
produced by them on behalf of the insurance carriers they represent, and typically are entitled to
additional income based on underwriting results. Standard Security Life and Independence American
have now ceased writing medical stop-loss business.
The agents and brokers that produce this business are non-salaried contractors that receive
commissions.
PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS
Specialty Health Products
In 2016, this line of business had the following categories: (i) ancillary benefits, including dental,
vision, STM, supplemental products (including fixed indemnity limited benefit, critical illness, and
hospital indemnity); (ii) pet insurance; and (iii) non-subscriber occupational accident. This category also
includes reinsured international health plans sold to expatriates in 2016. In 2015, IHC exited the major
medical business as a result of healthcare reform which caused adverse underwriting results in 2013 and
2014. As a result of exiting this line of business, we focused our attention on growing our specialty health
lines of business and significantly improved our bottom line performance. Earned premiums from
specialty products increased by 6% in 2016. We expect continued growth in the specialty health lines of
business in 2017.
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Ancillary Products
This category is primarily comprised of dental, vision, STM, supplemental products (including
fixed indemnity limited benefit, critical illness, and hospital indemnity). These are sold through multiple
distribution strategies.
IHC sells group and individual dental products in all 50 states. We administer the majority of
IHC's dental business and are also the primary distribution source of this line of business. The dental
portfolio includes indemnity and PPO plans for employer groups of two or more lives and for individuals
within affinity groups. Employer plans are offered on both employer paid and voluntary basis. As part of
the distribution of our dental products, we also offer vision benefits. Vision plans will offer a flat
reimbursement amount for exams and materials. We expect the dental/vision business to be relatively flat
in 2017.
IHC sells STM products in the majority of states. STM is designed specifically for people with
temporary needs for health coverage. Typically, STM products are written for a defined duration of at
least 30 days and less than twelve months. Among the typical purchasers of STM products are people
who are in between open enrollment periods or need coverage for a limited duration until their ACA plan
becomes effective, and others who need insurance for a specified period of time less than 365 days.
IHC’s gross premium increased significantly in this line of business in 2016, which continued the trend
from prior years. We currently anticipate a decrease in this line of business in 2017 due to a federal
regulation expected to be effective April 1, 2017 that limits the duration of an STM policy to less than
three months.
The Company markets supplemental products to individuals and families. These lines of business
are generally used as either a supplement or in lieu of an essential health benefit (“EHB”) plan. The main
driver for growth in this line is that consumers are moving to higher-cost sharing on their individual major
medical plans, and are looking for products to help them offset the additional risk of higher deductibles
and out of pocket limits. The product lines included in this supplemental grouping are hospital indemnity
plans, fixed indemnity limited benefit plans, critical illness and bundled packages of accident medical
coverage, critical illness and life insurance. These products, which are available in most states, are
available through multiple distribution sources including Company owned direct-to-consumer websites,
call center and career agents, general agents and on-line agencies. We anticipate material growth in these
lines of business in 2017 as a result of increased distribution and demand for these products.
IHC has medical benefit plans for employers that choose to offer non-EHB coverage to their
employees. We offer a fixed indemnity limited benefit policy that offers affordable health coverage to
hourly, part-time and/or seasonal employees, which is approved in a majority of states. Fixed indemnity
limited benefit plans are a low cost alternative to EHB plans that permit employees who do not otherwise
have health insurance to begin to participate in the healthcare system. The Company anticipates
meaningful growth in this line of business in 2017 due to increased consumer demand, increased
distribution channels, and the introduction of a new group gap plan.
IHC entered into a reinsurance relationship with a leading producer of expatriate business,
effective January 1, 2012, which provides employee benefit insurance, including medical, life, and
disability, to expatriate employees of companies based in the United States. IHC, through its insurance
subsidiaries, reinsured 10% of the health risk on a quota share basis in 2016. IHC expects this line of
business to decrease in 2017 and beyond as a result on non-renewal of this treaty.
Pet Insurance
In 2016, the Company wrote pet insurance through a marketing and administrative company that
manages one of the largest blocks of this business in the United States. These plans are marketed to dog
and cat owners through veterinary offices, independent marketing organizations, its nationwide call
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center, and increasingly, direct-to-consumer. In 2016, Independence American had $38 million of earned
premium from pet insurance, which represents 14% growth over 2015. In 2017, we expect to add other
distribution (including as a result of our acquisition of PetPlace.com) and third party administrators,
however, we will experience a decrease in sales from our historic distribution relationship as they have
begun to place business with multiple carriers.
Occupational Accident
In 2016, most of IHC’s occupational accident insurance was sold by Independence American
through marketing and administrative companies owned by GAF, and other exclusive arrangements with
independent entities. This occupational accident product provides accidental death, accident disability and
accident medical benefits for occupational injuries to employees of companies that have elected to not
participate in the Texas Worker’s Compensation system (non-subscribers). The product also gives the
employer the option to purchase coverage for employer’s liability, which protects the employer from an
action brought by an injured worker. The employer is covered for damages and costs arising from the
settlement of such action, subject to the terms and limits of the policy. In 2016, GAF sold the entity that
provided administrative services for occupational accident insurance. Independence American still offers
Injured on Duty coverage through another subsidiary of GAF and IHC continues to write a smaller block
of occupational accident coverage through unaffiliated entities. As a result of the aforementioned sale,
total premiums are expected to decrease significantly in 2017.
Major Medical Health Benefit Coverages
This category is primarily comprised of group major medical insurance and individual major
medical policies, both of which are in run-off as we have exited that market. We were not able to earn an
acceptable profit margin on EHB products under the Affordable Care Act (“ACA”). The Company will
monitor healthcare reform under the Trump Administration.
Group Disability; Life and DBL
Group Long-Term and Short-Term Disability
The Company sells group long-term disability ("LTD") products to employers that wish to
provide this benefit to their employees. Depending on an employer's requirements, LTD policies (i) cover
between 40% and 90% of insurable salary; (ii) have elimination periods (i.e., the period between the
commencement of the disability and the start of benefit payments) of between 30 and 730 days; and (iii)
terminate after two, five, or ten years, or extend to age 65 or the employee's Social Security normal
retirement date. Benefit payments are reduced by social security, workers compensation, pension benefits
and other income replacement payments. Optional benefits are available to employees, including
coverage for partial or residual disabilities, survivor benefits and cost of living adjustments. The
Company also markets short-term disability ("STD") policies that provide a weekly benefit to disabled
employees until the earlier of: recovery from disability, eligibility for long-term disability benefits or the
end of the STD benefit period. The Company anticipates moderate growth in 2017.
New York Short-Term Disability (“DBL”)
Standard Security Life markets DBL. All companies with more than one employee in New York
State are required to provide DBL insurance for their employees. DBL coverage provides temporary cash
payments to replace wages lost as a result of disability due to non-occupational injury or illness. The
DBL policy provides for (i) payment of 50% of salary to a maximum of $170 per week; (ii) a maximum
of 26 weeks in a consecutive 52 week period; and (iii) benefit commencement on the eighth consecutive
day of disability. Policies covering fewer than 50 employees have fixed rates approved by the New York
State Insurance Department. Policies covering 50 or more employees are individually underwritten.

9

Standard Security Life's DBL premiums increased 6% in 2016 and we anticipate moderate growth in
2017 due to continued marketing efforts.
Group Term Life
The Company sells group term life products, including group term life, accidental death and
dismemberment ("AD&D"), supplemental life and supplemental AD&D and dependent life. As with its
group disability business, IHC anticipates modest growth in this line of business through expansion of its
sales of these group term life products through existing distribution sources.
Medical Stop-Loss
The Company has been a leading writer nationally of excess or stop-loss insurance for selfinsured employer groups that desire to manage the risk of large medical claims ("Medical Stop-Loss").
Medical Stop-Loss insurance provides coverage to public and private entities that elect to self-insure
their employees' medical coverage for losses within specified ranges, which permits such groups to
manage the risk of excessive health insurance costs by limiting specific and aggregate losses to
predetermined amounts. This coverage is available on either a specific or a specific and aggregate basis,
although the majority of the Insurance Group's policies covered both specific and aggregate claims. Plans
were designed to fit the identified needs of the self-insured employer by offering a variety of deductibles
(i.e., the level of claims after which the medical stop-loss benefits become payable).
In 2013, the Company began marketing self-funded medical plans for employers between 10 and
50 employees. These plans, which are currently marketed in a limited number of states, appeal to
employers that wish to participate in cost savings and wellness initiatives that will lower their claims
costs. Sales of the small group self-funded plans grew significantly in 2015 as we increased distribution
and made the product available in additional states. During 2016, we began selling these plans through
Westport paper. We expect that sales of the small group self-funded plans will be relatively flat in 2017.
IHC experienced an increase in premiums in the Medical Stop-Loss line of business in 2015
primarily from the marketing efforts of Risk Solutions. The Risk Solutions Sale and Coinsurance
Transaction closed on March 31, 2016 and as a result, this line is in run-off and will have substantially
reduced premiums in 2017.
Individual Life, Annuities and Other
Madison National Life ceded 100% of its remaining runoff life and annuity policies to National
Guardian Life Insurance Company in 2015. In addition, Madison National Life ceased writing any life or
annuity policies in the summer of 2015.
The following lines of Standard Security Life's in-force business are in runoff: individual accident
and health, individual life (of which a significant portion was 100% ceded to National Guardian Life
Insurance Company in 2015), single premium immediate annuities, disability income and miscellaneous
insurance business.
ACQUISITIONS OF POLICY BLOCKS
Prior to reinsuring the life and annuity business in 2015 IHC’s acquisition group acquired blocks
of existing life insurance, annuity and disability policies from other insurance companies, guaranty
associations and liquidators. Now the acquisition group’s focus is on existing blocks of long-term and
short-term disability policies, group life policies, and specialty health policies.
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REINSURANCE AND POLICY RETENTIONS
The Company's average retention of gross and assumed Medical Stop-Loss exposure was 5% in
2016, 69% in 2015, and 74% in 2014. The reduction in 2016 was a result of closing the Risk Solutions
Sale and Coinsurance Transaction, pursuant to which all of the in-force stop-loss business of Security Life
and Independence American produced by Risk Solutions was co-insured as of January 1, 2016. IHC
retained approximately 94% in 2016, 92% in 2015, and 91% in 2014, of gross and assumed Specialty
Health exposure.
The Company purchases quota share reinsurance and excess reinsurance in amounts deemed
appropriate by its risk committee. The Company monitors its retention amounts by product line, and has
the ability to adjust its retention as appropriate.
Reinsurance is used to reduce the potentially adverse financial impact of large individual or group
risks, and to reduce the strain on statutory income and surplus related to new business. By using
reinsurance, the Insurance Group is able to write policies in amounts larger than it could otherwise accept.
The amount reinsured is the portion of each policy in excess of the retention limit on a particular policy.
In 2015, Madison National Life and Standard Security Life together entered into a coinsurance
and sale agreement with an unaffiliated reinsurer to cede substantially all of their individual life and
annuity policy blocks, which are currently in run-off.
The following reinsurers represent approximately 80% of the total ceded premium for the year
ended December 31, 2016:
Westport Insurance Corporation
GBG Insurance Ltd.
Contrarian Re, LLC
RGA Reinsurance Company

36%
23%
13%
8%
80%

The Insurance Group remains liable with respect to the insurance in-force, which has been
reinsured in the unlikely event that the assuming reinsurers are unable to satisfy their obligations. The
Insurance Group cedes business (i) to individual reinsurance companies that are rated "A-" or better by
Best or (ii) upon provision of adequate security. The ceding of reinsurance does not discharge the primary
liability of the original insurer to the insured. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Insurance Group's
ceded reinsurance in-force was $6.3 billion and $6.4 billion, respectively.
For further information pertaining to reinsurance, reference is made to Note 9 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
INVESTMENTS AND RESERVES
The Company's cash, cash equivalents and securities portfolio are managed by employees of IHC
and its affiliates, and ultimate investment authority rests with IHC's in-house investment group. As a
result of the nature of IHC's insurance liabilities, IHC endeavors to maintain a significant percentage of its
assets in investment grade securities, cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2016, more than 99.9%
of the fixed maturities were investment grade and continue to be rated on average AA. The internal
investment group provides a summary of the investment portfolio and the performance thereof at the
meetings of the Company's board of directors.
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As required by insurance laws and regulations, the Insurance Group establishes reserves to meet
obligations on policies in-force. These reserves are amounts that, with additions from premiums expected
to be received and with interest on such reserves at certain assumed rates, are calculated to be sufficient to
meet anticipated future policy obligations. Premiums and reserves are based upon certain assumptions
with respect to mortality, morbidity on health insurance, lapses and interest rates effective at the time the
polices are issued. The Insurance Group also establishes appropriate reserves for substandard business,
annuities and additional policy benefits, such as waiver of premium and accidental death. Standard
Security Life and Madison National Life are also required by law to have an annual asset adequacy
analysis, which, in general, projects the amount and timing of cash flows to the estimated maturity date of
liabilities, prepared by the certifying actuary for each insurance company. The Insurance Group invests
their respective assets, which support the reserves and other funds in accordance with applicable
insurance law, under the supervision of their respective board of directors. The Company manages
interest rate risk seeking to maintain a portfolio with a duration and average life that falls within the band
of the duration and average life of the applicable liabilities. The Company occasionally utilizes options to
modify the duration and average life of the assets.
Under Wisconsin insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the percentage of an insurer's
admitted assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of
investment. With respect to the portion of an insurer's assets equal to its liabilities plus a statutorilydetermined security surplus amount, a Wisconsin insurer cannot, for example, invest more than a certain
percentage of its assets in non-amortizable evidences of indebtedness, securities of any issuer and its
affiliates (other than a subsidiary and the United States government), or common stock of any corporation
and its affiliates (other than a subsidiary or mutual funds).
Under New York insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the percentage of an insurer's
admitted assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of
investment. For example, a New York life insurer cannot invest more than a certain percentage of its
admitted assets in common or preferred shares of any one institution, obligations secured by any one
property (other than those issued, guaranteed or insured by the United States or any state government or
agency thereof), or medium and lower grade obligations. In addition, there are certain qualitative
investment restrictions.
Under Delaware insurance law, there are restrictions relating to the percentage of an insurer's
admitted assets that may be invested in a specific issuer or in the aggregate in a particular type of
investment. In addition, there are qualitative investment restrictions.
The Company's total pre-tax investment performance for each of the last three years is
summarized below, including amounts recognized in net income and unrealized gains and losses
recognized in other comprehensive income or loss (in thousands):
2016
Consolidated Statements of Income:
Net investment income
Net realized investment gains
Other-than-temporary impairments

$

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities
Total pre-tax investment performance

16,570
4,502
(1,475)

2015

$

(5,424)
$

14,173

17,237
3,094
(228)

2014

$

(5,475)
$

14,628

21,614
7,688
-

15,509
$

44,811

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities recognized through other
comprehensive income (loss) represents the pre-tax change in unrealized gains and losses on availablefor-sale securities arising during the year net of reclassification adjustments and includes the portion
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attributable to noncontrolling interests. The Company does not have any non-performing fixed maturity
investments at December 31, 2016.
COMPETITION AND REGULATION
We compete with many large mutual and stock insurance companies, small regional health
insurers and managed care organizations. Mutual companies may have certain competitive advantages
since profits inure directly to the benefit of the policyholders.
The health insurance industry tends to be cyclical, and excess products, such as medical stop-loss,
tend to be more volatile than specialty health products. During a “soft” market cycle, a larger number of
companies offer insurance on a certain line of business, which causes premiums in that line to trend
downward. In a “hard” market cycle, insurance companies limit their writings in certain lines of business
following periods of excessive losses and insurance and reinsurance companies redeploy their capital to
lines that they believe will achieve higher margins.
IHC is an insurance holding company; and as such, IHC and its subsidiary carriers and
administrative companies are subject to regulation and supervision by multiple state insurance regulators,
including the New York State Insurance Department (Standard Security Life's domestic regulator), the
Wisconsin Department of Insurance (Madison National Life's domestic regulator) and the Office of the
Insurance Commissioner of the State of Delaware (Independence American’s domestic regulator). Each
of Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American is subject to regulation and
supervision in every state in which it is licensed to transact business. These supervisory agencies have
broad administrative powers with respect to the granting and revocation of licenses to transact business,
the licensing of agents, the approval of policy forms, the approval of commission rates, the form and
content of mandatory financial statements, reserve requirements and the types and maximum amounts of
investments which may be made. Such regulation is primarily designed for the benefit of policyholders
rather than the stockholders of an insurance company or insurance holding company.
Certain transactions within the IHC holding company system are also subject to regulation and
supervision by such regulatory agencies. All such transactions must be fair and equitable. Notice to or
prior approval by the applicable insurance department is required with respect to transactions affecting the
ownership or control of an insurer and of certain material transactions, including dividend declarations,
between an insurer and any person in its holding company system. Under New York, Wisconsin and
Delaware insurance laws, "control" is defined as the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person. Under New York law, control is
presumed to exist if any person, directly or indirectly, owns, controls or holds, with the power to vote ten
percent or more of the voting securities of any other person. In Wisconsin, control is presumed if any
person, directly or indirectly, owns, controls or holds with the power to vote more than ten percent of the
voting securities of another person. In Delaware, control is presumed if any person, directly or indirectly,
owns, controls or holds with the power to vote ten percent or more of the voting securities of any other
person. In all three states, the acquisition of control of a domestic insurer needs to be approved in advance
by the Commissioner of Insurance. See Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 8 for information as to restrictions on the ability of the Company's insurance subsidiaries to pay
dividends.
Risk-based capital requirements are imposed on life and property and casualty insurance
companies. The risk-based capital ratio is determined by dividing an insurance company's total adjusted
capital, as defined, by its authorized control level risk-based capital. Companies that do not meet certain
minimum standards require specified corrective action. The risk-based capital ratios for each of Standard
Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American exceed such minimum ratios.
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EMPLOYEES
At December 31, 2016, the Company, including its direct and indirect majority or wholly owned
subsidiaries, collectively had approximately 270 employees.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Investors should carefully consider the risks set forth below and all other information contained
in this report and other documents we file with the SEC. Many of the factors that affect our business and
operations involve risk and uncertainty. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones
that we face, but are those that we have identified as being the most significant factors. Our business is
also subject to general risk and uncertainties that affect many other companies, such as market
conditions, geopolitical events, changes in laws or accounting rules, fluctuations in interest rates,
terrorism, wars or conflicts, major health concerns, natural disasters or other disruptions of expected
economic or business conditions. Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not know about, or that
we deem less significant than those identified below, may also materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations and the trading price of our common stock.
Risks related to our Business
Our investment portfolio is subject to various risks that may result in realized investment losses. In
particular, decreases in the fair value of fixed maturities may greatly reduce the value of our
investments, and as a result, our financial condition may suffer.
We are subject to credit risk in our investment portfolio. Defaults by third parties in the payment
or performance of their obligations under these securities could reduce our investment income and
realized investment gains or result in the continued recognition of investment losses. The value of our
investments may be materially adversely affected by increases in interest rates, downgrades in the
preferred stocks and bonds included in our portfolio and by other factors that may result in the continued
recognition of other-than-temporary impairments. Each of these events may cause us to reduce the
carrying value of our investment portfolio.
In particular, at December 31, 2016, fixed maturities represented $449.5 million or 87.3% of our
total investments of $514.8 million. The fair value of fixed maturities and the related investment income
fluctuates depending on general economic and market conditions. The fair value of these investments
generally increases or decreases in an inverse relationship with fluctuations in interest rates, while net
investment income realized by us will generally increase or decrease in line with changes in market
interest rates. In addition, actual net investment income and/or cash flows from investments that carry
prepayment risk, such as mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities, may differ from those
anticipated at the time of investment as a result of interest rate fluctuations. An investment has
prepayment risk when there is a risk that the timing of cash flows that result from the repayment of
principal might occur earlier than anticipated because of declining interest rates or later than anticipated
because of rising interest rates. The impact of value fluctuations affects our Consolidated Financial
Statements. Because all of our fixed maturities are classified as available for sale, changes in the fair
value of our securities are reflected in our stockholders' equity (accumulated other comprehensive income
or loss). No similar adjustment is made for liabilities to reflect a change in interest rates. Therefore,
interest rate fluctuations and economic conditions could adversely affect our stockholders' equity, total
comprehensive income (loss) and/or cash flows. For mortgage-backed securities, credit risk exists if
mortgagees default on the underlying mortgages. Although, at December 31, 2016, more than 99.9% of
the fixed maturities were investment grade and continue to be rated on average AA, all of our fixed
maturities are subject to credit risk. If any of the issuers of our fixed maturities suffer financial setbacks,
the ratings on the fixed maturities could fall (with a concurrent fall in fair value) and, in a worst case

14

scenario, the issuer could default on its financial obligations. If the issuer defaults, we could have realized
losses associated with the impairment of the securities.
We regularly monitor our investment portfolio to ensure that investments that are other-thantemporarily impaired are identified in a timely fashion, properly valued and any impairment is charged
against earnings in the proper period. Assessment factors include, but are not limited to, the length of time
and the extent to which the market value has been less than cost, the financial condition and rating of the
issuer, whether any collateral is held and the Company's intent to sell, or be required to sell, debt
securities before the anticipated recovery of its remaining amortized cost basis. However, the
determination that a security has incurred an other-than-temporary decline in value requires the judgment
of management. Inherently, there are risks and uncertainties involved in making these judgments.
Therefore, changes in facts and circumstances and critical assumptions could result in management’s
decision that further impairments have occurred. This could lead to additional losses on investments,
particularly those that management has the intent and ability to hold until recovery in value occurs.
Our earnings could be materially affected by an impairment of goodwill.
Goodwill represented $41.6 million of our $1.1 billion in total assets as of December 31, 2016.
We review our goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if indicators of impairment exist. We
regularly assess whether any indicators of impairment exist, which requires a significant amount of
judgment. Such indicators may include: a sustained significant decline in our share price and market
capitalization; a decline in our expected future cash flows; a significant adverse change in the business
climate; and/or slower growth rates, among others. Any adverse change in one of these factors could have
a significant impact on the recoverability of these assets and could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements. If we experience a sustained decline in our results of operations and
cash flows, or other indicators of impairment exist, we may incur a material non-cash charge to earnings
relating to impairment of our goodwill, which could have a material adverse effect on our results.
Our loss reserves are based on an estimate of our future liability, and if actual claims prove to be
greater than our reserves, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely
affected.
We maintain loss reserves to cover our estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, where material, including legal and other fees, and costs not associated with specific claims but
related to the claims payment functions for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the end of each
accounting period. Because setting reserves is inherently uncertain, we cannot be sure that current
reserves will prove adequate. If our reserves are insufficient to cover our actual losses and loss adjustment
expenses, we would have to augment our reserves and incur a charge to our earnings, and these charges
could be material. Reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability. Rather, reserves represent
an estimate of what we expect the ultimate settlement and administration of claims will cost. These
estimates, which generally involve actuarial projections, are based on our assessment of known facts and
circumstances. Many factors could affect these reserves, including economic and social conditions,
frequency and severity of claims, medical trends resulting from the influences of underlying cost
inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, and changes in doctrines of legal
liability and damage awards in litigation. Many of these items are not directly quantifiable in advance.
Additionally, there may be a significant reporting lag between the occurrence of the insured event and the
time it is reported to us. The inherent uncertainties of estimating reserves are greater for certain types of
liabilities, particularly those in which the various considerations affecting the type of claim are subject to
change and in which long periods of time may elapse before a definitive determination of liability is
made. Reserve estimates are continually refined in a regular and ongoing process as experience develops
and further claims are reported and settled and are reflected in the results of the periods in which such
estimates are changed.
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Our inability to assess underwriting risk accurately could reduce our net income.
Our success is dependent on our ability to assess accurately the risks associated with the
businesses on which we retain risk. If we fail to assess accurately the risks we retain, we may fail to
establish the appropriate premium rates and our reserves may be inadequate to cover our losses, requiring
augmentation of the reserves, which in turn would reduce our net income.
Our agreements with our producers that underwrite on our behalf require that each such producer
follow underwriting guidelines published by us and amended from time to time. Failure to follow these
guidelines may result in termination or modification of the agreement. We perform periodic audits to
confirm adherence to the guidelines, but it is possible that we would not detect a breach in the guidelines
for some time after the infraction, which could result in a material impact on the Net Loss Ratio (defined
as insurance benefits, claims and reserves divided by the difference between premiums earned and
underwriting expenses) for that producer and could have an adverse impact on our operating results.
Retentions in various lines of business expose us to potential losses.
We retain most of the risk for our own account on some business underwritten by our insurance
companies. The determination to not purchase reinsurance, or to reduce the amount of reinsurance we
purchase, for a particular risk or line of business is based on a variety of factors including market
conditions, pricing, availability of reinsurance, the level of our capital and our loss history. Such
determinations have the effect of increasing our financial exposure to losses associated with such risks or
in such lines of business and, in the event of significant losses associated with such risks or lines of
business, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.
As a holding company, we depend on the ability of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us to meet
our obligations and pay dividends.
We are a holding company for our insurance companies and other subsidiaries with no significant
operations of our own. Our principal sources of cash to meet our obligations and to pay dividends consist
of dividends from our subsidiaries. State insurance regulatory authorities limit the amount of dividends
that insurance companies can pay without regulatory approval. Additionally, competitive pressures or
other regulatory requirements may require our insurance company subsidiaries to maintain certain levels
of capital that could affect their ability to make dividend payments. Such limits could adversely affect our
liquidity, including our ability to pay dividends to stockholders.
If rating agencies downgrade our insurance companies, our results of operations and competitive
position in the industry may suffer.
Ratings have become an increasingly important factor in establishing the competitive position of
insurance companies and are important to maintaining public confidence in our company and our
products, and our ability to market our products. Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and
Independence American are all rated “A-” (Excellent) by A.M. Best Company, Inc. A.M. Best's ratings
reflect its opinions of an insurance company's financial strength, operating performance, strategic
position, and ability to meet its obligations to policyholders and are not evaluations directed to investors.
The ratings of our carriers are subject to periodic review by A.M. Best, and we cannot assure the
continued maintenance of our current ratings. Because these ratings have become an increasingly
important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies, a downgrade in our
financial strength ratings, or the announced potential for a downgrade, could have an adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in several ways, including: (i) materially
increasing the number or amount of policy surrenders and withdrawals by contract holders and
policyholders, as policyholders might move to other companies with higher claims-paying and financial
strength ratings; (ii) reducing new sales of insurance products; (iii) increasing our cost of capital; (iv)
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adversely affecting our relationships with distribution partners; (v) requiring us to reduce prices or
increase crediting rates for many of our products and services to remain competitive; and (vi) adversely
affecting our ability to obtain reinsurance or obtain reasonable pricing on reinsurance.
Changes in accounting and reporting standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board or other standard-setting bodies and insurance regulators could materially adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operations.
Our financial statements are subject to the application of U.S. GAAP, which is periodically
revised and/or expanded. Accordingly, from time to time, we are required to adopt new or revised
accounting standards issued by recognized authoritative bodies, including the Financial Accounting
Standards Board. It is possible that future accounting and reporting standards we are required to adopt
could change the current accounting treatment that we apply to our financial statements and that such
changes could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, the required adoption of future accounting and reporting standards may result in significant costs
to implement. For example, current proposals may change the accounting for insurance contracts and
financial instruments and could result in increased volatility of net income as well as other comprehensive
income. In addition, these proposals could require us to make significant changes to systems and use
additional resources, resulting in significant incremental costs to implement the proposals.
The new Trump Administration may make substantial changes to fiscal and tax policies that may
adversely affect our business.
The Trump Administration has called for substantial change to fiscal and tax policies, which may
include comprehensive tax reform. We cannot predict the impact, if any, of these changes to our business.
However, it is possible that these changes could adversely affect our business. It is likely that some
policies adopted by the new administration will benefit us and others will negatively affect us. Until we
know what changes are enacted, we will not know whether in total we benefit from, or are negatively
affected by, the changes.
Increases in insurance claim costs will negatively impact the revenues and profitability of our
insurance business.
The major component of insurance cost represents the cost of claims, which are not within our
control. While we seek to limit our exposure on any single insured, significant unfavorable claims
experience will reduce our revenues and profitability. Increases in insurance claim costs will negatively
impact the revenues and profitability of our insurance business.
Legal and regulatory investigations and actions are increasingly common in the insurance business
and may result in financial losses and harm our reputation.
We face a risk of litigation and regulatory investigations and actions in the ordinary course of
operating our business, including the risk of class actions, regulatory actions and individual lawsuits
relating, among other things, to sales or underwriting practices, payment of contingent or other sales
commissions, claims payments and procedures, product design, disclosure, administration, additional
premium charges for premiums paid on a periodic basis, interest crediting practices, denial or delay of
benefits and breaches of fiduciary or other duties to customers. Adverse judgments in one or more of such
lawsuits could require us to pay significant damage amounts or to change aspects of our operations.
Plaintiffs in class action and other lawsuits against us may seek very large or indeterminate amounts,
including punitive and treble damages, which may remain unknown for substantial periods of time.
Further, industry trends, such as increased litigation against the insurance industry and individual
insurers, the willingness of courts to expand covered causes of loss and the size of awards, rising jury
awards, escalating medical costs, and increasing loss severity may render the loss reserves of our
insurance subsidiaries inadequate for current and future losses. The unpredictability of court decisions in
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the insurance business could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operation
and cash flows. In addition, the political divisiveness leading, in some cases, to the stalling of the
legislative process, may cause judicial activism and result in rulings concerning our products, the way we
sell our products, and the profitability of our products, which may result in the states being divided in
their approach to insurance.
We are also subject to various regulatory inquiries, such as information requests, subpoenas,
market conduct exams and books and record examinations, from state and federal regulators and other
authorities, which may result in fines, recommendations for corrective action or other regulatory actions.
Increased regulatory scrutiny and any resulting investigations or proceedings could result in new legal
actions or precedents and industry-wide regulations or practices that could adversely affect our business.
Even if we ultimately prevail in the litigation, regulatory action or investigation, we could suffer
significant reputational harm, which could have an adverse effect on our business.
Our reliance upon third party administrators and other outsourcing arrangements may disrupt or
adversely affect our operations.
We depend, and may in the future increase our dependence, on third parties for significant
portions of our operations, including claims processing, premium billing, claims management, claims
payment and voice communication services, and other systems-related support. This dependence makes
our operations vulnerable to the third parties' failure to perform adequately under the contract due to
internal or external factors. In the future, this dependence may increase as we may outsource additional
areas of our business operations to additional vendors. There can be no assurance that any conversion or
transition of business process functions from the Company to a vendor or between vendors will be
seamless and these projects could result in significant operational challenges that cause financial
difficulties. In addition, if our relationships with our outsourcing partners are significantly disrupted or
terminated for any reason or if the financial terms of such outsourcing partners changes materially, we
may not be able to find an alternative partner in a timely manner or on acceptable financial terms. As a
result, we may not be able to meet the demands of our customers and, in turn, our business, cash flows,
financial condition and results of operations may be harmed.
Our dependence on third parties makes our operations vulnerable to such parties’ failure to
perform as agreed. Incorrect information from these entities could cause us to incur additional expense to
utilize additional resources to validate, reconcile and correct the information. We have not been able to
independently test and verify some of these third party systems and data. Any failure to recommend
payment on claims fairly could lead to material litigation, undermine our reputation in the marketplace,
impair our image and adversely affect our financial results. There can be no assurance that future third
party data will not disrupt or adversely affect our results of operations. A change in service providers, or a
move of services from a third party to internal operations, could result in significant operational
challenges, a decline in service quality and effectiveness, increased cost or less favorable contract terms,
which could adversely affect our operating results. Some of our outsourced services are being performed
offshore. Prevailing economic conditions and other circumstances could prevent our offshore vendors'
ability to adequately perform as agreed, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition
Our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected if our third
party administrators, managing general agents, general agents or other producers exceed their
authorities, otherwise breach obligations owed to us or commit fraud.
In connection with certain lines of business and insurance programs, we authorize third party
administrators, managing general agents, general agents and other producers to write business and/or
settle claims on our behalf within underwriting and claims settlement authorities prescribed by us. We
have less control and supervision over these underwriters and claims staff than our own employees and
rely on the controls of our agents to write business within the underwriting authorities and settle claims
within guidelines provided by us. Although we monitor our business on an ongoing basis, our monitoring
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efforts may not be adequate and our agents may exceed their underwriting authorities or otherwise breach
their obligations owed to us. To the extent that our agents exceed their authorities, otherwise breach their
obligations owed to us or commit fraud, this may result in a material adverse effect upon our financial
condition and results of operations.
We utilize reinsurance arrangements to help manage our business risks, and failure to perform by
the counterparties to our reinsurance arrangements may expose us to risks we had sought to
mitigate.
We utilize reinsurance to mitigate our risks in various circumstances. Through reinsurance, we
have the contractual right to collect the amount reinsured from our reinsurers. Although reinsurance
makes the reinsurer liable to us to the extent the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, reinsurance
does not relieve us of our direct liability to our policyholders. Accordingly, we bear credit risk with
respect to our reinsurers. We cannot assure that our reinsurers will pay all of our reinsurance claims, or
that they will pay our claims on a timely basis. Additionally, catastrophic losses from multiple direct
insurers may accumulate within the more concentrated reinsurance market and result in claims that
adversely impact the financial condition of such reinsurers and thus their ability to pay such claims.
Further, additional adverse developments in the capital markets could affect our reinsurers’ ability to meet
their obligations to us. If we become liable for risks we have ceded to reinsurers or if our reinsurers cease
to meet their obligations to us because they are insolvent or in a weakened financial position as a result of
incurred losses or otherwise, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected.
Our reliance on brokers, program administrators and third-party claims adjusters subjects us to
risk.
We transact business through intermediaries, frequently paying insured claims through brokers,
program administrators or third-party claims adjustment services, and these parties, in turn, pay these
amounts to the clients that have purchased insurance from us.. If such an intermediary were to fail to pass
such a payment through to the claimant or policyholder, we may remain liable for the deficiency because
of applicable local laws or contractual obligations. Likewise, when a customer pays its policy premium to
a broker or program administrator for further remittance to us, that premium is generally considered to
have been paid and the client is no longer liable for such amount even if we do not actually receive the
premium. Consequently, we assume a degree of credit risk associated with the intermediaries we use with
respect to our insurance and reinsurance business.
The success of our business strategy depends on the continuing service of key executives, the
members of our senior management team and other highly-skilled personnel.
We rely on the continued service of key executives, members of our senior management team and
highly-skilled personnel throughout all levels of our business. Our business could be harmed if we are
unable to retain or motivate key personnel or hire qualified personnel. We believe that our future success
depends in substantial part on our ability to recruit, hire, motivate, develop, and retain talented and
highly-skilled personnel who are knowledgeable about our business. Doing so may be difficult due to
many factors, including fluctuations in economic and industry conditions and the effectiveness of our
compensation programs and competition. If we do not succeed in retaining and motivating our existing
key employees and in attracting new key personnel, our revenue growth and profitability may be
materially adversely affected.
We may be unsuccessful in competing against larger or better-established business rivals.
We compete with a large number of other companies in our selected lines of business. We face
competition from specialty insurance companies, and from diversified financial services companies and
insurance companies that are much larger than we are and that have far greater financial, marketing and
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other resources. Some of these competitors also have greater experience and more market recognition
than we do in certain lines of business. In addition to competition in the operation of our business, we
face competition from a variety of sources in attracting and retaining qualified employees. There can be
no assurance that we will maintain our current competitive position in the markets in which we operate, or
that we will be able to expand operations into new markets. If we fail to do so, our results of operations
and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.
Also, insurance companies may seek to consolidate through mergers and acquisitions. Continued
consolidation within the insurance industry will further enhance the already competitive underwriting
environment as we would likely experience more robust competition from larger competitors. These
consolidated entities may use their enhanced market power and broader capital base to take business from
us or to drive down pricing, which could adversely affect the results of our operations.
We may be unsuccessful in our continued efforts to execute on our strategies to diversify sources of
income.
We have devoted significant effort and financial resources to build new products, distribution and
service capabilities to diversify our product portfolio. We aim to continue implementing our strategies
while maintaining current positions of strength in our existing businesses, as well as maintaining the
strength of our balance sheet. Our success will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to
achieve customer name recognition, accurately predict market trends, differentiate our product offerings
from our competitors’ products, provide excellent customer service, attract and retain skilled employees,
maintain comprehensive focus on all company priorities, develop new products in a timely manner and
achieve market acceptance, effectively implement new technology and operational platforms, deepen our
existing distribution relationships and add new distribution partners, and set appropriate prices for our
products. We may incur higher-than-expected costs or fail to generate expected levels of revenue and
profitability associated with this strategy. Further, if we fail to accomplish all or a combination of these
strategies, our ability to profitably grow our business could be materially and adversely affected.
The failure to maintain effective and efficient information systems and to safeguard the security of
our data could adversely affect our business.
Our business is highly dependent upon the successful and uninterrupted functioning of our
computer systems, and we have different information systems for our various businesses. We rely on
these systems to perform actuarial and other modeling functions necessary for writing business, to
provide insurance quotes, to process our premiums and policies, to administer our products, to process
and make claims payments, to establish our loss reserves, and to prepare our management and external
financial statements and information. The failure of these systems could interrupt our operation and we
could experience adverse consequences, including: (i) inadequate information on which to base pricing,
underwriting and reserving decisions; (ii) inadequate information for accurate financial reporting; (iii)
increases in administrative expenses; (iv) the loss of existing customers or key distributors; (v) difficulty
in attracting new customers or distributors; (vi) an inability to comply with regulations or customer or
vendor expectations, such as failure to meet prompt payment obligations; (vii) customer, provider and
agent disputes; and (viii) litigation or regulatory enforcement exposure. We have committed and will
continue to commit significant resources to develop, maintain and enhance our existing information
systems, transition existing systems to upgraded systems, and develop new information systems in order
to keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology, evolving industry and
regulatory standards, and changing customer preferences.
Moreover, our computer systems have been, and will continue to be, subject to computer viruses
or other malicious codes, unauthorized access, cyber-attacks, hackers or other computer-related
penetrations. To date, we are not aware of a material breach of cybersecurity. We commit significant
resources to administrative and technical controls to prevent cyber incidents and protect our information
technology, but our preventative actions to reduce the risk of cyber threats may be insufficient to prevent
20

physical and electronic break-ins, denial of service and other cyber-attacks or security breaches. Such an
event could compromise our confidential information as well as that of our clients and third parties, with
whom we interact, impede or interrupt business operations and may result in other negative consequences,
including remediation costs, loss of revenue, disruption of our operations, additional regulatory scrutiny,
sanctions (such as penalties, fines and loss of license) and litigation, and reputational damage.
Our database and systems are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from system outages,
disasters such as earthquakes, fires, floods, acts of terrorism, blackouts, power loss, telecommunications
failures, and similar events, which would compromise our ability to conduct business. In the event of such
failures, we may be unable to perform critical functions in a timely manner, and our systems may not be
available to our employees, customers or business partners for an extended period of time. Any such
interruptions may reduce our revenues or increase our expenses, and may also have an adverse impact
upon our reputation, distribution partnerships, or our customer or vendor relationships. [Such an
occurrence may also impair our ability to timely and accurately complete our financial reporting and other
regulatory obligations and may impact the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.]
We also utilize and/or rely on computer systems developed and maintained by outsourcing relationships
and key vendors. Their systems could experience the same risks, which could result in a material adverse
effect on our business results.
Our failure to maintain effective and efficient information systems and protect the security of
such systems could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, past or future misconduct by our employees or employees of our vendors or
suppliers could result in violations of laws by us, regulatory sanctions against us and/or serious
reputational, legal or financial harm to our business, and the precautions we employ to prevent and detect
this activity may not be effective in all cases. Although we employ controls and procedures designed to
monitor the business decisions and activities of these individuals to prevent us from engaging in
inappropriate activities, excessive risk taking, fraud or security breaches, these individuals may take such
risks regardless of such controls and procedures and such controls and procedures may fail to detect all
such decisions and activities. Our compensation policies and procedures are reviewed by us as part of our
overall risk management program, but it is possible that such compensation policies and practices could
inadvertently incentivize excessive or inappropriate risk taking. If these individuals take excessive or
inappropriate risks, those risks could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
Failure to protect our policyholders' confidential information and privacy could adversely affect
our business.
In the conduct of our business, we are subject to privacy regulations and to confidentiality
obligations. For example, the collection and use of patient data in our health insurance operations is the
subject of national and state legislation, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
of 1996, or HIPAA, and certain other activities we conduct are subject to the privacy regulations of the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. We also have contractual obligations to protect certain confidential
information we obtain from our existing vendors, partners and policyholders. These obligations generally
include protecting such confidential information in the same manner and to the same extent as we protect
our own confidential information. If we do not properly comply with privacy regulations and protect
confidential information, we could experience adverse consequences, including regulatory sanctions, such
as penalties, fines and loss of license, as well as loss of reputation and possible litigation.
Our business depends on the uninterrupted operation of our information technology systems.
We rely on various information technology systems and computer and telecommunications
equipment in the normal course of business. The maintenance and security of our information systems
are important to our operations. Our ability to effectively run our business depends on the reliability and
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capacity of our information technology systems, including technology services and systems for which we
contract from third parties. Advances in technology may render our current information technology
systems obsolete and require upgrading and maintenance over time, which may require significant future
commitments of resources and capital. If we upgrade or change systems, we may suffer interruptions in
service, loss of data or reduced functionality. Despite any precautions we may take, such problems could
result in, among other consequences, interruptions in our services, which could harm our reputation and
financial results. If there is a material failure in our information technology systems, our business
operations and profits could be negatively affected, and our systems may be inadequate to support our
future growth strategies.
We may be unable to renew our existing licenses when they expire and may not be able to obtain
new licenses on favorable terms.
We may be unable to renew expiring licenses on terms favorable to us or at all, and we may have
difficulties obtaining new licenses needed for our business on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In addition,
these licensors could decide to license to our competitors. Failure to maintain or renew our existing
licenses or to obtain additional licenses necessary for our business could harm our operating results and
financial condition.
We have risks from exiting the individual life and annuities business.
We exited the individual life and annuities business in July 2015 when our subsidiaries, Madison
National Life and Standard Security Life, closed on an agreement to coinsure substantially all of their
run-off blocks of individual life and annuities and sold Madison National Life's infrastructure related to
those blocks, to National Guardian Life Insurance Company (“NGL”). Key risks associated with exiting
the business include:




our ability to identify and implement key customer, technology systems, and other
transition actions to avoid or minimize negative effects on retained businesses;
our ability to assess and manage any loss of synergies that the exited business had with our
retained businesses; and
our ability to manage capital, liquidity, and other challenges that may arise in the event of
an exit that results in significant cash expenditures or a financial loss.

Further, if NGL defaults on its reinsurance commitments and/or its administration commitments,
then the policies may come back to us. Since we have sold our infrastructure, we would not have the
ability to administer the business because we no longer have the IT systems or staff to support the
business. We may have to incur expenses to rebuild our capabilities and for regulatory and other legal
actions, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.
Risks related to our Industry
Our industry is highly regulated and we are subject to extensive governmental regulation, which
may adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives. Also, changes in regulations
may affect our businesses and reduce our profitability and limit our growth. Moreover, if we fail to
comply with these regulations, we may be subject to penalties, including fines and suspensions,
which may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Our insurance subsidiaries are subject to state insurance laws and regulated by the insurance
departments of the various states in which they are domiciled and licensed, which, among other things,
conduct periodic examination of insurance companies. State laws grant insurance regulatory authorities
broad administrative powers with respect to various aspects of our insurance businesses, including:
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licensing companies and agents to transact business and regulating their respective conduct
in the market;
restricting agreements with large revenue-producing agents;
approving policy forms and premium rates;
cancelling and non-renewal of policies;
requiring certain methods of accounting and prescribing the form and content of records of
financial condition required to be filed;
calculating the value of assets to determine compliance with statutory requirements;
establishing statutory capital and reserve requirements, such as for unearned premiums and
losses;
regulating certain premium rates and requiring deposits for the benefit of policyholders;
establishing maximum interest rates on insurance policy loans and minimum rates for
guaranteed crediting rates on life insurance policies;
establishing standards of solvency, including risk-based capital measurements, which are a
measure developed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) and
used by state insurance regulators to identify insurance companies that potentially are
inadequately capitalized;
mandating certain insurance benefits and restricting the size of risks insurable under a
single policy;
regulating unfair trade and claims practices, including the imposition of restrictions on
marketing and sales practices, distribution arrangements and payment of inducements;
requiring the filing of annual and other reports relating to the financial condition of
insurance companies, holding company issues and other matters;
approving changes in control of insurance companies;
restricting transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates, including the
payment of dividends to affiliates; and
regulating the nature or types, concentration or amounts, quality and valuation of
investments.

Currently, the U.S. federal government does not directly regulate the business of insurance.
However, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”),
which was signed into law in July 2010 by President Obama, expanded the U.S. federal government’s
presence in insurance oversight, streamlined state-based regulation of reinsurance and non-admitted
insurance and established a new Federal Insurance Office with powers over most lines of insurance other
than health insurance. The Federal Insurance Office is authorized to gather data and information to
monitor aspects of the insurance industry, identify issues in the regulation of insurers about insurance
matters, and preempt state insurance measures under certain circumstances. As the Dodd-Frank Act calls
for numerous studies and contemplates further regulation, its future impact on our results of operations or
financial position cannot be determined at this time.
In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act, along with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, regulates corporate
governance, executive compensation and other areas, as well as laws relating to federal trade restrictions,
privacy/data security, crop insurance and terrorism risk insurance laws. Additionally, federal legislation
and administrative policies in other areas can significantly and adversely affect insurance companies,
including general financial services regulation, securities regulation, privacy regulation, tort reform
legislation, and taxation.
We are uncertain as to the impact that this new legislation and regulatory guidance will have on
the Company and cannot assure that it will not adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, compliance with applicable laws and regulations is time consuming and
personnel-intensive, and changes in these laws and regulations may materially increase our direct and
indirect compliance efforts and other expenses of doing business.
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Changes in regulation, or the application thereof, may reduce our profitability and limit our
growth.
Legislation or other regulatory reform that increases the regulatory requirements imposed on us
or that changes the way we are able to do business may significantly harm our business or results of
operations in the future. Further, state insurance regulators and the NAIC regularly re-examine existing
laws and regulations applicable to insurance companies and their products. Changes in these laws and
regulations or in interpretations thereof, or new judicial decisions affecting the insurance industry, are
often made for the benefit of the consumer at the expense of the insurer and thus could have an adverse
effect on our business. We cannot predict what impact, if any, the results of these studies or other such
proposals, if enacted, may have on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. If we
were unable for any reason to comply with these requirements, it could result in substantial costs to us
and may materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Several proposals have been adopted or are currently pending to amend state insurance holding
company laws to increase the scope of insurance holding company regulation. The timing of their
adoption and content will vary by state. These proposals include the NAIC “Solvency Modernization
Initiative,” which focuses on capital requirements, as well as the Own Risk Solvency Assessment
(“ORSA”), which requires large- and medium-sized U.S. insurers and insurance groups to regularly
perform an ORSA and file a confidential ORSA Summary Report of the assessment with the regulator of
each insurance company upon request.
We cannot predict the full effect of these or any other regulatory initiatives on the Company at
this time, but they could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows and financial condition.]
Changes to health insurance laws may adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition
and results of operations.
Although health insurance is generally regulated at the state level, actions at the federal level have
affected and will likely continue to affect our business. Since the Affordable Care Act (ACA) became law
in March 2010, it has caused sweeping and fundamental changes to the U.S. health care and health
insurance industries. The effects on our business include our decisions to exit the major medical business,
which is directly affected by the ACA, and to focus on ancillary health insurance products that are only
indirectly affected by the ACA.
The ACA also affects us as an employer because it significantly affects the provision of both
health care services and benefits in the United States. The ACA may impact our cost of providing our
employees with health insurance and/or benefits, and may also impact various other aspects of our
business. We are continually assessing the impact of the ACA on our health care benefit costs.
The Trump Administration will undoubtedly have an impact on the ACA, however we are unable
to predict what additional legislation or regulation, if any, relating to the health insurance industry may be
enacted in the future or what effect such legislation or regulation would have on our business.
We will continue to monitor efforts to repeal the ACA and reassess our business strategies
accordingly. We have made, and are continuing to make, significant changes to our operations, products
and strategy to adapt to the new environment. However, if our plans for operating in the new
environment are unsuccessful or if there is less demand than we expect for our products in the new
environment, our results could be adversely affected.
If we fail to comply with extensive state and federal regulations, we will be subject to penalties,
which may include fines and suspension and which may adversely affect our results of operations
and financial condition.
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Some states have imposed time limits for the payment of uncontested covered claims and require
health care and dental service plans to pay interest on uncontested claims not paid promptly within the
required time period. Some states have also granted their insurance regulatory agencies additional
authority to impose monetary penalties and other sanctions on health and dental plans engaging in certain
unfair payment practices. If we were unable, for any reason, to comply with these requirements, it could
result in substantial costs to us and could materially adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.
A large portion of our business depends on our compliance with applicable laws and regulations
and our ability to maintain valid licenses and approvals for our operations. Regulatory authorities have
broad discretion to grant, renew, revoke or deny licenses and approvals. In some instances, we follow
practices based on our interpretations of regulations, or interpretations that we believe to be generally
followed by the industry, which may be different from the requirements or interpretations of regulatory
authorities. If we do not have the requisite licenses and approvals and do not comply with applicable
regulatory requirements, the insurance regulatory authorities could preclude or temporarily suspend us
from carrying on some or all of our insurance-related activities or otherwise penalize us. That type of
action could have a material adverse effect on our business. Also, changes in the level of regulation of the
insurance industry (whether federal, state or foreign), or changes in laws or regulations themselves or
interpretations by regulatory authorities, could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our results may fluctuate as a result of factors generally affecting the insurance and reinsurance
industry.
The results of companies in the insurance and reinsurance industry historically have been subject
to significant fluctuations and uncertainties. The industry and our financial condition and results of
operations may be affected significantly by:









Fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pressures and other changes in the investment
environment, which affect returns on invested capital;
Rising levels of actual costs that are not known by companies at the time they price their
products;
Losses related to epidemics, terrorist activities, random acts of violence or declared or
undeclared war;
Development of judicial interpretations relating to the scope of insurers' liability;
The overall level of economic activity and the competitive environment in the industry;
Greater than expected use of health care services by members;
New mandated benefits or other regulatory changes that change the scope of business or
increase our costs; and
Failure of managing general underwriters, agents, third-party administrators and
producers to adhere to the underwriting guidelines, market-conduct practices and other
requirements (as applicable) under their agreements with us.

The occurrence of any or a combination of these factors, which is beyond our control, could have
a material adverse effect on our results.
We may experience periods with excess underwriting capacity and unfavorable premium rates
because the insurance and reinsurance business is historically cyclical, which could cause our
results to fluctuate.
The insurance and reinsurance business historically has been a cyclical industry characterized by
periods of intense price competition due to excessive underwriting capacity, as well as periods when
shortages of capacity permitted an increase in pricing and, thus, more favorable premium levels. An
increase in premium levels is often, over time, offset by an increasing supply of insurance and reinsurance
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capacity, either by capital provided by new entrants or by the commitment of additional capital by
existing insurers or reinsurers, which may cause prices to decrease. Any of these factors could lead to a
significant reduction in premium rates, less favorable policy terms and fewer opportunities to underwrite
insurance risks, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows.
Failures elsewhere in the insurance industry could obligate us to pay assessments through guaranty
associations.
Virtually all states require insurers licensed to do business in that state to bear a portion of the
loss suffered by some insureds as the result of impaired or insolvent insurance companies or to bear a
portion of the cost of insurance for high-risk or uninsured individuals. When an insurance company
becomes insolvent, state insurance guaranty associations have the right to assess other insurance
companies doing business in their state for funds to pay obligations to policyholders of the insolvent
company, up to the state-specific limit of coverage. Depending on state law, insurers can be assessed up
to 2% of premium written for the relevant line of insurance in that state. The total amount of the
assessment is based on the number of insured residents in each state, and each company’s portion is based
on its proportionate share of premium volume in the relevant lines of business. The future failure of a
large life, health or annuity insurer could trigger assessments that we would be obligated to pay. Further,
amounts for historical insolvencies may be assessed over many years, and there can be significant
uncertainty around the total obligation for a given insolvency. Existing liabilities may not be sufficient to
fund the ultimate obligations of a historical insolvency, and we may be required to increase our liability,
which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

IHC
IHC has entered into a renewable short-term arrangement with Geneve Corporation, an affiliate,
for the use of 6,750 square feet of office space as its corporate headquarters in Stamford, Connecticut.
Standard Security Life
Standard Security Life leases 13,000 square feet of office space in New York, New York as its
corporate headquarters.
Madison National Life
Madison National Life leases 15,357 square feet of space in Madison, Wisconsin as its corporate
headquarters.
IHC Carrier Solutions
IHC Carrier Solutions leases 11,297 square feet of office space in Phoenix, Arizona as its
corporate headquarters.
IHC Specialty Benefits
IHC Specialty Benefits leases 6,391 square feet of office space in Minneapolis, Minnesota as its
corporate headquarters.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our
businesses. We have established reserves that we believe are sufficient given information presently
available relating to our outstanding legal proceedings and claims. We do not anticipate that the result of
any pending legal proceeding or claim will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
cash flows, although there could be such an effect on our results of operations for any particular period.
A third party administrator with whom we formerly did business (“Plaintiff”) filed a Complaint
dated May 17, 2017 in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division,
naming IHC, Madison National Life, Standard Security Life, and IHC Carrier Solutions, Inc. (collectively
referred to as “Defendants”). The Complaint concerns agreements entered into by Standard Security Life
and Madison National Life with Plaintiff, as well as other allegations made by Plaintiff against the
Defendants. The Complaint seeks injunctive relief and damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,000,
profit share payments allegedly owed to Plaintiff under the agreements totaling at least $3,082,000
through 2014, plus additional amounts for 2015 and 2016, and exemplary and punitive damages as
allowed by law and fees and costs. The Defendants have not yet been served, but if they are served they
intend to vigorously contest the claims, which we believe to be without merit. The Defendants will file
significant counterclaims against Plaintiff demanding reimbursement from the Plaintiff for damages and
expenses.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information
The Company's common stock trades under the symbol IHC on the New York Stock Exchange.
The following table shows for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices for IHC's common stock
as reported by the New York Stock Exchange.
HIGH
QUARTER ENDED:
December 31, 2016
September 30, 2016
June 30, 2016
March 31, 2016
QUARTER ENDED:
December 31, 2015
September 30, 2015
June 30, 2015
March 31, 2015

LOW

$

21.23
19.15
17.97
16.91

$

17.03
16.20
15.05
13.16

$

15.81
13.80
14.10
14.05

$

12.90
11.76
11.29
11.63

IHC's stock price closed at $19.55 on December 31, 2016.
Holders of Record
At May 15, 2017, the number of record holders of IHC's common stock was 1,845. The number
of record owners was determined from the Company’s stockholder records maintained by the Company’s
transfer agent.
Dividends
IHC declared a cash dividend of $.045 per share on its common stock on June 20, 2016 and
declared a cash dividend of $.06 per share on its common stock on November 29, 2016, for a total annual
dividend of $.105 per share.
IHC declared a cash dividend of $.045 per share on its common stock on each of June 22, 2015
and December 23, 2015 for a total annual dividend of $.09 per share.
IHC declared a cash dividend of $.035 per share on its common stock on each of June 26, 2014
and December 22, 2014 for a total annual dividend of $.07 per share.
Share Repurchase Program
IHC has a program, initiated in 1991, under which it repurchases shares of its common stock. In
August 2016, the Board of Directors increased the number of shares that can be repurchased to 3,000,000
shares of IHC common stock. As of December 31, 2016, 2,895,442 shares were still authorized to be
repurchased.
There were no share repurchases during the fourth quarter of 2016.
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Performance Graph
Set forth below is a line graph comparing the five year cumulative total return of IHC’s common
stock with that of the Russell 2000 Index and the S & P 500 Life & Health Insurance index. The graph
assumes that dividends were reinvested and is based on a $100 investment on December 31, 2011. Indices
data was obtained from Research Data Group, Inc. The performance graph represents past performance
and should not be considered to be an indication of future performance.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following is a summary of selected consolidated financial data of the Company for each of
the last five years.
Year Ended December 31,
2016
Income Data:
Total revenues
Income from continuing operations
Balance Sheet Data:
Total investments
Total assets
Insurance liabilities
Debt and junior subordinated
debt securities
IHC stockholders' equity
Per Share Data:
Cash dividends declared per
common share
Basic income (loss) per common share
from continuing operations
Diluted income (loss) per common
share from continuing operations
Book value per common share

$

2015

311,004
22,510

$

530,495
27,974

2014
$

530,348
15,021

2013
$

2012

574,445
15,472

$

426,410
21,685

514,820
1,134,464
603,867

488,159
1,197,963
711,475

650,961
1,196,227
728,883

608,982
1,277,545
837,581

811,356
1,270,818
793,628

436,559

43,335
323,351

42,146
299,687

44,146
277,301

46,146
294,194

.105

.09

.07

.07

.07

1.28

1.59

.83

.79

1.05

1.27
25.53

1.58
18.73

.82
17.25

.78
15.70

1.05
16.41

The Selected Financial Data should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Item 8 of this report.

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OF

FINANCIAL

OVERVIEW
Independence Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (NYSE: IHC), is a holding company
principally engaged in the life and health insurance business through: (i) its insurance companies,
Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York ("Standard Security Life"), Madison National
Life Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison National Life"), and Independence American Insurance
Company (“Independence American”); and (ii) its marketing and administrative companies, including
IHC Specialty Benefits Inc. and IHC Carrier Solutions, Inc. IHC also owns a significant equity interest in:
(i) Ebix Health Exchange Holdings, LLC (“Ebix Health Exchange”), an administration exchange for
health insurance; and (ii) an equity interest in a managing general underwriter (“MGU”) that writes
medical stop-loss. On March 31, 2016, the Company sold IHC Risk Solutions, LLC (“Risk Solutions”),
an MGU that was its principal source of medical stop-loss business. In addition, all of the in-force
medical stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and Independence American produced by Risk
Solutions was 100% co-insured as of January 1, 2016 and IHC’s block of medical stop-loss business is in
run-off. Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American are sometimes
collectively referred to as the “Insurance Group”. IHC and its subsidiaries (including the Insurance
Group) are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Company", or “IHC”, or are implicit in the terms
“we”, “us” and “our”.
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IHC’s health insurance products serve niche sectors of the commercial market through multiple
classes of business and varied distribution channels. Medical stop-loss was marketed to employer groups
that self-insure their medical risks. With regard to those persons in the growing individual market, IHC’s
products offer coverage for individuals and families with short-term needs, and fixed indemnity limited
benefit and scheduled benefit plans through multiple distribution partners. We offer pet insurance for
dogs and cats in all 50 states through select distributors. Our fixed indemnity limited benefit product is
primarily purchased by hourly workers and others who are generally not eligible for coverage under their
employer’s group medical plan. The dental and vision products are marketed to large and small groups as
well as individuals. With respect to IHC’s life and disability business, Madison National Life has
historically sold almost all of this business through one distribution source specializing in serving school
districts and municipalities.
While management considers a wide range of factors in its strategic planning and decisionmaking, underwriting profit is consistently emphasized as the primary goal in all decisions as to whether
or not to increase our retention in a core line, expand into new products, acquire an entity or a block of
business, or otherwise change our business model. Management's assessment of trends in healthcare and
morbidity, with respect to specialty medical, disability and New York short-term disability (“DBL”);
mortality rates with respect to life insurance; and changes in market conditions in general play a
significant role in determining the rates charged, deductibles and attachment points quoted, and the
percentage of business retained. IHC also seeks transactions that permit it to leverage its vertically
integrated organizational structure by generating fee income from production and administrative
operating companies as well as risk income for its carriers. Management has always focused on
managing the costs of its operations.
The following is a summary of key performance information and events:
Results of operations are summarized as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
2016
Revenues
Expenses

$

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes

311,004
278,939

2015
$

530,495
486,617

2014
$

530,348
509,219

32,065
9,555

43,878
15,904

21,129
6,108

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations

22,510
110,804

27,974
2,548

15,021
1,900

Net income
Less: Income from noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries

133,314
(10,016)

30,522
(578)

16,921
(628)

$

Net income attributable to IHC



123,298

$

29,944

$

16,293

Income from continuing operations of $1.27 per share, diluted, for the year ended December 31,
2016 compared to $1.58 per share, diluted, for the same period in 2015.
o
o

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2015 includes a $6.7 million gain, net of
tax, resulting from the deconsolidation of a subsidiary and corresponding joint venture
transaction. See discussion on Gain on Sale of Subsidiary to Joint Venture.
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2015 includes a gain of $3.3 million, net of
tax, on the sale of the infrastructure associated with the administration of substantially all
of our individual life and annuity policies ceded. See discussion on Other Income.
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Consolidated investment yield (on an annualized basis) of 2.7% in 2016 compared to 2.8% in
2015; and



Book value of $25.53 per common share at December 31, 2016 compared to $18.73 at December
31, 2015.

The following is a summary of key performance information by segment:


The Medical Stop-Loss segment reported income before taxes of $16.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016. Income from the Medical Stop-loss segment in 2016 is principally due to
ceding commissions on coinsurance due to the sale of Risk Solutions and exit from the medical
stop-loss business. Premiums earned and amounts recorded for benefits, claims and reserves in
the Medical Stop-Loss segment during 2016 represent the activity of the remaining blocks of
medical stop-loss business in run-off. In 2015, the Medical Stop-Loss segment reported income
before taxes of $18.8 million.



The Company has renamed its “Fully Insured” segment “Specialty Health”. Specialty Health
more accurately reflects the niche nature of the products that IHC markets in this segment and
continues to expand into since its exit from the major medical market. The Specialty Health
segment reported $7.2 million of income before taxes for the year ended December 31, 2016
compared to $6.5 million for the comparable period in 2015. The increase was primarily the
result of increases from broader marketing of our short-term medical, scheduled benefit and gap
plans, and growth in the pet insurance line of business, partially offset by poor underwriting
results in our occupational accident business.
o

Underwriting experience, as indicated by its U.S. GAAP Combined Ratios, for the
Specialty Health segment are as follows for the years indicated (in thousands):
2016

Premiums Earned
Insurance Benefits, Claims & Reserves
Expenses

$

Loss Ratio
Expense Ratio
Combined Ratio
(A)
(B)
(C)

o

154,397 $
81,215
68,891
52.6%
44.6%
97.2%

2015
171,912 $
93,916
71,641
54.6%
41.7%
96.3%

2014
218,949
146,431
75,929
66.9%
34.7%
101.6%

Loss ratio represents insurance benefits claims and reserves divided by premiums
earned.
Expense ratio represents net commissions, administrative fees, premium taxes and
other underwriting expenses divided by premiums earned.
The combined ratio is equal to the sum of the loss ratio and the expenses ratio.

Although the loss ratio for the year ended December 31, 2016 was slightly lower than the
same period in 2015, the loss ratio would have been significantly lower (48.0%)
excluding the occupational accident line of business. Poor performance of the business
underwritten by its occupational accident agency led to the Company’s decision to sell
such company and exit business produced by it. Expense ratios are higher for the year
ended December 31, 2016 because of a change in the mix of business from major medical
to specialty health products and a reallocation of certain fixed costs from the medical stop
loss line to the specialty health segment.
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Income before taxes from the Group disability, life and DBL segment increased $2.1 million in
2016 compared to prior year results. The overall increase is primarily due to increased volume;



Loss before income taxes from the Individual life, annuities and other segment increased $2.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to the ceding of substantially all of
the life and annuity blocks in the third quarter of 2015. Current year activity primarily consists of
the amortization of the related reinsurance costs whereas prior year activity includes a $5.1
million pre-tax gain recorded in connection with the sale of the infrastructure associated with the
administration of the individual life and annuity policies ceded in 2015;



Loss before tax from the Corporate segment for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased
$0.6 million over the same period in 2015 primarily due to compensation costs and increased
audit and consulting fees; and



Premiums by principal product for the years indicated are as follows (in thousands):
Gross Direct and Assumed
Earned Premiums:

2016

Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability; life and DBL
Individual life, annuities and other

2015

$

264,101
163,810
123,245
30,285

$

302,709
186,716
116,500
23,552

$

240,865
241,486
107,049
26,186

$

581,441

$

629,477

$

615,586

Net Premiums Earned:

2016

Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability; life and DBL
Individual life, annuities and other

2014

2015

2014

$

12,070
154,397
96,190
47

$

209,765
171,912
85,953
11,904

$

176,941
218,949
64,260
18,898

$

262,704

$

479,534

$

479,048

Information pertaining to the Company's business segments is provided in Note 18 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to U.S. GAAP. The preparation
of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company's
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. A summary of the
Company's significant accounting policies and practices is provided in Note 1 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report. Management has identified the
accounting policies described below as those that, due to the judgments, estimates and assumptions
inherent in those policies, are critical to an understanding of the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements and this Management's Discussion and Analysis.
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Insurance Premium Revenue Recognition and Policy Charges
Premiums for short-duration medical insurance contracts are intended to cover expected claim
costs resulting from insured events that occur during a fixed period of short duration. The Company has
the ability to not renew the contract or to revise the premium rates at the end of each annual contract
period to cover future insured events. Insurance premiums from annual health contracts are collected
monthly and are recognized as revenue evenly as insurance protection is provided.
Premiums related to long-term and short-term disability contracts are recognized on a pro rata
basis over the applicable contract term.
Traditional life insurance products consist principally of products with fixed and guaranteed
premiums and benefits, primarily term and whole life insurance products. Premiums from these products
are recognized as revenue when due.
Annuities and interest-sensitive life contracts, such as universal life and interest-sensitive whole
life, are contracts whose terms are not fixed and guaranteed. Premiums from these policies are reported as
funds on deposit. Policy charges consist of fees assessed against the policyholder for cost of insurance
(mortality risk), policy administration and early surrender. These revenues are recognized when assessed
against the policyholder account balance.
Policies that do not subject the Company to significant risk arising from mortality or morbidity
are considered investment contracts. Deposits received from such contracts are reported as other
policyholder funds. Policy charges for investment contracts consist of fees assessed against the
policyholder account for maintenance, administration and surrender of the policy prior to contractually
specified dates, and are recognized when assessed against the policyholder account balance.
Insurance Liabilities
Policy Benefits and Claims
The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses, where material, (including legal, other fees, and costs not associated with specific
claims but related to the claims payment function) for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the
end of each accounting period. These loss reserves are based on actuarial assumptions and are maintained
at levels that are in accordance with U.S. GAAP accounting principles. Many factors could affect these
reserves, including economic and social conditions, frequency and severity of claims, medical trend
resulting from the influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical
services, and changes in doctrines of legal liability and damage awards in litigation. Therefore, the
Company’s reserves are necessarily based on estimates, assumptions and analysis of historical experience.
The Company’s results depend upon the variation between actual claims experience and the assumptions
used in determining reserves and pricing products. Reserve assumptions and estimates require significant
judgment and, therefore, are inherently uncertain. The Company cannot determine with precision the
ultimate amounts that will be paid for actual claims or the timing of those payments. The Company's
estimate of loss represents management's best estimate of the Company's liability at the balance sheet
date.
Loss reserves differ for short-duration and long-duration insurance policies, including annuities.
Reserves are based on approved actuarial methods, but necessarily include assumptions about expenses,
mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and future yield on related investments.
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All of the Company’s short-duration contracts are generated from its accident, health, term life,
disability and pet insurance business, and are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of
loss inherent in that period’s claims, including losses incurred for which claims have not been reported.
Short-duration contract loss estimates rely on actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for
similar historical events.
The Company believes that its liability for policy benefits and claims is reasonable and adequate
to satisfy its ultimate liability. The Company primarily uses its own loss development experience, but
will also supplement that with data from its outside actuaries, reinsurers and industry loss experience as
warranted. To illustrate the impact that Loss Ratios have on the Company’s loss reserves and related
expenses, each hypothetical 1% change in the Loss Ratio for the health business (i.e., the ratio of
insurance benefits, claims and settlement expenses to earned health premiums) for the year ended
December 31, 2016, would increase reserves (in the case of a higher ratio) or decrease reserves (in the
case of a lower ratio) by approximately $2.5 million with a corresponding increase or decrease in the pretax expense for insurance benefits, claims and reserves in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Depending on the circumstances surrounding a change in the Loss Ratio, other pre-tax amounts reported
in the Consolidated Statement of Income could also be affected, such as amortization of deferred
acquisition costs and commission expense.
The liability for policy benefits and claims by segment is as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2016
Policy
Claims

Policy
Benefits
Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group Disability
Individual Accident and Health
and Other

$

$

54,760
50,237
83,017
6,391
194,405

$

$

$

$

100,088
41,477
85,416
5,694
232,675

3,297
24,708

$

$

December 31, 2015
Policy
Claims

Policy
Benefits
Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group Disability
Individual Accident and Health
and Other

21,411

Policy Benefits
and Claims

$

$

12,570
198
12,768

54,760
50,237
104,428
9,688
219,113

Policy Benefits
and Claims
$

$

100,088
41,477
97,986
5,892
245,443

Specialty Health
For the Specialty Health business, incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims liabilities plus
expected development on reported claims are calculated using standard actuarial methods and
practices. The “primary” assumption in the determination of Specialty Health reserves is that historical
Claim Development Patterns are representative of future Claim Development Patterns. Factors that may
affect this assumption include changes in claim payment processing times and procedures, changes in
time delay in submission of claims, and the incidence of unusually large claims. Liabilities for policy
benefits and claims for specialty health medical and disability coverage are computed using completion
factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical premium and claim data. The
reserving analysis includes a review of claim processing statistical measures and large claim early
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notifications; the potential impacts of any changes in these factors are not material. The Company has
business that is serviced by third-party administrators. From time to time, there are changes in the timing
of claims processing due to any number of factors including, but not limited to, system conversions and
staffing changes during the year. These changes are monitored by the Company and the effects of these
changes are taken into consideration during the claim reserving process. Other than these considerations,
there have been no significant changes to methodologies and assumptions from the prior year.
While these calculations are based on standard methodologies, they are estimates based on
historical patterns. To the extent that actual claim payment patterns differ from historical patterns, such
estimated reserves may be redundant or inadequate. The effects of such deviations are evaluated by
considering claim backlog statistics and reviewing the reasonableness of projected claim ratios. Other
factors which may affect the accuracy of policy benefits and claim estimates include the proportion of
large claims which may take longer to adjudicate, changes in billing patterns by providers and changes in
claim management practices such as hospital bill audits.
Since our analysis considered a variety of outcomes related to these factors, the Company does
not believe that any reasonably likely change in these factors will have a Material Effect.
Disability
The Company’s disability business is comprised of group disability and DBL. The two
“primary” assumptions on which disability policy benefits and claims are based are: (i) morbidity levels;
and (ii) recovery rates. If morbidity levels increase, for example due to an epidemic or a recessionary
environment, the Company would increase reserves because there would be more new claims than
expected. In regard to the assumed recovery rate, if disabled lives recover more quickly than anticipated
then the existing claims reserves would be reduced; if less quickly, the existing claims reserves would be
increased. Advancements in medical treatments could affect future recovery, termination, and mortality
rates.
With respect to DBL, the liability for policy benefits and claims for the most recent quarter of
earned premium is established using a Net Loss Ratio methodology. The Net Loss Ratio is determined by
applying the completed prior four quarters of historical Net Loss Ratios to the last quarter of earned
premium. Policy benefits and claims associated with the premium earned prior to the last quarter are
established using a completion factor methodology. The completion factors are developed using the
historical payment patterns for DBL.
With respect to group disability, other assumptions are: (i) changes in market interest rates; (ii)
changes in offsets; (iii) advancements in medical treatments; and (iv) cost of living. Changes in market
interest rates could change reserve assumptions since the payout period could be as long as 40 years.
Changes in offsets such as Social Security benefits, retirement plans and state disability plans also impact
reserving. As a result of the forgoing assumptions, it is possible that the historical trend may not be an
accurate predictor of the future development of the block. As with most long term insurance reserves that
require judgment, the reserving process is subject to uncertainty and volatility and fluctuations may not be
indicative of the claim development overall.
While the Company believes that larger variations are possible, the Company does not believe
that reasonably likely changes in its “primary” assumptions would have a Material Effect.
Medical Stop-Loss
On March 31, 2016, the Company sold Risk Solutions, an MGU that was its principal source of
medical stop-loss business. All of the in-force medical stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and
Independence American produced by Risk Solutions was 100% co-insured as of January 1, 2016 and
IHC’s block of medical stop-loss business is in run-off.
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Liabilities for policy benefits and claims on medical stop-loss coverage are computed using
completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical premium and claim data.
Policy benefits and claims for medical stop-loss insurance are more volatile in nature than those for
specialty health medical insurance. This is primarily due to the excess nature of medical stop-loss, with
very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a
given group. The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment
pattern of such claims. Furthermore, these excess claims are highly sensitive to changes in factors such as
medical trend, provider contracts and medical treatment protocols, adding to the difficulty in predicting
claim values and estimating reserves. Also, because medical stop-loss is in excess of an underlying
benefit plan, there is an additional layer of claim reporting and processing that can affect claim payment
patterns. Finally, changes in the distribution of business by effective month can affect reserve estimates
due to the timing of claim occurrences and the time required to accumulate claims against the stop-loss
deductible.
The two “primary” or “key” assumptions underlying the calculation of policy benefits and claims
for Medical Stop-Loss business are (i) projected Net Loss Ratio, and (ii) claim development patterns. The
projected Net Loss Ratio is set at expected levels consistent with the underlying assumptions (“Projected
Net Loss Ratio”). Claim development patterns are set quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are
based on recent claim development history (“Claim Development Patterns”). The Company uses the
Projected Net Loss Ratio to establish reserves until developing losses provide a better indication of
ultimate results and it is feasible to set reserves based on Claim Development Patterns. The Company has
concluded that a reasonably likely change in the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity (“Material
Effect”) but a reasonably likely change in the Claim Development Pattern would not have a Material
Effect.
Projected Net Loss Ratio
Generally, during the first twelve months of an underwriting year, policy benefits and claims for
Medical Stop-Loss are first set at the Projected Net Loss Ratio, which is set using assumptions developed
using completed prior experience trended forward. The Projected Net Loss Ratio is the Company’s best
estimate of future performance until such time as developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate
results.
Major factors that affect the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption in reserving for Medical StopLoss relate to: (i) frequency and severity of claims; (ii) changes in medical trend resulting from the
influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, the impact
of new medical technology and changes in medical treatment protocols; and (iii) the adherence to the
Company’s underwriting guidelines. Changes in these underlying factors are what determine the
reasonably likely changes in the Projected Net Loss Ratio as discussed above.
Claim Development Patterns
Subsequent to the first twelve months of an underwriting year, the Company’s developing losses
provide a better indication of ultimate losses. At this point, claims have developed to a level where Claim
Development Patterns can be applied to generate reasonably reliable estimates of ultimate claim levels.
Development factors based on historical patterns are applied to paid and reported claims to estimate fully
developed claims. Claim Development Patterns are reviewed quarterly as reserve estimates are developed
and are based on recent claim development history. The Company must determine whether changes in
development represent true indications of emerging experience or are simply due to random claim
fluctuations.
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The Company also establishes its best estimates of claim development factors to be applied to
more developed treaty year experience. While these factors are based on historical Claim Development
Patterns, actual claim development may vary from these estimates. The Company does not believe that
reasonably likely changes in its actual claim development patterns would have a Material Effect.
Predicting ultimate claims and estimating reserves in Medical Stop-Loss is more complex than
specialty health medical and disability business due to the “excess of loss” nature of these products with
very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a
given group. The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment
pattern of such claims. Fluctuations in results for specific coverage are primarily due to the severity and
frequency of individual claims, whereas fluctuations in aggregate coverage are largely attributable to
frequency of underlying claims rather than severity. Liabilities for first dollar medical reserves and
disability coverages are computed using completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from
actual historical premium and claim data.
Due to the short-term nature of Medical Stop-Loss, redundancies or deficiencies will typically
emerge during the course of the following year rather than over a number of years. For Medical StopLoss, as noted above, the Company maintains its reserves based on underlying assumptions until it
determines that an adjustment is appropriate based on emerging experience from all of its prior
underwriting years.
Individual Accident and Health and Other
This segment is a combination of closed lines of business as well as certain small existing lines.
While the assumptions used in setting reserves vary between these different lines of business, the
assumptions would generally relate to the following: (i) the rate of disability; (ii) the morbidity rates on
specific diseases; and (iii) accident rates. The reported reserves are based on management’s best estimate
for each line within this segment. General uncertainties that surround all insurance reserving
methodologies would apply. However, since the Company has so few policies of this type, volatility may
occur due to the small number of claims.
Management believes that the Company's methods of estimating the liabilities for policy benefits
and claims provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2016. Changes in the Company's
policy benefits and claims estimates are recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.
Future Policy Benefits
The liability for future policy benefits consists of the liabilities related to insured events for the
Company’s long-duration contracts, primarily its life and annuity products. For traditional life insurance
products, the Company computes the liability for future policy benefits primarily using the net premium
method based on anticipated investment yield, mortality, and withdrawals. These methods are widely
used in the life insurance industry to estimate the liabilities for insurance reserves. Inherent in these
calculations are management and actuarial judgments and estimates that could significantly impact the
ending reserve liabilities and, consequently, operating results. Actual results may differ, and these
estimates are subject to interpretation and change.
Management believes that the Company's methods of estimating the liabilities for future policy
benefits provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2016 and 2015. Changes in the
Company's future policy benefits estimates are recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.
Other Policyholders’ Funds
Other policyholders’ funds represent interest-bearing liabilities arising from the sales of products,
such as universal life, interest-sensitive life and annuities. Policyholder funds are primarily comprised of
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deposits received and interest credited to the benefit of the policyholder less surrenders and withdrawals,
mortality charges and administrative expenses.
Interest credited to policyholder funds represents interest accrued or paid on interest-sensitive life
policies and investment policies. These amounts are reported in insurance benefits, claims and reserves on
the Consolidated Statements of Income. Credit rates for certain annuities and interest-sensitive life
policies are adjusted periodically by the Company to reflect current market conditions, subject to
contractually guaranteed minimum rates.
Investments
The Company has classified all of its investments as either available-for-sale or trading securities.
These investments are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported through other
comprehensive income (loss) for available-for-sale securities or as unrealized gains or losses in the
Consolidated Statements of Income for trading securities. Available-for-sale securities totaled $454.8
million and $437.0 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Premiums and discounts on
debt securities purchased at other than par value are amortized and accreted, respectively, to interest
income in the Consolidated Statements of Income, using the constant yield method over the period to
maturity. Net realized gains and losses on investments are computed using the specific identification
method and are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income on the trade date.
Fair value is determined using quoted market prices when available. In some cases, we use
quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets and/or model-derived valuations where
inputs are observable in active markets. When there are limited or inactive trading markets, we use
industry-standard pricing methodologies, including discounted cash flow models, whose inputs are based
on management assumptions and available current market information. Further, we retain independent
pricing vendors to assist in valuing certain instruments. Most of the securities in our portfolio are
classified in either Level 1 or Level 2 of the Fair Value Hierarchy.
The Company periodically reviews and assesses the vendor’s qualifications and the design and
appropriateness of its pricing methodologies. Management will on occasion challenge pricing
information on certain individual securities and, through communications with the vendor, obtain
information about the assumptions, inputs and methodologies used in pricing those securities, and
corroborate it against documented pricing methodologies. Validation procedures are in place to determine
completeness and accuracy of pricing information, including, but not limited to: (i) review of exception
reports that (a) identify any zero or un-priced securities; (b) identify securities with no price change; and
(c) identify securities with significant price changes; (ii) performance of trend analyses; (iii) periodic
comparison of pricing to alternative pricing sources; and (iv) comparison of pricing changes to
expectations based on rating changes, benchmarks or control groups. In certain circumstances, pricing is
unavailable from the vendor and broker pricing information is used to determine fair value. In these
instances, management will assess the quality of the data sources, the underlying assumptions and the
reasonableness of the broker quotes based on the current market information available. To determine if an
exception represents an error, management will often have to exercise judgment. Procedures to resolve an
exception vary depending on the significance of the security and its related class, the frequency of the
exception, the risk of material misstatement, and the availability of information for the security. These
procedures include, but are not limited to: (i) a price challenge process with the vendor; (ii) pricing from a
different vendor; (iii) a reasonableness review; and (iv) a change in price based on better information,
such as an actual market trade, among other things. Management considers all facts and relevant
information obtained during the above procedures to determine the proper classification of each security
in the Fair Value Hierarchy.
Declines in value of securities available-for-sale that are judged to be other-than-temporary are
determined based on the specific identification method. The Company reviews its investment securities
regularly and determines whether other-than-temporary impairments have occurred. The factors
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considered by management in its regular review to identify and recognize other-than-temporary
impairment losses on fixed maturities include, but are not limited to: the length of time and extent to
which the fair value has been less than cost; the Company's intent to sell, or be required to sell, the debt
security before the anticipated recovery of its remaining amortized cost basis; the financial condition and
near-term prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in ratings announced by one or more rating agencies;
subordinated credit support; whether the issuer of a debt security has remained current on principal and
interest payments; current expected cash flows; whether the decline in fair value appears to be issuer
specific or, alternatively, a reflection of general market or industry conditions including the effect of
changes in market interest rates. If the Company intends to sell a debt security, or it is more likely than
not that it would be required to sell a debt security before the recovery of its amortized cost basis, the
entire difference between the security's amortized cost basis and its fair value at the balance sheet date
would be recognized by a charge to total other-than-temporary impairment losses in the Consolidated
Statement of Income. If a decline in fair value of a debt security is judged by management to be otherthan-temporary and; (i) the Company does not intend to sell the security; and (ii) it is not more likely than
not that it will be required to sell the security prior to recovery of the security’s amortized cost, the
Company assesses whether the present value of the cash flows to be collected from the security is less
than its amortized cost basis. To the extent that the present value of the cash flows generated by a debt
security is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists. For any such security, the impairment is
bifurcated into (a) the amount of the total impairment related to the credit loss, and (b) the amount of the
total impairment related to all other factors. The amount of the other-than-temporary impairment related
to the credit loss is recognized by a charge to total other-than-temporary impairment losses in the
Consolidated Statement of Income, establishing a new cost basis for the security. The amount of the
other-than-temporary impairment related to all other factors is recognized in other comprehensive income
(loss). It is reasonably possible that further declines in estimated fair values of such investments, or
changes in assumptions or estimates of anticipated recoveries and/or cash flows, may cause further otherthan-temporary impairments in the near term, which could be significant.
In assessing corporate debt securities for other-than-temporary impairment, the Company
evaluates the ability of the issuer to meet its debt obligations and the value of the company or specific
collateral securing the debt position. For mortgage-backed securities where loan level data is not
available, the Company uses a cash flow model based on the collateral characteristics. Assumptions about
loss severity and defaults used in the model are primarily based on actual losses experienced and defaults
in the collateral pool. Prepayment speeds, both actual and estimated, are also considered. The cash flows
generated by the collateral securing these securities are then determined with these default, loss severity
and prepayment assumptions. These collateral cash flows are then utilized, along with consideration for
the issue’s position in the overall structure, to determine the cash flows associated with the mortgagebacked security held by the Company. In addition, the Company evaluates other asset-backed securities
for other-than-temporary impairment by examining similar characteristics referenced above for mortgagebacked securities. The Company evaluates U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government
corporations, U.S. Government agencies, and obligations of states and political subdivisions for otherthan-temporary impairment by examining the terms and collateral of the security.
Equity securities may experience other-than-temporary impairment in the future based on the
prospects for full recovery in value in a reasonable period of time and the Company’s ability and intent to
hold the security to recovery. If a decline in fair value is judged by management to be other-thantemporary or management does not have the intent or ability to hold a security, a loss is recognized by a
charge to total other-than-temporary impairment losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income. For the
purpose of other-than-temporary impairment evaluations, redeemable preferred stocks are evaluated in a
manner similar to debt securities. Declines in the creditworthiness of the issuer of debt securities with
both debt and equity-like features are evaluated using the equity model in consideration of other-thantemporary impairment.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill carrying amounts are evaluated for impairment, at least annually, at the reporting unit
level that is equivalent to an operating segment. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, further evaluation is required to determine if a write-down of goodwill is required. In
determining the fair value of each reporting unit, we used an income approach, applying a discounted
cash flow method that included a residual value. Based on historical experience, we make assumptions as
to: (i) expected future performance and future economic conditions, (ii) projected operating earnings, (iii)
projected new and renewal business as well as profit margins on such business, and (iv) a discount rate
that incorporated an appropriate risk level for the reporting unit. Any impairment of goodwill would be
charged to expense.
At December 31, 2016, the Company’s market capitalization was less than its book value
indicating a potential impairment of goodwill. As a result, the Company assessed the factors contributing
to the performance of IHC stock in 2016, and concluded that the market capitalization does not represent
the fair value of the Company. The Company noted several factors that have led to a difference between
the market capitalization and the fair value of the Company , including (i) the Company’s stock is thinly
traded and a sale of even a small number of shares can have a large percentage impact on the price of the
stock, (ii) Geneve Corporation and insiders own approximately 58% of the outstanding shares, which has
had a significant adverse impact on the number of shares available for sale and therefore the trading
potential of IHC stock, and (iii) lack of analyst coverage of the Company. If we experience a sustained
decline in our results of operations and cash flows, or other indicators of impairment exist, we may incur
a material non-cash charge to earnings relating to impairment of our goodwill, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results. No impairment charge for goodwill was required in 2016, 2015 or
2014.
Other intangible assets are amortized to expense over their estimated useful lives and are subject
to impairment testing. Any impairment of other intangible assets would be charged to expense. No
impairment charges for intangible assets were required in 2016, 2015 or 2014.
Deferred Income Taxes
The provision for deferred income taxes is based on the asset and liability method of accounting
for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory
tax rates to temporary differences between amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recognized for the portion of deferred tax
assets that, in management's judgment, is not likely to be realized. A liability for uncertain tax positions
is recorded when it is more likely than not that a tax position will not be sustained upon examination by
taxing authorities. The effect on deferred income taxes of a change in tax rates or laws is recognized in
income tax expense in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company has certain taxplanning strategies that were used in determining that a valuation allowance was not necessary on its
deferred taxes.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2015
Information by business segment for the periods indicated is as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2016

Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability,
life and DBL
Individual life,
annuities and other
Corporate
Sub total

Net
Investment
Income

Premiums
Earned
$

$

12,070
154,397

$

1,700
3,272

Insurance
Benefits,
Claims
and
Reserves

Fee and
Other
Income
$

11,844
15,478

$

10,427
81,215

Selling,
General
and
Administrative
$

(1,546)
84,730

Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability,
life and DBL
Individual life,
annuities and other
Corporate
Sub total

$

16,733
7,202

6,469

876

52,245

33,386

17,904

47
262,704

2,255
2,874
16,570

454
51
28,703

1,344
145,231

3,952
11,652
132,174

(2,540)
(8,727)
30,572

$

$

$

$

209,765
171,912

$

Net
Investment
Income

Premiums
Earned
$

$

96,190

Net realized investment gains
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Interest expense on debt
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Income from continuing operations

December 31, 2015

Total

$

4,374
1,813

Insurance
Benefits,
Claims
and
Reserves

Fee and
Other
Income
$

12,187

$

153,919
93,916

Selling,
General
And
Administrative
$

41,392
85,506

4,502
(1,475)
(1,534)
32,065
9,555
22,510

Total
$

18,828
6,490

85,953

3,699

662

47,646

26,857

15,811

11,904
479,534

7,146
205
17,237

8,069
20,918

11,697
307,178

15,544
8,342
177,641

(122)
(8,137)
32,870

$

$

Gain on sale of subsidiary to joint venture
Net realized investment gains
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Interest expense on debt
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Income from continuing operations

$

$

$

9,940
3,094
(228)
(1,798)
43,878
15,904
27,974

Premiums Earned
In 2016, premiums earned decreased $216.8 million over the comparable period of 2015. The
decrease is primarily due to: (i) a decrease of $197.7 million in the Stop Loss segment as a result of the
sale of Risk Solutions and exit from the medical stop-loss business, further described in Note 3; (ii) a
decrease of $17.5 million in the Specialty Health segment principally as a result of a $26.8 million
decrease in premiums from exiting the Major Medical line, a $11.9 million decrease in the fixed
indemnity limited benefit line due to the cancellation of a distribution source, and a $1.4 million decrease
in international medical business premiums due to lower retention, partially offset by premium increases
in the short-term medical, pet and occupational accident lines of business of $17.7 million, $4.7 million
and $1.6 million, respectively, as a result of higher volume; and (iii) a decrease of $11.8 million in the
Individual life, annuities and other segment as a result of this business being in run-off; partially offset by
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(iv) a $10.2 million increase in earned premiums from the Group disability, life, annuities and DBL
segment primarily due to increased volume and retention in the LTD and group term life lines and
increased volume in DBL business.
Net Investment Income
Total net investment income decreased $0.7 million. The overall annualized investment yields for
the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were 2.7% and 2.8%, respectively. The overall decrease was
primarily the result of a decrease in investment income on bonds, equities and short-term investments due
to cash transferred out in the third quarter of 2015 in connection with a coinsurance and sale transaction,
partially offset by cash received in connection with the sale of Risk Solutions in the first quarter of 2016.
Additionally, income from partnerships was lower in 2016.
The annualized investment yields on bonds, equities and short-term investments were 2.9% and
2.8% for 2016 and 2015, respectively. IHC has approximately $168.7 million in highly rated shorter
duration securities earning on average 1.5%. A portfolio that is shorter in duration enables us, if we deem
prudent, the flexibility to reinvest in much higher yielding longer-term securities, which would
significantly increase investment income.
Gain on Sale of Subsidiary to Joint Venture
In the third quarter of 2015, the Company finalized a joint venture with Ebix, Inc. in which IHC
sold its wholly owned administrative subsidiary, IHC Health Solutions (now known as Ebix Health
Administration Exchange, Inc.), in exchange for a 60% ownership interest in Ebix Health Exchange and
$6.0 million in cash proceeds. The transaction resulted in a loss of control over the subsidiary (due to a
lack of the majority of the voting interest on the Board of Managers) and therefore the subsidiary was
deconsolidated from the Company’s financial statements. The Company recognized a net gain of $9.9
million, pre-tax, on the transaction (see Note 7). There was no comparable transaction in 2016.
Net Realized Investment Gains and Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings
The Company had net realized investment gains of $4.5 million in 2016 compared to $3.1 million
in 2015. These amounts include gains and losses from sales of fixed maturities and equity securities
available-for-sale and other investments. Decisions to sell securities are based on management's ongoing
evaluation of investment opportunities and economic and market conditions, thus creating fluctuations in
gains and losses from period to period.
The Company recognized $1.5 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses on certain
fixed maturities available-for-sale during 2016. The Company determined that it is more likely than not
that we will sell the securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis. In 2015, the Company
recognized $0.2 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses on equity securities available-for-sale
due to the length of time and extent an equity security was below cost.
Fee Income and Other Income
Fee income increased $5.8 million in 2016 compared to 2015 primarily due to increased fee
income from the Specialty Health segment partially offset by decreased fees due to the partial sale and
deconsolidation of a previously wholly owned third party administrator.
Other income increased $2.0 million. Other income in 2016 consists primarily of fees received in
connection with the ceding of the Medical Stop Loss business; whereas, 2015 includes a gain recorded in
connection with the ceding of individual life and annuity policies and sale of the related infrastructure.
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Insurance Benefits, Claims and Reserves
In 2016, insurance benefits, claims and reserves decreased $161.9 million over the comparable
period in 2015. The decrease is primarily attributable to: (i) a decrease of $143.5 million in the Medical
Stop Loss segment primarily as a result of the sale of Risk Solutions and exit from the medical stop-loss
business, further described in Note 3; (ii) a decrease of $12.7 million in the Specialty Health segment,
primarily due to a decrease of $23.8 million in benefits, claims and reserves related to the run-off of the
Major Medical business, a $3.5 million decrease due to lower volume in the fixed indemnity business,
and a $2.1 million decrease due to lower retention in the international line; partially offset by increases of
$5.4 million in claims in the occupational accident lines due to higher claim activity and increases of $9.3
million and $2.3 million in the short term medical and pet, respectively, due to the increase in volume of
both lines of business; and (iii) a decrease of $10.3 million in the Individual life, annuity and other
segment, primarily as a result of business in run-off; partially offset by (iv) an increase of $4.6 million in
benefits, claims and reserves in the group disability, life, annuities and DBL segment, primarily due to
increased retention and higher loss ratios on LTD lines.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Total selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $45.5 million over the comparable
period in 2015. The decrease is primarily attributable to: (i) a decrease of $42.9 million in the Medical
Stop Loss segment primarily as a result of the sale of Risk Solutions and exit from the medical stop-loss
business, further described in Note 3, (ii) a decrease of $0.8 million in the Specialty Health segment
primarily due to decreased expenses from the run-off of Major Medical and lower volume of fixed
indemnity business, partially offset by an increase in expenses due to increased volume in the short term
medical line; and (iii) a decrease of $11.6 million in the Individual life, annuity and other segment largely
due to a decrease in amortization of deferred acquisition costs as a result of ceding life and annuity
policies in 2015 and lower general expenses from business in run-off; partially offset by (iv) an increase
of $6.5 million in the group disability, life, annuities and DBL segment primarily due to increased
commission and other expenses in the LTD line as a result of volume; and (v) an increase of $3.3 million
in Corporate principally from increased compensation costs in addition to higher audit and consulting fees
in 2016.
Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 29.8% in 2016 compared to 36.2% for the same period in 2015. The
lower effective tax rate is primarily due to the liquidation of a subsidiary in 2016 that resulted in tax
benefits of approximately $3.9 million recognized for IHC’s unrecovered investment in that subsidiary.
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Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2014
Information by business segment for the periods indicated is as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2015

Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability,
life and DBL
Individual life,
annuities and other
Corporate
Sub total

Net
Investment
Income

Premiums
Earned
$

$

209,765
171,912

$

4,374
1,813

Insurance
Benefits,
Claims
and
Reserves

Fee and
Other
Income
$

12,187

$

153,919
93,916

Selling,
General
And
Administrative
$

41,392
85,506

Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability,
life and DBL
Individual life,
annuities and other
Corporate
Sub total

$

18,828
6,490

3,699

662

47,646

26,857

15,811

11,904
479,534

7,146
205
17,237

8,069
20,918

11,697
307,178

15,544
8,342
177,641

(122)
(8,137)
32,870

$

$

$

$

176,941
218,949

$

Net
Investment
Income

Premiums
Earned
$

$

85,953

Gain on sale of subsidiary to joint venture
Net realized investment gains
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Interest expense on debt
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Income from continuing operations

December 31, 2014

Total

$

4,249
2,202

Insurance
Benefits,
Claims
and
Reserves

Fee and
Other
Income
$

17,950

$

122,469
146,431

Selling,
General
And
Administrative
$

38,971
94,657

9,940
3,094
(228)
(1,798)
43,878
15,904
27,974

Total
$

19,750
(1,987)

64,260

3,156

225

37,537

17,936

12,168

18,898
479,048

11,830
177
21,614

3,823
21,998

19,598
326,035

21,571
8,252
181,387

(6,618)
(8,075)
15,238

$

$

Net realized investment gains
Interest expense on debt
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes
Income from continuing operations

$

$

$

7,688
(1,797)
21,129
6,108
15,021

Premiums Earned
In 2015, premiums earned increased $0.5 million over the comparable period of 2014. The
increase is primarily due to: (i) a $32.8 million increase in earned premiums from the Medical Stop-Loss
segment as a result of higher volume; (ii) a $21.7 million increase in the Group disability, life and DBL
segment primarily due to increased volume and retentions in the group term life and LTD lines; partially
offset by (iii) a decrease of $47.0 million in the Specialty Health segment as a result of a $58.4 million
decrease in premiums from exiting Major Medical, partially offset by premium increases in the ancillary
lines (primarily short-term medical), fixed indemnity limited benefit products, pet, and occupational
accident lines of business as a result of higher volume; and (iv) a decrease of $7.0 million in the
Individual life, annuities and other segment primarily as a result of a reinsurance transaction in the third
quarter of 2015 whereby the Company ceded substantially all of its ordinary life and annuity business.
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Net Investment Income
Total net investment income decreased $4.4 million. The overall annualized investment yields
were 2.8% and 3.3% in 2015 and 2014, respectively. The overall decrease was primarily a result of a
decrease in investment income on bonds, equities and short-term investments as the Company transferred
approximately $208.0 million of cash to an unaffiliated reinsurer in connection with a coinsurance and
sale transaction on July 31, 2015 (see Note 8). The annualized investment yields on bonds, equities and
short-term investments were 2.8% and 3.2% in 2015 and 2014, respectively. In addition, there were
decreases in income from partnerships and policy loans for the year ended December 31, 2015. IHC has
approximately $150.9 million in highly rated shorter duration securities earning on average 1.2% at
December 31, 2015. A portfolio that is shorter in duration enables us, if we deem prudent, the flexibility
to reinvest in much higher yielding longer-term securities, which would significantly increase investment
income.
Gain on Sale of Subsidiary to Joint Venture
In the third quarter of 2015, the Company finalized a joint venture with Ebix, Inc. in which IHC
sold its wholly owned administrative subsidiary, IHC Health Solutions (now known as Ebix Health
Administration Exchange, Inc.), in exchange for a 60% ownership interest in Ebix Health Exchange and
$6.0 million in cash proceeds. The transaction resulted in a loss of control over the subsidiary (due to a
lack of the majority of the voting interest on the Board of Managers) and therefore the subsidiary was
deconsolidated from the Company’s financial statements. The Company recognized a net gain of $9.9
million, pre-tax, on the transaction (see Note 7).
Net Realized Investment Gains and Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings
The Company had net realized investment gains of $3.1 million in 2015 compared to $7.7 million
in 2014. These amounts include gains and losses from sales of fixed maturities and equity securities
available-for-sale and other investments. Decisions to sell securities are based on management's ongoing
evaluation of investment opportunities and economic and market conditions, thus creating fluctuations in
gains and losses from period to period.
The Company recognized $0.2 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses on equity
securities available-for-sale during 2015 due to the length of time and extent an equity security was below
cost.
Fee Income and Other Income
Fee income decreased $6.5 million in 2015 compared to 2014 primarily as a result of decreased
Major Medical volume in the Specialty Health segment.
Other income increased in 2015 primarily as a result of a $5.1 million pre-tax gain recorded in
connection with a coinsurance and sale agreement. In the third quarter of 2015, Madison National Life
and Standard Security Life together entered into the aforementioned coinsurance and sale agreement to
cede substantially all of their individual life and annuity policy blocks and sell the related infrastructure
associated with the administration of such policies (see Note 9). In addition, the Company recorded a $0.5
million gain in 2015 on the acquisition of a controlling interest in GAF (see Note 7) and a gain of $0.7
million in 2015 on the sale of Innovative Medical Risk Management (see Note 7).
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Insurance Benefits, Claims and Reserves
In 2015, insurance benefits, claims and reserves decreased $18.8 million over the comparable
period in 2014. The decrease is primarily attributable to: (i) a decrease of $52.5 million in the Specialty
Health segment, primarily due to lower loss ratios in 2015 and a decrease of $48.4 million in benefits,
claims and reserves related to the run-off of the Major Medical; offset in part by increases in the volume
of ancillary products, pet and occupational accident lines of business; (ii) a decrease of $7.9 million in the
Individual life, annuities and other segment primarily as a result of a reinsurance transaction in the third
quarter of 2015 whereby the Company ceded substantially all of its ordinary life and annuity business;
partially offset by (iii) an increase of $31.5 million in benefits, claims and reserves in the Medical StopLoss segment as a result of an increase in premium volume and higher loss ratios; and (iv) an increase of
$10.1 million in the group disability, life and DBL segment, primarily due to increased volume and
retention in the group term life and LTD lines partially offset by lower loss ratios.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Total selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $3.7 million over the comparable
period in 2014. The decrease is primarily attributable to: (i) a decrease of $9.1 million in the Specialty
Health segment largely due to the run-off of the Major Medical and the deconsolidation of IHC Health
Solutions, partially offset by increases in general expenses as a result of the higher volume of ancillary,
pet and occupational accident business, which tends to have a higher expense structure than major
medical; and (ii) a decrease of $6.0 million in Individual life, annuity and other segment primarily due to
lower amortization of deferred costs in correlation with the assumptions of certain ceded life and annuity
policies; partially offset by; (iii) an increase of $2.4 million in the Medical Stop-Loss segment primarily
as a result of higher commission expenses; (iv) an increase of $9.0 million in the group disability, life and
DBL segment primarily due to increased commission expense in the group term life and LTD lines as a
result of new business and changes in retention levels.
Income Taxes
The effective tax rate for 2015 was 36.2%. In 2014, the Company recorded a $2.5 million credit
to federal income taxes as a result of the reduction in AMIC’s valuation allowance related to its deferred
tax asset at December 31, 2014. Excluding this transaction, the effective tax rate for 2014 was 40.7%.
The lower effective tax rate in 2015 was primarily due to: (i) a decrease in the amount of non-deductible
expenses as a result of the Affordable Care Act as a percentage of income in 2015 compared to 2014; and
(ii) a decrease in state taxes as a percentage of income in 2015; partially offset by (iii) a decrease in
benefits from tax-advantaged securities as a percentage of income in 2015.

LIQUIDITY
Insurance Group
The Insurance Group normally provides cash flow from: (i) operations; (ii) the receipt of
scheduled principal payments on its portfolio of fixed maturities; and (iii) earnings on investments. Such
cash flow is partially used to fund liabilities for insurance policy benefits. These liabilities represent longterm and short-term obligations.
Corporate
Corporate derives its funds principally from: (i) dividends from the Insurance Group; (ii)
management fees from its subsidiaries; and (iii) investment income from Corporate liquidity. Regulatory
constraints historically have not affected the Company's consolidated liquidity, although state insurance
laws have provisions relating to the ability of the parent company to use cash generated by the Insurance
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Group. The Insurance Group declared and paid $18.4 million, $10.6 million and $10.0 million of cash
dividends to Corporate in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Corporate utilizes cash primarily for the payment of general overhead expenses, common stock
dividends, and common stock repurchases.
Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents, including discontinued operations, as of December 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015 was $22.0 million and $19.2 million, respectively.
For year ended December 31, 2016, operating activities of the Company utilized $31.0 million of
cash, $98.9 million was provided by investment activities and $65.0 million of cash was utilized for
financing activities. The increase in cash from investing is primarily related to the proceeds from the sale
of Risk Solutions net of amounts subsequently invested in short-term and available-for-sale securities.
Financing activities include $18.1 million for the acquisition of AMIC shares in connection with taking
AMIC private, $42.9 million utilized for the repayment of debt, $1.6 million for the payment of dividends
and $3.5 million for treasury share purchases.
The Company has $438.6 million of liabilities for future policy benefits and policy benefits and
claims that it expects to ultimately pay out of current assets and cash flows from future business and from
reinsurance. If the timing of claim payments associated with the Company’s insurance resources does not
coincide with future cash flows, the Company could utilize the cash received from maturities and
repayments of its fixed maturity investments. For the year ended December 31, 2016, cash received from
the maturities and other repayments of fixed maturities was $47.3 million.
The Company believes it has sufficient cash to meet its currently anticipated business
requirements over the next twelve months including working capital requirements and capital
investments.
BALANCE SHEET
The Company had receivables from reinsurers of $440.3 million at December 31, 2016 compared
to $483.1 million at December 31, 2015. All of such reinsurance receivables are from highly rated
companies or are adequately secured. No allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary at December 31,
2016.
Investments increased primarily as a result of the proceeds from the Risk Solutions Sale and
Coinsurance Transaction.
The Company repaid $42.9 million of debt during 2016.
The $113.2 million increase in IHC’s stockholders' equity in 2016 is primarily due to the $123.3
million of net income attributable to IHC, partially offset by $3.6 million of other comprehensive loss
attributable to IHC, $3.5 million of treasury stock purchases, a $2.2 million decrease related to the
purchase of AMIC shares from noncontrolling interests and $1.8 million of common stock dividends.
Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries decreased primarily as a result of taking AMIC private in 2016.
Asset Quality and Investment Impairments
The nature and quality of insurance company investments must comply with all applicable
statutes and regulations, which have been promulgated primarily for the protection of policyholders.
Although the Company's gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities totaled $12.3 million at
December 31, 2016, more than 99.9% of the Company’s fixed maturities were investment grade and
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continue to be rated on average AA. The Company marks all of its available-for-sale securities to fair
value through accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. These investments tend to carry less
default risk and, therefore, lower interest rates than other types of fixed maturity investments. At
December 31, 2016, less than 0.1% (or $0.1 million) of the carrying value of fixed maturities was
invested in non-investment grade fixed maturities (a commercial mortgage obligation). Investments in
such securities have different risks than investment grade securities, including greater risk of loss upon
default, and thinner trading markets. The Company does not have any non-performing fixed maturity
investments at December 31, 2016.
Certain fixed maturities, primarily municipal obligations, in our investment portfolio are insured
by financial guaranty insurance companies. The insurance, however, does not enhance the credit ratings
on these securities. The following table summarizes the credit quality of our fixed maturity portfolio, as
rated, at December 31, 2016:

Bond Ratings

As Rated

AAA
AA
A
BBB

15.3%
55.7%
28.4%
0.6%

Total Investment Grade

100.0%

Changes in interest rates, credit spreads, and investment quality ratings may cause the market
value of the Company’s investments to fluctuate. The Company does not have the intent to sell nor is it
more likely than not that the Company will have to sell debt securities in unrealized loss positions that are
not other-than-temporarily impaired before recovery. In the event that the Company’s liquidity needs
require the sale of fixed maturity securities in unfavorable interest rate, liquidity or credit spread
environments, the Company may realize investment losses.
The Company reviews its investments regularly and monitors its investments continually for
impairments, as discussed in Note 1(G) (iv) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8
of this report. The Company recognized $1.5 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses on
certain fixed maturities available-for-sale during 2016. The Company determined that it is more likely
than not that we will sell the securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis. The Company
recorded $0.2 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses on equity securities available-for-sale
during 2015 due to the length of time and extent an equity security was below cost. At December 31,
2016, there were no securities with fair values less than 80% of their amortized cost.
The unrealized losses on all available-for-sale securities have been evaluated in accordance with
the Company's impairment policy and were determined to be temporary in nature at December 31, 2016.
From time to time, as warranted, the Company may employ investment strategies to mitigate interest rate
and other market exposures. Further deterioration in credit quality of the companies backing the
securities, further deterioration in the condition of the financial services industry, a continuation of the
current imbalances in liquidity that exist in the marketplace, a continuation or worsening of the current
economic recession, or additional declines in real estate values may further affect the fair value of these
securities and increase the potential that certain unrealized losses be designated as other-than-temporary
in future periods and the Company may incur additional write-downs.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the amount we paid to acquire subsidiaries and other businesses
over the fair value of their net assets at the date of acquisition. The Company tests goodwill for
impairment at least annually and between annual tests if an event or circumstances change that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. Goodwill is
considered impaired when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value.
All goodwill carrying amounts are evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level which is
equivalent to an operating segment. Goodwill was allocated to each reporting unit or operating segment at
the time of acquisition. At December 31, 2016, total goodwill was $41.6 million, all of which was
attributable to the Specialty Health segment.
Based upon the goodwill impairment testing performed at December 31, 2016, the fair value of
each reporting unit exceeded its carrying value and no impairment charge was required. Fair value
exceeded carrying value by more than 10% in the Specialty Health segment.
In determining the fair value of each reporting unit, we used an income approach, applying a
discounted cash flow method that included a residual value. Based on historical experience, we made
assumptions as to: (i) expected future performance and future economic conditions, (ii) projected
operating earnings, (iii) projected new and renewal business as well as profit margins on such business,
and (iv) a discount rate that incorporated an appropriate risk level for the reporting unit.
Management uses a significant amount of judgment in estimating the fair value of the Company’s
reporting units. The key assumptions underlying the fair value process are subject to uncertainty and
change. The following represent some of the potential risks that could impact these assumptions and the
related expected future cash flows: (i) increased competition; (ii) an adverse change in the insurance
industry and overall business climate; (iii) changes in state and federal regulations; (iv) rating agency
downgrades of our insurance companies; and (v) a sustained and significant decrease in our share price
and market capitalization. Our market capitalization as of December 31, 2016 was below the sum of our
reporting units’ fair values. As a result, the Company assessed the factors contributing to the performance
of IHC stock in 2016, and concluded that the market capitalization does not represent the fair value of the
Company. The Company noted several factors that have led to a difference between the market
capitalization and the fair value of the Company, including (i) the Company’s stock is thinly traded and a
sale of even a small number of shares can have a large percentage impact on the price of the stock, (ii)
Geneve Corporation and insiders own approximately 58% of the outstanding shares, which has had a
significant adverse impact on the number of shares available for sale and therefore the trading potential of
IHC stock, and (iii) lack of analyst coverage of the Company. If we experience a sustained decline in our
results of operations and cash flows, or other indicators of impairment exist, we may incur a material noncash charge to earnings relating to impairment of our goodwill, which could have a material adverse
effect on our results.
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Liability for Policy Benefits and Claims
The following table summarizes the prior year net favorable amount of policy benefits and claims
incurred in 2016 according to the year in which it relates, together with the opening balances of the
corresponding liability for policy benefits and claims (net of reinsurance recoverable) (in thousands):
Policy Benefits and Claims
at January 1, 2016
2015
2014
2013
2012 and Prior
Total

Prior Year Amount
Incurred in 2016

$

126,447
15,212
14,562
23,860

$

(9,517)
3,446
1,267
(692)

$

180,081

$

(5,496)

The following sections describe, for each segment, the unfavorable (favorable) development in
the liability for policy benefits and claims experienced in 2016, together with the key assumptions and
changes therein affecting the reserve estimates.
Specialty Health
The Specialty Health segment had a net favorable development of $1.4 million related to prior
years. Favorable development due to the run-off of the Major Medical business was $4.6 million and $1.0
million was due to the STM line; partially offset by unfavorable development of $4.5 million in our
occupational accident business. The Company has since sold the principal agency that produced this
occupational accident business and exited this line.
Group Disability
The Group Disability segment had a net favorable development of $2.7 million primarily related
to benefits and claims experience related to the 2015 group disability business.
Due to the long-term nature of LTD, in establishing the liability for policy benefits and claims,
the Company must make estimates for case reserves, IBNR, and reserves for Loss Adjustment Expenses
(“LAE”). Case reserves generally equal the actuarial present value of the liability for future benefits to be
paid on claims incurred as of the balance sheet date. The IBNR reserve is established based upon
historical trends of existing incurred claims that were reported after the balance sheet date. The LAE
reserve is calculated based on an actuarial expense study. Since the LTD block of policies is relatively
small, with the potential for very large claims on individual policies, results can vary from year to year. If
a small number of claimants with large claim reserves were to recover or several very large claims were
incurred, the results could distort the Company’s policy benefits and claims estimates from year to year.
With respect to DBL, the liability for policy benefits and claims for the most recent quarter of earned
premium is established using a Net Loss Ratio methodology. The Net Loss Ratio is determined by
applying the completed prior four quarters of historical Net Loss Ratios to the last quarter of earned
premium. Policy benefits and claims associated with the premium earned prior to the last quarter are
established using a completion factor methodology. The completion factors are developed using the
historical payment patterns for DBL.
Medical Stop-Loss
The Company experienced a net unfavorable development of $0.3 million related to the Medical
Stop-Loss segment. Our Medical Stop-Loss business is currently in run-off.
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Individual Life, Annuities and Other
All other lines, primarily life and other individual health products, experienced favorable
development of $1.7 million primarily due to a change in reserve factors and release of IBNR reserves.

CAPITAL RESOURCES
Due to its strong capital ratios, broad licensing and excellent asset quality and credit-worthiness,
the Insurance Group remains well positioned to increase or diversify its current activities. It is anticipated
that future acquisitions or other expansion of operations will be funded internally from existing capital
and surplus and parent company liquidity. In the event additional funds are required, it is expected that
they would be borrowed or raised in the public or private capital markets to the extent determined to be
necessary or desirable. In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company redeemed all $38.1 million of its junior
subordinated debt securities and as a result the Company has no long-term debt at December 31, 2016.
See Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this report.
IHC enters into a variety of contractual obligations with third parties in the ordinary course of its
operations, including liabilities for insurance reserves, funds on deposit, debt and operating lease
obligations. However, IHC does not believe that its cash flow requirements can be fully assessed based
solely upon an analysis of these obligations. Future cash outflows, whether they are contractual
obligations or not, also will vary based upon IHC’s future needs. Although some outflows are fixed,
others depend on future events.
The chart below reflects the maturity distribution of IHC’s contractual obligations at December
31, 2016 (in thousands):
Insurance
Policy
Benefits

Leases
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021 and
Thereafter

$

Totals

$

2,168
1,939
957
739
372

$

154,385
37,266
29,737
26,512
24,673

63
6,238

Funds
on
Deposit
$

141,282
$

413,855
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14,962
14,463
13,897
13,469
12,849

Total
$

76,109
$

145,749

171,515
53,668
44,591
40,720
37,894
217,454

$

565,842

OUTLOOK
For 2017, the Company anticipates that it will:


Continue to experience an overall decrease in premiums and earnings due to exiting the medical
stop-loss business as a result of the Risk Solutions Sale and Coinsurance Transaction.



Continue to show significant increases in specialty health premiums (including hospital
indemnity, group limited medical and group gap and other supplemental health products, such as
dental, accident medical, gap and critical illness products), although we may see a decrease in
short term medical as a result of a regulation expected to take effect April 1, 2017.



Continue to increase IHC’s emphasis on lead generation for its direct-to-consumer and career
advisor distribution initiatives, as well as experiencing the accompanying start-up costs of
expanding our controlled sales through our call center, career model and transactional websites as
a result of the acquisition of PetPlace.com, IHC’s ownership of HealtheDeals.com, and
AspiraAmas and its investment in HealthInsurance.org.



Expand sales of our specialty health products as a result of investments in two call center
agencies and a worksite marketing company.



Diversify the distribution and administration of our pet insurance as we bring on new
relationships in 2017, although there will be a reduction in premium as our current distributor has
added an additional carrier.



Experience continued increases in premiums from group long-term and short-term disability
driven by higher retention amounts and a full year of premiums generated by a relatively new
distribution partnership.



Continue to evaluate strategic transactions. We plan to continue to deploy some of our cash to
make additional investments and acquisitions that will continue to bolster existing or new lines of
business.



Continue to focus on administrative efficiencies, including reducing operating losses at Ebix
Health Exchange.

On March 31, 2016, IHC and a subsidiary of AMIC sold the stock of Risk Solutions. In addition,
under the purchase and sale agreement, all of the in-force stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and
Independence American produced by Risk Solutions was co-insured by Westport as of January 1, 2016.
The aggregate purchase price was $152.5 million in cash, subject to adjustments and settlements. This
transaction resulted in a gain of $100.8 million, net of taxes and amounts attributable to noncontrolling
interests. As a result, IHC is highly liquid and has excess capital; however its Medical Stop-Loss line of
business is in run-off, which will have a negative impact on future earnings.
Subject to making additional repurchases, acquisitions and investments, the Company will remain
highly liquid in 2017 as a result of the continuing shorter duration of the portfolio. IHC has approximately
$168.7 million in highly rated shorter maturity securities at December 31, 2016 earning on average 1.5%;
our portfolio as a whole is rated, on average, AA. The low duration of our portfolio enables us, if we
deem prudent, the flexibility to reinvest in much higher yielding longer-term securities, which would
significantly increase investment income in the future. A low duration portfolio such as ours also
mitigates the adverse impact of potential inflation. IHC will continue to monitor the financial markets
and invest accordingly.
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Our results depend on the adequacy of our product pricing, our underwriting, the accuracy of our
reserving methodology, returns on our invested assets, and our ability to manage expenses. We will also
need to be diligent with increased rate review scrutiny to effect timely rate changes and will need to stay
focused on the management of medical cost drivers as medical trend levels cause margin pressures.
Factors affecting these items, as well as unemployment and global financial markets, may have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK

The Company manages interest rate risk by seeking to maintain an investment portfolio with a
duration and average life that falls within the band of the duration and average life of the applicable
liabilities. Options may be utilized to modify the duration and average life of such assets.
The following summarizes the estimated pre-tax change in fair value (based upon hypothetical
parallel shifts in the U.S. Treasury yield curve) of the fixed income portfolio (excluding redeemable
preferred stocks) assuming immediate changes in interest rates at specified levels at December 31, 2016:
Change in Interest Rates
200 basis
point rise
Corporate securities

100 basis
point rise

Base
scenario

100 basis
point decline

200 basis
point decline

$

171,873
5,387
41,229
22
9,230
164,039
4,500

$

179,343
5,638
42,152
23
9,543
174,313
4,718

$

187,695
5,913
43,109
23
9,880
186,811
4,954

$

196,667
6,212
44,101
23
10,243
199,664
5,211

$

205,752
6,541
44,777
23
10,635
211,601
5,488

Total estimated fair value

$

396,280

$

415,730

$

438,385

$

462,121

$

484,817

Estimated change in value

$

(42,105)

$

(22,655)

$

23,736

$

46,432

CMO’s
U.S. Government obligations
Agency MBSs
GSEs
State & Political Subdivisions
Foreign governments

The Company monitors its investment portfolio on a continuous basis and believes that the
liquidity of the Insurance Group will not be adversely affected by its current investments. This monitoring
includes the maintenance of an asset-liability model that matches current insurance liability cash flows
with current investment cash flows. This is accomplished by first creating an insurance model of the
Company's in-force policies using current assumptions on mortality, lapses and expenses. Then, current
investments are assigned to specific insurance blocks in the model using appropriate prepayment
schedules and future reinvestment patterns.
The results of the model specify whether the investments and their related cash flows can support
the related current insurance cash flows. Additionally, various scenarios are developed changing interest
rates and other related assumptions. These scenarios help evaluate the market risk due to changing interest
rates in relation to the business of the Insurance Group.
In the Company's analysis of the asset-liability model, a 100 to 200 basis point change in interest
rates on the Insurance Group's liabilities would not be expected to have a material adverse effect on the
Company. With respect to its liabilities, if interest rates were to increase, the risk to the Company is that
policies would be surrendered and assets would need to be sold. This is not a material exposure to the
Company since a large portion of the Insurance Group's interest sensitive policies are burial policies that
are not subject to the typical surrender patterns of other interest sensitive policies, and many of the
Insurance Group's universal life and annuity policies were acquired from liquidated companies which
tend to exhibit lower surrender rates than such policies of continuing companies. Additionally, there are
charges to help offset the benefits being surrendered. If interest rates were to decrease substantially, the
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risk to the Company is that some of its investment assets would be subject to early redemption. This is not
a material exposure because the Company would have additional unrealized gains in its investment
portfolio to help offset the future reduction of investment income. With respect to its investments, the
Company employs (from time to time as warranted) investment strategies to mitigate interest rate and
other market exposures.
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 80.
ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On October 6, 2016, the registrant filed a Form 8-K stating that the registrant has engaged RSM
US LLP as its principal accountant to replace its former principal accountant KPMG LLP, effective
September 13, 2016. The decision to change accountant was approved by the Audit Committee of the
registrant. Neither of the reports of the former principal accountants on the financial statements for the
periods ending December 31, 2015 and December 21, 2014, respectively, and through the subsequent
interim periods ending September 13, 2016, contained an adverse opinion nor disclaimer of opinion, nor
was either qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.
During the audited period, there were no disagreements with the former principal accountant on
any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or
procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of the former accountant, would have
in connection with this report.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting as such term is defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“the
Exchange Act”) Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal controls are designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the reliability of its financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatement. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
As previously disclosed in Item 9A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015,
management concluded that there were material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting
for income taxes. Management determined that we did not maintain effective controls over the accounting
for and disclosures of technical accounting matters as they relate to income taxes.
A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or
interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
The Company has made significant progress in remediating its material weaknesses in internal
control over financial reporting for income taxes, specifically (i) strengthening existing tax staff with
consulting tax accounting resources. Additionally, financial reporting staff attended training related to the
design and operation of tax related financial reporting and corresponding internal controls; (ii)
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implementing enhanced risk assessment processes over accounting for income taxes, with a focus on tax
accounting and disclosure for unusual and complex transactions; and (iii) improving existing or
establishing new processes and controls to measure and record transactions related to tax accounting to
enhance the effectiveness of the design and operation of those controls.
While the Company has made significant progress in implementing the remediation efforts
described above; until those actions are fully implemented and the operational effectiveness of related
internal controls validated through testing, the material weaknesses described above will continue to exist.
Management anticipates that all remediation efforts will be fully implemented and validated by the fourth
quarter of 2017.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
At the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief
Executive Office (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based
upon that evaluation, and the still unresolved material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting for income taxes, as discussed in “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting”, our CEO and CFO have concluded our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule
13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as amended) were not effective.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Except as noted above, our Management, including the CEO and CFO, identified no change in
our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended December 31,
2016, that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

In November 2016, certain executives of IHC’s subsidiary, IHC Specialty Benefits, Inc.
(“Specialty Benefits”) who are key contributors to the success of Specialty Benefits, were granted
incentive sale bonuses. The bonuses are intended to induce such executives to continue to provide
services to Specialty Benefits, and incentivize them to enhance Specialty Benefits’ value and assure the
present and future dedication to maximizing value in the event one of the following transactions involving
one or more of Specialty Benefits, its parent IHC SB Holdings ("Holdings"), and its affiliate IHC Carrier
Solutions ("Carrier Solutions") occur: (i) sale of more than 50% of the equity, (ii) a merger, (iii) of a sale
of all or substantially all of the assets, and (iv) any other transaction the intent of which may reasonably
and equitably be construed to effect a result substantially equivalent to the foregoing (any of the
foregoing, a "Sale"). The only executive officer of IHC receiving a grant is David T. Kettig, Chief
Operating Officer and Executive Vice President of IHC, and Chief Executive Officer and President of
Specialty Benefits. IHC’s Compensation Committee ratified the grant to Mr. Kettig of an incentive bonus
equal to 1.5% of the net sale price pursuant to a Sale Bonus Agreement, dated November 7, 2016, by and
between Independence American Holdings Corp. (“IAHC”), a subsidiary of IHC and indirect parent of
Specialty Benefits, and Mr. Kettig, attached to this Form 10-K as Exhibit 10.8 (the “Sale Bonus
Agreement”). The bonus will be paid in a lump sum within 120 days after the consummation of the Sale,
and is payable only if Mr. Kettig is still employed by Specialty Benefits. The Sale Bonus Agreement
terminates on the earlier of (i) the termination of Mr. Kettig by Specialty Benefits or the last date of
employment with Specialty Benefits or Carrier Solutions, or (ii) the five-year anniversary the Sale Bonus
Agreement; provided, however, that such term shall be automatically extended for successive two (2) year
periods unless IAHC shall, at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the then-applicable term,
have given written notice to Mr. Kettig that the term of the Sale Bonus Agreement shall not be so
extended, in which case no such extension shall occur.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The names of our executive officers and directors and their age, title, and biography as of April
30, 2017 are set forth below:
Name
Larry R. Graber
Teresa A. Herbert
David T. Kettig
Allan C. Kirkman
John L. Lahey
Steven B. Lapin
Ronald I. Simon
James G. Tatum
Roy T.K. Thung

Age
67
55
58
73
70
71
78
75
73

Title
Chief Life and Annuity Actuary, Senior Vice President and Director
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Director
Chief Operating Officer, Executive Vice President and Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman

Directors are elected annually and hold office until the next annual meeting of the stockholders of
the Company and until their successors are elected. Officers are elected annually and serve at the
discretion of the Board of Directors.
Larry R. Graber
Since March 2012, Chief Life and Annuity Actuary and Senior Vice President of IHC; for more
than five years prior thereto, Senior Vice President — Life and Annuities of IHC; for more than the past
five years, a director and President of Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of IHC (“Madison National Life”); for more than the past five years, a director and President
of Southern Life and Health Insurance Company, an insurance company with principal offices in
Homewood, Alabama and a wholly owned subsidiary of Geneve Holdings, Inc., a private diversified
holding company that is the controlling stockholder of IHC (“GHI”); for more than the past five years, a
director of Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York, a wholly owned subsidiary of
IHC(“Standard Security Life”).
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Graber
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in many facets of the insurance
business, particularly relating to the acquisition and administration of blocks of life insurance.
Teresa A. Herbert
Since November 2016, a director of IHC; for more than the past five years, Chief Financial
Officer and Senior Vice President of IHC; for more than the past five years, Vice President of Geneve
Corporation (“Geneve”), a private company controlled by GHI; for more than the past five years until
August 2016, Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of American Independence Corp.,
formerly a public company traded on Nasdaq and a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company that was
merged out of existence on August 31, 2016 (“AMIC”); from March 2011 to August 2016, a director of
AMIC.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Ms. Herbert
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are her extensive financial and accounting experience and her
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experience with companies with complex organizational structures, intercompany transactions, diverse
and complex business transactions, the insurance industry, and public companies.
David T. Kettig
Since April 1, 2016, Executive Vice President of IHC; since February 2015, Chief Operating
Officer and Acting General Counsel of IHC; from April 2009 to April 1, 2016, Chief Operating Officer
and Senior Vice President of IHC; from August 2013 to August 2016, President of AMIC; from April
2009 to March 2012, Chief Operating Officer and Senior Vice President of AMIC; from March 2011 to
August 2016, a director of AMIC; for more than the past five years, President and a director of
Independence American Insurance Company, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of IHC (“IAIC”); from
March 2012 to March 2016, President of Standard Security Life; since April 2016, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Standard Security Life; since May 2012, a director of Standard Security Life.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Kettig
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse, complex businesses and
transactions, corporate governance, legal affairs, risk management, and insurance.
Allan C. Kirkman
For more than the past five years, a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Compensation Committee of IHC and Chairman of the Compensation Committee of IHC; for more than
five years prior to his retirement in October 2005, Executive Vice President of Mellon Bank, N.A., a
national bank.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr.
Kirkman should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse, complex
businesses and transactions, including that involving public companies in the financial services fields.
John L. Lahey
For more than the past five years, a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation
Committee of IHC; since March 1987, President of Quinnipiac University, a private university located in
Hamden, Connecticut; since 1995, a member of the Board of Trustees of Yale-New Haven Hospital, a
hospital located in New Haven, Connecticut; between 1994 and December 2015, a director of the UIL
Holdings Corporation, a publicly-held utility holding company with principal offices in New Haven,
Connecticut; since December 2015, a director, Audit and Compliance Committee member, and Executive
Committee member of Avangrid, Inc., a diversified energy and utility company with principal offices in
New Haven, Connecticut that is the successor-in-interest by merger to UIL Holdings Corporation; since
2004, a director of Alliance for Cancer Gene Therapy, the only national non-profit organization
committed exclusively to cancer gene and cell therapy research; since June 2006, a director of Standard
Security Life Insurance. Mr. Lahey also serves as a director and Chairman of the Board of the New York
City St. Patrick’s Day Parade, Inc.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Lahey
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive executive experience in major organizations and
valuable expertise in management and corporate governance.
Steven B. Lapin
For more than the past five years, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of IHC; for more than
the past five years, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and a director of GHI; for more than the
past five years, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and a director of Geneve; for more than five
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years prior to August 2016, a director of AMIC; for more than the past five years, a director of Madison
National Life; for more than the past five years, a director of Standard Security Life.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Lapin
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse, complex businesses and
transactions, corporate governance of public companies, risk management and insurance.
Ronald I. Simon
Since November 2016, a director of IHC; from August 1997 until April 1999, Chairman of the
Board of AMIC; from April 1999 to February 2001, Vice Chairman of the Board of AMIC; from
February 2001 through May 2001, Acting Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of AMIC; from January 2003 to August 2016, Chairman of the Compensation
Committee of AMIC; from January 2005 to August 2016, a member of the Audit Committee of AMIC;
from 2011 to August 2016, Chairman of the Audit Committee of AMIC; from May 1997 through April
2000, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and from September 1999 to September
2001, a director, of Western Water Company, which owned and developed water rights in the western
United States; from May 1999 through July 2002, when the company was acquired by Schering, AG, a
director of Collateral Therapeutics, Inc., a developer of non-surgical gene therapy procedures for the
treatment of cardiovascular diseases; from January 2006 through January 2009, a director of Cardium
Therapeutics, a company formed to acquire and further develop the procedures originally developed by
Collateral Therapeutics; from August 2001 through June 2002, Chief Financial Officer of Wingcast, Inc.,
a joint venture of Ford Motor Company and Qualcomm, Inc.; from April 2003 through April 2005,
director of BDI Investment Corp., a closely held regulated investment company; from March 2003
through February 2006, a director of WFS Financial, Inc., one of the nation’s largest independent
automobile finance companies; since August 2007, a director and member of the Audit and Compensation
Committees, and Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, of Ellington Financial, LLC, a
specialty finance company specializing in acquiring and managing mortgage-related assets; since May
2013, a director and member of the Audit and Compensation Committees, and Chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee, of Ellington Residential Mortgage REIT.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Simon
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in finance and senior management,
and in growing successful organizations with entrepreneurial company cultures.
James G. Tatum
Since June 2002, Chairman of the Audit Committee of IHC; for more than the past five years,
member of the Compensation Committee of IHC; for more than the past five years, a director of Standard
Security Life; for more than the past five years, sole proprietor of J. Tatum Capital, LLC, a registered
investment advisor, located in Birmingham, Alabama, managing funds primarily for individual and trust
clients; Chartered Financial Analyst for more than twenty-five years; from March 2011 until August
2016, a director of AMIC; from March 2011 until August 2016, a member of the Audit Committee of
AMIC.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Tatum
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive executive experience in major organizations and
valuable expertise with financial issues, risk management and oversight.
Roy T.K. Thung
Since March 2011, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of IHC; since
January 2000, Chief Executive Officer of IHC; since July 1999, President of IHC; for more than five
years prior to July 1999, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of IHC; for more than the
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past five years, Executive Vice President of Geneve; from July 2002 until August 2016, a director of
AMIC; from November 2002 until March 2012, Chief Executive Officer and President of AMIC; from
March 2012 until August 2016, Chief Executive Officer of AMIC; for more than the past five years prior
to April 2016, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Standard Security Life; for more
than the past five years, director of Standard Security Life; for more than the past five years, Chairman of
the Board of Madison National Life.
The experiences, qualifications, attributes or skills that led the Board to conclude that Mr. Thung
should serve as one of IHC’s directors are his extensive experience in diverse, complex businesses and
transactions, including involving public companies in the insurance industry, and executive and
management experience.
Family Relationships
None.
Corporate Governance Documents
In furtherance of its longstanding goals of providing effective governance of IHC’s business and
affairs for the long-term benefit of stockholders and promoting a culture and reputation of the highest
ethics, integrity and reliability, the Board has adopted:


a Code of Business Ethics that applies to IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and President, Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, controller and other IHC employees performing
similar functions (the “Code of Ethics”);



a Corporate Code of Conduct that applies to all employees, officers and directors of IHC and its
subsidiaries and affiliates (the “Code of Conduct”);



Corporate Governance Guidelines (“Guidelines”) to advance the functioning of the Board and its
committees and set forth the Board’s expectations as to how it should perform its functions; and



written charters for its Audit and Compensation Committees of the Board (collectively, the
“Charters”).

The Code of Ethics, Code of Conduct, Guidelines and Charters can be found on IHC’s website at
www.ihcgroup.com, and are also available in print to any stockholder who requests them. The
information on IHC’s website, however, is not incorporated by reference in, and does not form part of,
this annual report. The Board does not anticipate modifying the Code of Ethics or the Code of Conduct,
or granting any waivers to either, but were any such waiver or modification to occur, it would promptly
be disclosed on IHC’s website.
Audit Committee Financial Expert
The Board has determined that at least one member of the Audit Committee, Mr. Tatum, is an
audit committee financial expert as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K
promulgated by the SEC.
Nomination of Director Candidates
In light of GHI’s majority voting power, the Board has determined that the Board, rather than a
nominating committee, is the most appropriate body to identify director candidates and select nominees
for presentation at the annual meeting of stockholders. In making nominations, the Board seeks
candidates with outstanding business experience who will bring such experience to the management and
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direction of IHC. The minimum criteria employed by the Board in its selection of candidates are set forth
in the Guidelines, along with certain other factors that inform the selection process. All directors serving
on the Board participate in the consideration of director nominees. Furthermore, in light of GHI’s voting
power, the Board has determined that no policy with respect to consideration of candidates recommended
by security holders other than GHI’s would be appropriate.
Committees of the Board of Directors
Committees
The Board has standing Audit and Compensation Committees. Committee memberships are as
follows:
Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Mr. James G. Tatum (Chairman)
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman
Mr. John L. Lahey

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman (Chairman)
Mr. John L. Lahey
Mr. James G. Tatum

Audit Committee. The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to: (i) select an
independent registered public accounting firm; (ii) review and approve management’s plan for engaging
IHC’s independent registered public accounting firm during the year to perform non-audit services and
consider what effect these services will have on the independence of IHC’s independent registered public
accounting firm; (iii) review IHC’s annual financial statements and other financial reports which require
approval by the Board; (iv) oversee the integrity of IHC’s financial statements, IHC’s systems of
disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting and IHC’s compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (v) review the scope of audit plans of IHC’s internal audit function and
independent registered public accounting firm and the results of their audits; and (vi) evaluate the
performance of IHC’s internal audit function and independent registered public accounting firm.
Each member of the Audit Committee meets the independence requirements of the NYSE and
applicable SEC rules and regulations. The Audit Committee and the Board have determined that each
member of the Audit Committee is financially literate and that Mr. Tatum qualifies as an “audit
committee financial expert,” as such term is defined in Item 401(h)(2) of Regulation S-K promulgated by
the SEC.
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities with regard to compensation matters, is responsible for determining or ratifying (as the
case may be) the compensation of IHC’s executive officers, and administers IHC’s 2016 Stock Incentive
Plan and 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. The Compensation Committee has sole authority to determine the
compensation for IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and President.
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
Our directors and executive officers have not been involved in any of the following events during
the past ten years:
1.

any bankruptcy petition filed by or against such person or any business of which such
person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or
within two years prior to that time;
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2.

any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal
proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses);

3.

being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or
vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining
him or her from or otherwise limiting his or her involvement in any type of business,
securities or banking activities or to be associated with any person practicing in banking
or securities activities;

4.

being found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action, the SEC or the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or
commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated;

5.

being subject of, or a party to, any federal or state judicial or administrative order,
judgment decree, or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, relating to
an alleged violation of any federal or state securities or commodities law or regulation,
any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies, or any law
or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business
entity; or

6.

being subject of or party to any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended,
or vacated, of any self-regulatory organization, any registered entity or any equivalent
exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its
members or persons associated with a member.

ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis
“Say-on- Pay” and “Say-on-Frequency”
The Compensation Committee considered the voting results of the advisory, non-binding “sayon-pay” vote at IHC’s 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in connection with the discharge of its
responsibilities. IHC’s stockholders expressed their support of the compensation for our CEO, CFO and
the three other most-highly compensated officers in respect of 2013, with a substantial majority of the
votes cast voting to approve the compensation of IHC’s named executive officers described in IHC’s
2014 proxy statement. Following the Compensation Committee’s review and consideration of this
stockholder support, as well as the other factors discussed in more detail below, we determined to make
no changes to our approach to executive compensation. The next advisory, non-binding “say-on-pay”
vote will occur at IHC’s 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
At IHC’s 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, a majority of IHC’s stockholders voted for “sayon-pay” proposals to occur every three years. In light of this voting result on the frequency of “say-onpay” proposals, the Board decided that IHC will present “say-on-pay” proposals every three years until
the next required vote on the frequency of stockholder votes on named executive officer compensation.
Accordingly, we held a say on frequency of “say-on-pay” vote at our 2011 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. The next stockholder vote on the frequency of stockholder votes on named executive
officer compensation will occur at IHC’s 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Compensation Objectives
Compensation of each of IHC’s executive officers is intended to be based on performance of IHC
and the executive. The Compensation Committee has responsibility for establishing and reviewing the
compensation of IHC’s CEO and for reviewing the compensation for all of IHC’s executive officers.
In establishing executive officer compensation, the following are among the Compensation
Committee’s objectives:


attract and retain individuals of superior ability and managerial talent;



ensure compensation is aligned with IHC’s corporate strategies, business objectives and the
long-term interests of IHC’s stockholders; and



enhance incentives to increase IHC’s stock price and maximize stockholder value by providing
a portion of total compensation in IHC equity and equity-related instruments.

IHC’s overall compensation program is structured to attract, motivate and retain highly qualified
executive officers by paying them competitively, consistent with IHC’s success and their contributions to
such success. To this end, base salary and bonus are designed to reward annual achievements and to be
commensurate with an executive’s scope of responsibilities, demonstrated leadership abilities and
management experience and effectiveness. Other elements of compensation focus on motivating and
challenging IHC’s executive officers to achieve superior, long-term, sustained results.
Implementation of Objectives
Salaries
The salary of an IHC executive officer is based on his or her level of responsibility, experience
and qualifications and recent performance. Adjustments to salary are made in response to changes in any
of the foregoing factors and changes in market conditions. Executive officer salaries are typically
reviewed by the Compensation Committee every twelve months. The Compensation Committee has sole
authority to determine the compensation for IHC’s Chief Executive Officer. Neither the Compensation
Committee nor IHC has retained a compensation consultant or similar organization for assistance in
reviewing or setting executive officer salaries or other compensation.
Cash Bonuses
Following the close of each fiscal year, IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and President makes
determinations that are communicated to the Compensation Committee as to cash bonuses for IHC’s
executive officers (excluding himself), based on an analysis of: (i) any contractual commitments set forth
in an employment agreement; (ii) IHC’s performance in the year ended versus IHC’s plan for such year;
and (iii) a subjective evaluation of a variety of factors as to each executive officer’s individual
contribution during the year. The Compensation Committee then convenes outside the presence of the
Chief Executive Officer and President and, following appropriate deliberation, approves or ratifies
bonuses for all IHC executive officers.
The salaries paid and annual bonuses awarded to IHC’s named executive officers in respect of
2016 are set forth in the Summary Compensation Table.
Equity Awards
IHC’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”) provided the opportunity for the
Compensation Committee to make equity incentive awards to, among others, IHC’s executive officers.
While there are outstanding grants under the 2006 Plan, it has expired and no new grants may be made
under it. The Board of Directors approved a 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”) on substantially
the same terms as the 2006 Plan and submitted it for stockholder approval at the 2016 Annual Meeting of
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Stockholders. A majority of the shares present at the meeting in person or by proxy approved the 2016
Plan. The following describes the 2016 Plan.
The types of equity awards that may be granted under the 2016 Plan are: (i) options; (ii) share
appreciation rights (“SARs”); (iii) restricted shares, restricted share units (which are shares granted after
certain vesting conditions are met) and unrestricted shares; (iv) deferred share units; and (v) performance
awards. The Compensation Committee determines the type and amount of the award with reference to
factors that include the present value of the award relative to the executive officer’s salary and anticipated
cash bonus, the anticipated importance of the executive’s position to IHC’s future results, and the size of
the executive’s total compensation relative both to other executives within IHC and to compensation
levels at other companies.
Within the limitations of the 2016 Plan, the Compensation Committee may modify an award to:
(i) accelerate the rate at which an option or SAR may be exercised (including, without limitation,
permitting an option or SAR to be exercised in full without regard to the installment or vesting provisions
or whether the option or SAR is at the time exercisable); (ii) accelerate the vesting of any award; (iii)
extend or renew outstanding awards; or (iv) accept the cancellation of outstanding awards. However, the
Compensation Committee may not, without stockholder approval, cancel an outstanding option that is
underwater for the purpose of reissuing the option to a grantee within six months thereafter at a lower
exercise price, or granting a replacement award of a different type. Notwithstanding the foregoing
provision, no modification of an outstanding award can materially and adversely affect a grantee’s rights
thereunder, unless the grantee provides written consent, there is an express 2016 Plan provision
permitting the Compensation Committee to act unilaterally to make the modification, or the
Compensation Committee reasonably concludes that the modification is not materially adverse to the
grantee.
Options
Incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and non-incentive stock options (“Non-ISOs”) may be granted
under the 2016 Plan. At the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee, any option may be
exercisable, in whole or in part, immediately upon the grant thereof, or only after the occurrence of a
specified event, or only in installments, which installments may vary. The term of any option may not
exceed ten years from the grant date; provided, however, that in the case of an ISO granted to an
employee of IHC or any of its affiliates who owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the
voting stock on the grant date (“Employee Ten Percent Holder”), the term of the ISO shall not exceed five
years from the grant date. The exercise price of an option is determined by the Compensation Committee
in its sole discretion; provided, however, that if an ISO is granted to an Employee Ten Percent Holder (as
defined in the Plan), the per share exercise price shall not be less than 110% of the closing price per share
on the NYSE on the grant date (“Fair Market Value”); and provided further that for all other options, the
per share exercise price shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the grant date. Neither
IHC nor the Compensation Committee can allow for a repricing without stockholder approval.
Each of IHC’s named executive officers holds stock options, having varying exercise prices and
expiration dates (based on the date granted). Please see the information set forth in the tables below for
additional information. IHC does not have a target level of stock ownership applicable to any of its
employees, including the named executive officers.
Share Appreciation Rights (SARs)
The Compensation Committee may grant SARs either concurrently with the grant of an option or
with respect to an outstanding option (in which case the SAR will extend to all or a portion of the shares
covered by the related option, the exercise price is the same as the exercise price of the related option, and
the SAR is exercisable at such time or times, and to the extent, that the related option will be exercisable),
or independent of any option. The Compensation Committee may also grant SARs that are exercisable
only upon or in respect of a change in control (as defined in the 2016 Plan) or any other specified event.
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The per share exercise price of a SAR cannot be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value, and the SARs
may only be exercised when the Fair Market Value of the shares underlying the SAR exceeds the exercise
price of the SAR. Neither IHC nor the Compensation Committee can allow for a repricing without
stockholder approval.
Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units and Unrestricted Shares
Subject to applicable law, an award of 2,475 restricted shares (or such other amount that the
Board may determine on a prospective basis) will be granted to each non-employee director of IHC
following each annual meeting of IHC’s stockholders. One-third of those restricted shares will vest on
each of the next three annual anniversaries of the date the restricted shares were awarded. In the event
that a non-employee director terminates his or her membership on the Board for any reason, the director
will immediately forfeit any unvested restricted shares.
At any time within the thirty-day period (or other shorter or longer period that the Compensation
Committee selects in its sole discretion) in which a grantee who is a member of a select group of
management or highly compensated employees receives an initial award of either restricted shares or
restricted share units, the Compensation Committee may permit the grantee to irrevocably elect to defer
the receipt of all or a percentage of the shares that would otherwise be transferred to the grantee upon the
vesting of such award.
Deferred Share Units
The Compensation Committee may permit any director, consultant or member of a select group
of management or highly compensated employees to irrevocably elect to forego the receipt of cash or
other compensation (including shares), and in lieu thereof to have IHC credit to an internal 2016 Plan
account a number of deferred share units having a Fair Market Value equal to the shares and other
compensation deferred.
Performance Awards
The Compensation Committee may grant a performance award based on one or more of the
following to measure IHC, affiliate, and/or business unit performance during a specified performance
period: (i) gross or net premiums; (ii) profit margin; (iii) insured lives; (iv) basic, diluted, or adjusted
earnings per share; (v) sales or revenue; (vi) earnings before interest, taxes, and other adjustments (in total
or on a per share basis); (vii) basic or adjusted net income; (viii) returns on equity, assets, capital, revenue
or similar measure; (ix) economic value added; (x) working capital; (xi) total stockholder return; and (xii)
product development, product market share, research, licensing, litigation, human resources, information
services, mergers, acquisitions, or sales of assets of affiliates or business units. Performance measures
may vary from performance period to performance period and from grantee to grantee.
A grantee will be eligible to receive payment in respect of a performance award only to the extent
that the performance measure(s) for such award is achieved, and it is determined that all or some portion
of such grantee’s award has been earned for the performance period. The Compensation Committee
reviews whether, and to what extent, the performance measure(s) for a particular performance period (of
not less than one fiscal year) have been achieved and, if so, determines the amount of the performance
award to be paid. The Compensation Committee may use negative discretion to decrease, but not
increase, the amount of the award otherwise payable based upon such performance.
At any time prior to the date that is at least six months before the close of a performance period
(or shorter or longer period that the Compensation Committee selects), the Compensation Committee may
permit a grantee who is a member of a select group of management or highly compensated employees to
irrevocably elect to defer the receipt of all or a percentage of the cash or shares that would otherwise be
transferred to the grantee upon the vesting of a performance award.
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Termination, Rescission and Recapture of Awards
Each award under the 2016 Plan granted to an employee is intended to align such employee’s
long-term interest with those of IHC. Therefore, if the employee discloses confidential or proprietary
information of IHC, provides services to a competitor of IHC, solicits a non-administrative employee of
IHC, or has engaged in activities which conflict with IHC’s interests (including any breaches of fiduciary
duty or the duty of loyalty), the employee is acting contrary to IHC’s long-term interests. Accordingly,
except as otherwise expressly provided in an award agreement, IHC may terminate any outstanding,
unexercised, unexpired, unpaid, or deferred awards, rescind any exercise, payment or delivery pursuant to
the award, or recapture any common stock (whether restricted or unrestricted) or proceeds from the
employee’s sale of shares issued pursuant to the award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, IHC may, in its
sole and absolute discretion, choose not to terminate, rescind or recapture upon the occurrence of any of
the foregoing events.
Tax Implications
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act amended the Tax Code to add Section 162(m)(6),
which limits the amount that certain health care insurers, including the Company, may deduct for tax
years starting after 2012. Section 162(m)(6) limits the tax deduction to $500,000 per individual, and
makes no exception for performance-based compensation or commissions. In addition, the limit applies to
compensation, including deferred compensation, paid to all current and former employees and most
independent contractors, not just to compensation paid to a narrow group of current top executives. The
rule became effective for employer tax years beginning after December 31, 2012. Consequently, the
Company is limited to a $500,000 deduction for compensation paid to each named executive officer.
Section 162(m)(1) of the Tax Code limits the amount a publicly-held corporation may deduct for
compensation paid to the CEO and certain named executive officers to $1 million per year per executive,
makes an exception for performance-based compensation and commissions, and excludes the
compensation paid to former covered executives once they are no longer covered. Since the Company is
subject to Section 162(m)(6), the performance-based exclusion available under Section 162(m)(1) is not
available to the Company.
Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities with regard to
compensation matters, and is responsible for establishing and approving the compensation of IHC’s
executive officers. The Compensation Committee has sole authority to determine the compensation for
IHC’s Chief Executive Officer. The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” section of this Form 10-K with management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer.
Compensation Committee
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman (Chairman)
Mr. John L. Lahey
Mr. James G. Tatum
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Compensation Risk Assessment
The Compensation Committee considered the Company's compensation policies and practices
and concluded that they did not need to be modified.
Summary Compensation Table
The following table lists the annual compensation for IHC’s CEO, CFO and its three other most
highly compensated executive officers in 2016 for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Name and Principal
Position

Year

Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

Mr. Roy T.K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman

2016
2015
2014

461,767
452,737
443,885

338,800
338,800
338,000

-

158,400 (1)

3,717,963
804,000
855,000

Ms. Teresa A. Herbert
Chief Financial Officer

2016
2015
2014

291,571
275,821
270,436

623,250 (5)
173,250
157,500

-

51,193 (6)
42,570 (1)

-

Mr. David T. Kettig
Chief Operating Officer

2016
2015
2014

374,946
352,728
345,456

775,000 (5)
275,000
250,000

-

58,323 (6)
47,520 (1)

Mr. Larry R. Graber
Chief Life and Annuity
Actuary

2016
2015
2014

295,873
279,091
273,619

143,000
293,120
130,000

-

Mr. Gary J. Balzofiore (10)
Corporate Vice President –
Accounting and Finance

2016

264,359

625,000 (5)

Mr. Michael Kemp
Chief Underwriting
Officer

2016 (12)
2015
2014

106,184
328,079
321,295

1,102,209 (13)
325,000
376,680

(2)
(2)
(2)

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
($)
149,722
141,247
133,252

(3)
(3)
(3)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Total
($)

19,049
19,932
28,583

(4)

4,687,301
1,756,716
1,957,120

-

21,456
22,252
23,871

(7)

987,470
471,323
494,377

-

-

24,599
25,217
19,448

(8)

1,232,868
652,945
662,424

37,775 (6)
24,750 (1)

-

-

32,122
31,863
33,072

(9)

508,770
604,074
461,441

-

44,540 (6)

-

-

11,601 (11)

945,500

-

-

-

-

609,550 (14)
26,030
23,533

1,817,943
679,109
721,508

(1)

Represents the modification of fully vested options during 2014 to extend their expiration
date. The amount reported is the incremental fair value of the modified award as of the
modification date.

(2)

Represents strategic and long-term incentive earnings as a result of Mr. Thung’s
Employment Agreement with IHC for the year indicated. IHC is party to the Officer
Employment Agreement by and between IHC and Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, IHC’s Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors, dated as of May 11,
2011. Under the agreement, Mr. Thung is entitled to an incentive payment upon the
disposition of a strategic asset of IHC equal to 3% of the amount above which the
consideration received by IHC for such disposition exceeds the book value of such asset as
of March 31, 2011. In addition, any termination of the agreement other than for “cause”
triggers an incentive payment to Mr. Thung in respect of such appreciation in the overall
book value of IHC. The initial term of Mr. Thung’s employment agreement was two years
from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, will be automatically extended for
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successive two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is
given by IHC. In accordance with the terms of the agreement, Mr. Thung received cash
incentive payments of $3,013,235 and $288,728 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, as a result
of the Risk Solutions sale and coinsurance transaction with Swiss Re in 2016 and the
Madison National Life coinsurance and sale transaction with National Guardian Life
Insurance Company in 2015. Had the strategic and long-term incentive provisions of Mr.
Thung’s agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr. Thung would have received
$3,075,000.
(3)

Represents the increase (decrease) in the value of Mr. Thung’s Retirement Benefits
Agreement with IHC for the year indicated. Refer to Potential Payments to Named
Executive Officers for additional information regarding this agreement.

(4)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile,
employer-matching contributions to Mr. Thung’s 401(k) account, and group life insurance
premiums paid on Mr. Thung’s behalf.

(5)

Includes the transactional bonus paid in connection with the sale of IHC Risk Solutions to
Swiss Re.

(6)

Represents the grant date fair value of options granted during 2016 and the incremental fair
value of fully vested option awards modified during 2016, as of the modification date.

(7)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile,
employer-matching contributions to Ms. Herbert’s 401(k) account, group life insurance
premiums paid on Ms. Herbert’s behalf, and employer contributions to Ms. Herbert’s
disability insurance.

(8)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile,
employer-matching contributions to Mr. Kettig’s 401(k) account, group life insurance
premiums paid on Mr. Kettig’s behalf, and employer contributions to Mr. Kettig’s
disability insurance.

(9)

The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile,
employer-matching contributions to Mr. Graber’s 401(k) account, and group life insurance
premiums paid on Mr. Graber’s behalf.

(10) Mr. Balzofiore was not a named executive officer during 2014 and 2015.
compensation for Mr. Balzofiore in such years is not included in the table.

Thus,

(11) The amount shown for 2016 represents employer-matching contributions to Mr.
Balzofiore’s 401(k) account, group life insurance premiums paid on Mr. Balzofiore’s
behalf, and employer contributions to Mr. Balzofiore’s disability insurance.
(12) Mr. Kemp was not serving as an executive officer of IHC at the end of the last completed
fiscal year. However, had he served as an executive officer at the end of the last fiscal year,
he would have been one of the three most highly compensated executive officers.
Therefore, pursuant to Item 402(a)(4) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC,
compensation for Mr. Kemp is provided for the full 2016 fiscal year.
(13) Represents the transactional bonus paid in connection with the sale of IHC Risk Solutions
to Swiss Re.
(14) The amount shown for 2016 represents reimbursements related to the use of an automobile,
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employer-matching contributions to Mr. Kemp’s 401(k) account, group life insurance
premiums paid on Mr. Kemp’s behalf, employer contributions to Mr. Kemp’s disability
insurance, and a severance payment to Mr. Kemp.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth for each named executive officer certain information about unexercised
stock options and unvested shares of restricted stock held as of December 31, 2016.
Option Awards

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Name
Roy T.K. Thung

Teresa A. Herbert

David T. Kettig

Larry R. Graber

Gary J. Balzofiore

Michael Kemp

(1)

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option Expiration
Date

176,000
16,500
82,500
47,300
11,000
27,500
38,800
11,000
27,500
27,500
11,000
27,500
44,000
8,800
-

12,000
15,000
10,000
10,000

$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$19.95
$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$19.95
$9.09
$7.11
$9.99
$19.95
$9.09
$7.11
$19.95

January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
December 1, 2021
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
December 1, 2021
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
March 19, 2018
December 1, 2021
January 4, 2019
March 16, 2018
December 1, 2021

-

-

-

-

Stock Awards
Market
Number
Value of
of Shares Shares or
or Units
Units of
of Stock
Stock
That
That
Have Not Have Not
Vested
Vested
(#)
($)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

-

-

-

-

Stock options granted on December 1, 2016 vest in three equal installments beginning on
December 1, 2017.
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The following table sets forth information about the number and value of plan-based awards
granted during the year 2016.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards
Number of
Stock Awards
Granted (#)

Name

Grant
Date

Roy T.K. Thung
Teresa A. Herbert
David T. Kettig
Larry R. Graber
Gary J. Balzofiore
Michael Kemp

December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016
December 1, 2016

Number of
Option Awards
Granted (#)

-

Exercise
Price ($)

12,000
15,000
10,000
10,000
-

19.95
19.95
19.95
19.95
-

Grant
Date
Fair Value ($)
31,800
39,750
26,500
26,500
-

The following table sets forth information about the number and value of option exercises and
vested stock awards for each named executive officer during the year 2016.

Name

Option Exercises and Stock Vested
Option Awards
Stock Awards
Number of shares
Number of shares
acquired on
Value realized on
acquired on
Value realized
exercise (#)
exercise ($)
vesting (#)
on vesting ($)

Roy T.K. Thung
Teresa A. Herbert
David T. Kettig
Larry R. Graber
Gary J. Balzofiore
Michael Kemp

6,500
-

45,184
382,564

(1)

-

-

(1) Mr. Kemp exercised 45,000 SARs that were payable in cash.

Potential Payments to Named Executive Officers
With Mr. Thung
IHC is party to a Retirement Benefits Agreement with Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, dated as of
September 30, 1991, and amended by amendments dated as of December 20, 2002, June 17, 2005 and
December 31, 2008, respectively, pursuant to which Mr. Thung is entitled to a lump-sum cash payment
upon a “separation from service” from IHC of $1,659,557, increasing on a cumulative, compounding
basis of 6% per annum from December 31, 2008. “Separation from service” is as defined under U.S.
Treasury Regulations 1.409A-1(h)(1), and would generally include Mr. Thung’s death, retirement or any
other termination of employment, including permanent disability. For example, had this provision been
triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr. Thung would have been entitled to receive a payment of
$2,645,082.
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement by and between IHC and Mr. Roy T.K.
Thung, IHC’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors, dated as of
May 11, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if Mr. Thung’s employment by IHC or its affiliate
were to cease under certain circumstances, Mr. Thung would be entitled to receive a lump-sum severance
amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Mr. Thung during the
preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable severance
period would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the aggregate
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number of years of service of Mr. Thung to IHC and its affiliates. The circumstances under which such
severance would be paid are: (i) Mr. Thung’s employment by IHC being involuntarily terminated under
circumstances that would not constitute “cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr. Thung’s material failure
to follow IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow IHC’s corporate policies, breach of the noncompete covenants in the employment agreement or his engaging in unlawful behavior that would
damage IHC or its reputation); (ii) such employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances
that would constitute “good reason” (examples of “good reason” being in connection with IHC’s material
breach of its obligations under the employment agreement, IHC’s non-renewal of the employment
agreement or change in control of IHC or its ultimate parent); or; (iii) upon Mr. Thung’s death or
permanent disability. In addition, under the agreement, Mr. Thung is also entitled to strategic and longterm incentive payments which are included in the Summary Compensation Table above. The initial term
of Mr. Thung’s employment agreement is two years from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it
will be automatically extended for successive two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior
notice of non-renewal is given by IHC. For example, had the severance provisions of Mr. Thung’s
agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016, Mr. Thung would have been entitled to receive
approximately $66,146 per month for forty months ($2,645,840 in the aggregate).
With Ms. Herbert
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and between IHC and Ms. Teresa A.
Herbert, IHC’s Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, dated as of April 18, 2011. Under this
employment agreement, if Ms. Herbert’s employment by IHC or its affiliate were to cease under certain
circumstances, Ms. Herbert would be entitled to receive a severance amount equal to the average annual
aggregate total compensation received by Ms. Herbert during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata
for the applicable severance period. The applicable severance period would be the longer of: (i) twelve
months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the aggregate number of years of service of Ms. Herbert to
IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four months. The circumstances under which such severance
would be paid are (i) Ms. Herbert’s employment by IHC being involuntarily terminated under
circumstances that would not constitute “cause” (examples of “cause” being Ms. Herbert’s material
failure to follow IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow IHC’s corporate policies, breach of the
non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or her engaging in unlawful behavior that would
damage IHC or its reputation), or (ii) such employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances
that would constitute “good reason” (examples of “good reason” being in connection with IHC’s (or its
successor’s) material breach of its obligations under the employment agreement or upon IHC’s nonrenewal of the employment agreement). The initial term of Ms. Herbert’s employment agreement is two
years from the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically extended for successive
two-year periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by IHC. For
example, had the severance provision in Ms. Herbert’s agreement been triggered on December 31, 2016,
Ms. Herbert would have been entitled to receive approximately $45,068 per month for twenty-four
months ($1,081,632 in the aggregate).
With Mr. Kettig
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and among IHC, Standard Security Life
(which subsequently assigned the agreement to its affiliate AMIC Holdings, Inc.), and Mr. David T.
Kettig, IHC’s Chief Operating Officer, Executive Vice President and Acting General Counsel, dated as of
April 18, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if Mr. Kettig’s employment by Standard Security
Life or its affiliate were to cease under certain circumstances, Mr. Kettig would be entitled to receive a
severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Mr. Kettig
during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable
severance period would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the
aggregate number of years of service of Mr. Kettig to IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four
months. The circumstances under which such severance would be paid are (i) Mr. Kettig’s employment
by Standard Security Life being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not constitute
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“cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr. Kettig’s material failure to follow Standard Security Life’s or
IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow Standard Security Life’s or IHC’s corporate policies,
breach of the non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or his engaging in unlawful behavior
that would damage Standard Security Life, IHC or their respective reputations), or (ii) such employment
being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that would constitute “good reason” (examples of
“good reason” being in connection with Standard Security Life’s (or its successor’s) material breach of its
obligations under the employment agreement or upon Standard Security Life’s non-renewal of the
employment agreement). The initial term of Mr. Kettig’s employment agreement is two years from the
date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically extended for successive two-year
periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by Standard Security Life.
For example, had the severance provision in Mr. Kettig’s agreement been triggered on December 31,
2016, Mr. Kettig would have been entitled to receive approximately $59,330 per month for twenty-four
months ($1,423,920 in the aggregate).
With Mr. Graber
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and among IHC, Madison National Life,
and Mr. Larry R. Graber, IHC’s Chief Life and Annuity Actuary and Senior Vice President, dated as of
April 18, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if Mr. Graber’s employment by Madison National
Life or its affiliate were to cease under certain circumstances, Mr. Graber would be entitled to receive a
severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Mr. Graber
during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable
severance period would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the
aggregate number of years of service of Mr. Graber to IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four
months. The circumstances under which such severance would be paid are (i) Mr. Graber’s employment
by Madison National Life being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not constitute
“cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr. Graber’s material failure to follow Madison National Life’s or
IHC’s lawful directions, material failure to follow Madison National Life’s or IHC’s corporate policies,
breach of the non-compete covenants in the employment agreement or his engaging in unlawful behavior
that would damage Madison National Life, IHC or their respective reputations), or (ii) such employment
being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that would constitute “good reason” (examples of
“good reason” being in connection with Madison National Life’s (or its successor’s) material breach of its
obligations under the employment agreement or upon Madison National Life’s non-renewal of the
employment agreement). The initial term of Mr. Graber’s employment agreement is two years from the
date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically extended for successive two-year
periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by Madison National Life.
For example, had the severance provision in Mr. Graber’s agreement been triggered on December 31,
2016, Mr. Graber would have been entitled to receive approximately $39,088 per month for twenty
months ($781,760 in the aggregate).
With Mr. Balzofiore
IHC is party to the Officer Employment Agreement, by and among IHC, Standard Security Life,
and Mr. Gary J. Balzofiore, IHC’s Corporate Vice President – Accounting and Finance, dated as of May
25, 2011. Under this employment agreement, if Mr. Balzofiore’s employment by Standard Security Life
or its affiliate were to cease under certain circumstances, Mr. Balzofiore would be entitled to receive a
severance amount equal to the average annual aggregate total compensation received by Mr. Balzofiore
during the preceding five years, adjusted pro rata for the applicable severance period. The applicable
severance period would be the longer of: (i) twelve months; and (ii) a number of months equal to the
aggregate number of years of service of Mr. Balzofiore to IHC and its affiliates, not to exceed twenty-four
months. The circumstances under which such severance would be paid are (i) Mr. Balzofiore’s
employment by Standard Security Life being involuntarily terminated under circumstances that would not
constitute “cause” (examples of “cause” being Mr. Balzofiore’s refusal to perform his duties, material
failure to follow Standard Security Life’s corporate policies, breach of the non-compete covenants in the
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employment agreement or his committing a crime involving financial or accounting fraud), or (ii) such
employment being voluntarily terminated under circumstances that would constitute “good reason”
(examples of “good reason” being in connection with Standard Security Life’s or IHC’s material breach
of its obligations under the employment agreement or upon Standard Security Life’s non-renewal of the
employment agreement). The initial term of Mr. Balzofiore’s employment agreement is two years from
the date it was entered into, but, by its terms, it will be automatically extended for successive two-year
periods unless one hundred twenty days’ prior notice of non-renewal is given by Standard Security Life.
For example, had the severance provision in Mr. Balzofiore’s agreement been triggered on December 31,
2016, Mr. Balzofiore would have been entitled to receive approximately $41,722 per month for twentyfour months ($1,001,328 in the aggregate).
Stock Incentive Plans
Under the terms of IHC’s stock incentive plans, the Compensation Committee may make
appropriate provision for the holders of awards thereunder in the event of a change in control of IHC or
similar event. The specifics of such an occurrence cannot be anticipated, and thus the prospective effect
upon IHC cannot reliably be quantified.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain information as of the end of the most recently completed
fiscal year with respect to compensation plans under which shares of IHC common stock may be issued.
Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category
Equity compensation
plans approved by
stockholders

Number of Shares to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options

697,180

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options

$11.75

Number of Shares
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding Shares
Reflected in the First
Column)

1,133,100

DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION
The general policy of the Board is that compensation for independent directors should be a mix of
cash and equity. IHC does not pay management directors for board service in addition to their regular
employee compensation. The Compensation Committee has the primary responsibility for reviewing and
considering any revisions to director compensation.
During 2017, each non-employee (outside) director will be paid:
•
•
•
•

an annual retainer of $36,000;
$1,500 for each board or committee meeting attended;
$9,000 for service as chairman of a board committee; and
2,475 restricted shares of IHC common stock, vesting ratably over the three annual anniversaries
of the award, and contingent upon continuing service as a director.
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The following table summarizes compensation paid to IHC’s directors during 2016 except for Mr.
Roy T.K. Thung, IHC’s Chief Executive Officer and President, Mr. David T. Kettig, Chief Operating
Officer, Executive Vice President and Acting General Counsel, Mr. Larry R. Graber, Chief Life and
Annuity Actuary and Senior Vice President, and Teresa A. Herbert, Chief Financial Officer and Senior
Vice President, for whom compensation was previously discussed.
Director Summary Compensation

Name

Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash
($)

Stock Awards
($)

Total
($)

Mr. Allan C. Kirkman

78,000

47,396

125,396

Mr. John L. Lahey.

69,000

47,396

116,396

-

-

-

Mr. Steven B. Lapin (1)
Mr. Ronald I. Simon

11,300 (2)

47,396

58,696

Mr. James G. Tatum.

76,500

47,396

123,896

(1)
(2)

ITEM 12.

Mr. Lapin received no compensation in connection with his service as an IHC director
during 2016.
Mr. Simon was newly-elected at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and thus was
only paid fees for the fourth quarter of 2016.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Directors and Executive Officers
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the number of shares of our
common stock that is beneficially owned by each of our directors and each of our named executive
officers based on 16,377,756 issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of April 30, 2017.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting
or investment power with respect to securities. Other than as described in the notes to the table, we
believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to shares
beneficially owned by them. All share ownership figures include shares issuable upon exercise of options
or warrants exercisable within 60 days of the date above, which are deemed outstanding and beneficially
owned by such person for purposes of computing his or her percentage ownership, but not for purposes of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
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The address of each individual named below is c/o IHC at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford,
Connecticut 06902.
Name of Beneficial Owner

Number of Shares

Mr. Gary J. Balzofiore
Mr. Larry R. Graber
Ms. Teresa A. Herbert
Mr. David T. Kettig
Mr. Allan C. Kirkman
Mr. John L. Lahey
Mr. Steven B. Lapin
Mr. Ronald I. Simon
Mr. James G. Tatum
Mr. Roy T. K. Thung
All directors, nominees for director and executive
officers as a group (10 persons)
*

69,473
100,285
131,987
158,185
26,301
22,275
122,162
40,000
38,301
535,670
1,244,639

Percent of Class
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(5)
(8)

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
3.2%
7.4%

Represents less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

(1)

Includes 44,000 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60)
days from the date above.

(2)

Includes 55,000 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60)
days from the date above.

(3)

Includes 74,800 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60)
days from the date above. Includes 410 shares of common stock held by Ms. Herbert’s children of
which shares Ms. Herbert disclaims beneficial ownership. Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of
common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the named individual is an officer.

(4)

Includes 66,300 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60)
days from the date above. Includes 110 shares of common stock held by Mr. Kettig’s children of
which shares Mr. Kettig disclaims beneficial ownership.

(5)

Includes 1,650 shares of common stock underlying restricted share units vesting within sixty (60)
days from the date above.

(6)

Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve Holdings, Inc., of which the
named individual is an officer.

(7)

Includes 30,000 shares of common stock held by the Simon Family Trust and 2,000 shares of
common stock held in Mr. Simon’s wife’s IRA account, of which shares Mr. Simon disclaims
beneficial ownership.

(8)

Includes 258,500 shares of common stock underlying stock options exercisable within sixty (60)
days from the date above. Excludes the 9,145,226 shares of common stock held by Geneve
Holdings, Inc., of which the named individual is an officer.
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Significant Stockholders
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the number of shares of our
common stock that is beneficially owned by certain persons known by IHC to beneficially own more than
five percent of the outstanding shares of IHC common stock, based on 16,377,756 issued and outstanding
shares of common stock as of April 30, 2017.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and generally includes voting
or investment power with respect to securities. Other than as described in the notes to the table, we
believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to shares
beneficially owned by them. All share ownership figures include shares issuable upon exercise of options
or warrants exercisable within 60 days of the date above, which are deemed outstanding and beneficially
owned by such person for purposes of computing its percentage ownership, but not for purposes of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
Name

Number of Shares

Percent of Class

9,145,226

55.84%

970,639

5.93%

Geneve Holdings, Inc. (1)
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP. (2)
(1)

According to (i) information disclosed in Amendment No. 35 to Schedule 13D dated May 9, 2001
of Geneve Holdings, Inc. (“GHI”), a private diversified financial holding company. GHI is a
member of a group consisting of itself and certain of its affiliates that together hold the shares of
common stock of IHC. The address of GHI is 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, Connecticut
06902.

(2)

According to information disclosed in Schedule 13G, reporting as of December 31, 2016 (the
“Schedule 13G”), Dimensional Fund Advisors LP, an investment adviser registered under Section
203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, furnishes investment advice to four investment
companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and serves as investment
manager to certain other commingled group trusts and separate accounts (such investment
companies, trusts and accounts, collectively referred to as the “Funds”). In certain cases,
subsidiaries of Dimensional Fund Advisors LP may act as an adviser or sub-adviser to certain
Funds. In its role as investment advisor, sub-adviser and/or manager, Dimensional Fund
Advisors LP or its subsidiaries (collectively, “Dimensional”) possess voting and/or investment
power over the securities of IHC that are owned by the Funds, and may be deemed to be the
beneficial owner of the shares of IHC held by the Funds. However, all shares of IHC’s common
stock reported in the Schedule 13G are owned by the Funds. Dimensional disclaims beneficial
ownership of such securities. In addition, its filing of the Schedule 13G shall not be construed as
an admission that it or any of its affiliates is the beneficial owner of any securities covered by the
Schedule 13G for any other purposes than Section 13(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended. The address of Dimensional Fund Advisors LP is Palisades West, Building 1, 6300
Bee Cave Road, Austin, Texas 78746.

ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Director Independence
As a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), IHC uses the definition of
independence prescribed in the NYSE Listed Company Manual (the “Manual”). Each of Messrs.
Kirkman, Tatum, Lahey and Simon met such independence requirements. The Board has affirmatively

76

determined that none of them had any material relationship described in Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K
promulgated by the SEC with IHC at all applicable times during 2016.
IHC qualifies as a “controlled company,” as defined in Section 303A.00 of the Manual, because
more than 50% of IHC’s voting power is held by GHI. Therefore, IHC is not subject to certain NYSE
requirements that would otherwise require IHC to have: (i) a majority of independent directors on the
Board (Manual Section 303A.01); (ii) compensation of IHC’s executive officers determined by a
compensation committee composed solely of independent directors (Manual Section 303A.04); or (iii)
director nominees selected, or recommended for the Board’s selection, by a nominating committee
composed solely of independent directors (Manual Section 303A.05).
Of IHC’s directors, none of Ms. Herbert or Messrs. Graber, Kettig, Lapin or Thung is
independent under the NYSE’s standards.
For each independent director, after reasonable investigations and in reliance on representations
by such independent director to IHC, IHC believes there is no material transaction, relationship or
arrangement described in Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC between each such
director not disclosed in this annual report under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions.”
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
Messrs. Kirkman, Lahey and Tatum served on the Compensation Committee of the Board during
fiscal year 2016.
Transactions with Management and Other Relationships
With Geneve Holdings, Inc.
IHC and Geneve Holdings, Inc. (“GHI”), IHC’s controlling stockholder, operate under costsharing arrangements pursuant to which certain items are allocated between the two companies. During
2016, IHC paid GHI (or accrued for payment thereto) approximately $439,000 under such arrangements,
and paid or accrued an additional $113,000 for the first quarter of 2017. Such cost-sharing arrangements
include GHI’s providing IHC with the use of office space as IHC’s corporate headquarters for annual
consideration of $160,000 in 2016. The foregoing arrangement is subject to the annual review and
approval of the Audit Committee, and IHC’s management believes that the terms thereof are no less
favorable than could be obtained by IHC from unrelated parties on an arm’s-length basis.
Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons
Section 5.7 of IHC’s by-laws provide that no contract or transaction between IHC and one or
more of its directors or officers (or their affiliates) is per se void (or voidable) if, among other things, the
material facts as to the relevant relationships and interests were disclosed to the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) and the transaction in question was approved by a majority of the disinterested
directors voting on the matter. The Audit Committee’s charter requires the Audit Committee to review
and approve all interested-party transactions, and IHC’s other governance documents specifically prohibit
various conflicts of interest and impose disclosure requirements in connection with any potential conflict
of interest.
The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved each of the related-party transactions set forth
above. IHC is not aware of any transaction reportable under paragraph (a) of Item 404 of Regulation S-K
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in respect of 2016, that was not so
reviewed and approved.
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ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth fees for services that RSM US LLP (“RSM”) and KPMG LLP
(“KPMG”) provided to IHC during 2016 and 2015:

Audit fees (1)
Audit-related fees
Tax fees
All other fees
Total
(1)

(2)

(3)

2016
$ 1,545,900 (2)
20,150 (3)
$ 1,566,050

2015
$ 2,725,000
177,000
$ 2,902,000

Audit Fees. Represents fees for professional services provided for the audit of IHC’s
annual financial statements, the review of IHC’s quarterly financial statements and audit
services provided in connection with other statutory or regulatory filings.
The audit fees for 2016 are based on initial engagement plus estimates for completion and
are pending final billing. As disclosed in the Company’s Form 8-K filed on September
16, 2016, IHC dismissed KPMG as its independent registered accounting firm and
engaged RSM as its independent registered accounting firm. Audit fees listed above
include $204,000 related to audit services provided by KPMG and $1,341,900, estimated
thus far, related to audit services provided by RSM.
All other fees for 2016 represent anticipated amounts payable to RSM for the audit of the
Company’s 401(k) plan based on initial engagement.

The Audit Committee has determined that the provision of non-audit services by KPMG is
compatible with maintaining KPMG’s independence. Any such engagement of KPMG to provide nonaudit services to IHC must be pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
We have agreed to indemnify and hold KPMG LLP harmless against and from any and all legal
costs and expenses incurred by KPMG in successful defense of any legal action or proceeding that arises
as a result of KPMG’s consent to the inclusion (or incorporation by reference) of its audit report on the
Company’s past financial statements incorporated by reference into our registration statement on Form S8.

PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) and (2)
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedules on page 80.
(a) (3) EXHIBITS
See Exhibit Index on page 145.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, on May 22, 2017.
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
REGISTRANT
By:

/s/ Roy T. K. Thung
Roy T.K. Thung
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/s/ Teresa A. Herbert
Teresa A. Herbert
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated as of the 19th
day of May, 2017.

/s/ Larry R. Graber
Larry R. Graber
Director and Senior Vice President

/s/ Steven B. Lapin
Steven B. Lapin
Director and Vice Chairman

/s/ Allan C. Kirkman
Allan C. Kirkman
Director

/s/ James G. Tatum
James G. Tatum
Director

/s/ John L. Lahey
John L. Lahey
Director

/s/ Ronald I. Simon
Ronald I. Simon
Director

/s/ Roy T.K. Thung
Roy T.K. Thung
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ David T. Kettig
David T. Kettig
Director, Senior Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer

/s/ Teresa A. Herbert
Teresa A. Herbert
Director, Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:
We have audited Independence Holding Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013. Independence
Holding Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included
in the accompanying Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual
or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Material weaknesses
related to the internal controls over financial reporting for income taxes have been identified and included
in management’s assessment in Item 9a. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2016 financial statements, and this
report does not affect our report dated May 22, 2017 on those financial statements.
In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of
the objectives of the control criteria, Independence Holding Company has not maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal

81

Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in 2013.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the financial statement schedules of Independence Holding Company listed in Item
15(a) and our report dated May 22, 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ RSM
Jacksonville, Florida
May 22, 2017
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Independence Holding Company and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended. Our audit also included the financial
statement schedules of Independence Holding Company listed in Item 15(a). These financial statements
and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules and an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013.
Our report dated May 22, 2017 expressed an opinion that Independence Holding Company had not
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013.
As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Company sold Risk Solutions, LLC and accounted
for the sale as discontinued operations. We audited the adjustments described in Note 3 that were applied
to restate the 2015 and 2014 financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and
have been properly applied.

/s/ RSM US LLP
Jacksonville, Florida
May 22, 2017
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Independence Holding Company:
We have audited, before the effects of the adjustments to retrospectively reflect discontinued operations
discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Independence Holding Company and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2015, and
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. In connection with our audits of the
consolidated financial statements, we also have audited, before the effects of the adjustments to
retrospectively reflect discontinued operations discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the consolidated financial statement schedules II to IV, as of December 31, 2015 and for the
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. The 2015 and 2014 financial statements and schedules before
the effects of these adjustments discussed in Note 3 are not presented herein. The 2015 and 2014
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, before the effects of the
adjustments to retrospectively reflect discontinued operations discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Independence
Holding Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules,
when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the adjustments to retrospectively
reflect discontinued operations discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, we do not
express an opinion or any other form of assurance about whether such adjustments are appropriate and
have been properly applied. Those adjustments were audited by a successor auditor.

/s/ KPMG LLP
New York, New York
May 22, 2017
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INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands, except share data)
DECEMBER 31,
2016
ASSETS:
Investments:
Short-term investments
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trading Securities
Fixed maturities, available-for-sale
Equity securities, available-for-sale
Other investments

$

Total investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Due and unpaid premiums
Due from reinsurers
Premium and claim funds
Goodwill
Other assets
Assets attributable to discontinued operations (Note 3)
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
LIABILITIES:
Policy benefits and claims
Future policy benefits
Funds on deposit
Unearned premiums
Other policyholders' funds
Due to reinsurers
Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities
Liabilities attributable to discontinued operations (Note 3)
Debt
Junior subordinated debt securities

2015

6,912
28,962
592
449,487
5,333
23,534

$

50
28,285
1,259
428,601
8,426
21,538

514,820

488,159

22,010
42,896
440,285
17,952
41,573
54,928
-

17,500
69,075
483,073
22,015
47,276
57,934
12,931

$

1,134,464

$

1,197,963

$

219,113
219,450
145,749
9,786
9,769
35,796
55,477
68
-

$

245,443
270,624
173,350
10,236
11,822
46,355
64,109
(15)
5,189
38,146

TOTAL LIABILITIES

695,208

865,259

-

-

18,620
126,468
(6,964)
(17,483)
315,918

18,569
127,733
(3,440)
(13,961)
194,450

436,559
2,697

323,351
9,353

439,256

332,704

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock $1.00 par value, 100,000 shares authorized;
none issued or outstanding
Common stock $1.00 par value: 23,000,000 shares
authorized; 18,620,508 and 18,569,183 shares issued,
17,102,525 and 17,265,758 shares outstanding
Paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, at cost: 1,517,983 and 1,303,425 shares
Retained earnings
TOTAL IHC STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
TOTAL EQUITY
$

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

1,134,464

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,197,963

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (In thousands, except per share data)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2016
REVENUES:
Premiums earned
$
262,704
Net investment income
16,570
Fee income
16,446
Other income
12,257
Gain on sale of subsidiary to joint venture
Net realized investment gains
4,502
Other-than-temporary impairment losses:
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses
(1,475)
Portion of losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
(1,475)

2015
$

479,534
17,237
10,651
10,267
9,940
3,094

2014
$

479,048
21,614
17,147
4,851
7,688

(228)
(228)

-

311,004

530,495

530,348

145,231
132,174
1,534

307,178
177,641
1,798

326,035
181,387
1,797

278,939

486,617

509,219

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income taxes

32,065
9,555

43,878
15,904

21,129
6,108

Income from continuing operations, net of tax

22,510

27,974

15,021

Discontinued operations (Note 3):
Income from discontinued operations, before income taxes
Income taxes on discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

117,617
6,813
110,804

4,310
1,762
2,548

2,183
283
1,900

Net income
Less: Income from noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries

133,314
(10,016)

30,522
(578)

16,921
(628)

EXPENSES:
Insurance benefits, claims and reserves
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest expense on debt

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO IHC
Basic income per common share (Note 2)
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Basic income per common share

$

123,298

$

29,944

$

16,293

$

1.28
5.90
7.18

$

1.59
.14
1.73

$

.83
.10
.93

$

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING

$

17,162

Diluted income per common share (Note 2)
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Diluted income per common share

$
$

WEIGHTED AVERAGE DILUTED SHARES OUTSTANDING

1.27
5.82
7.09
17,379

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

17,314

$
$

1.58
.13
1.71
17,484

17,471

$
$

.82
.10
.92
17,636

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (In thousands)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2016
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Available-for-sale securities:
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, pre-tax
Tax expense (benefit) on unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes

$

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX
Comprehensive income, net of tax, attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Income from noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries
Other comprehensive (income) loss, net of tax, attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Unrealized (gains) losses on available-for-sale securities, net of tax
Other comprehensive (income) loss, net of tax, attributable to noncontrolling interests
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX,
ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX,
ATTRIBUTABLE TO IHC

$

133,314

$

30,522

2014
$

16,921

(5,424)
(1,916)
(3,508)

(5,475)
(2,013)
(3,462)

15,509
4,816
10,693

(3,508)

(3,462)

10,693

129,806

27,060

27,614

(10,016)

(578)

(628)

(118)

(5)

(199)

(118)

(5)

(199)

(10,134)

(583)

(827)

119,672

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2015

$

26,477

$

26,787

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (In thousands, except share data)

COMMON STOCK
SHARES
AMOUNT
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2013
Net income
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Repurchases of common stock
Common stock dividends ($.07 per share)
Share-based compensation expense and related tax benefits
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Other capital transactions

18,523,733

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2014
Net income
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Repurchases of common stock
Acquisition of subsidiary
Purchases of noncontrolling interests
Common stock dividends ($.09 per share)
Share-based compensation expense and related tax benefits
Other capital transactions

18,531,158

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
Net income
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Repurchases of common stock
Purchases of noncontrolling interests
Common stock dividends ($.105 per share)
Share-based compensation expense and related tax benefits
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Other capital transactions

18,569,183

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

18,620,508

$

18,524

ACCUMULATED
OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS)

PAID-IN
CAPITAL
$

126,239

$

(10,472)

TREASURY STOCK, AT COST
SHARES
AMOUNT
(863,343)

$

(8,169)

RETAINED
EARNINGS
$

151,179
16,293

277,301
16,293
10,494
(3,972)
(1,223)
763
31

$

9,515
628
199
(472)
55

$

286,816
16,921
10,693
(3,972)
(1,223)
763
(472)
86

$

299,687
29,944
(3,467)
(1,820)
117
(1,562)
446
6

$

9,925
578
5
608
(1,851)
88

$

309,612
30,522
(3,462)
(1,820)
608
(1,734)
(1,562)
446
94

$

323,351
123,298
(3,626)
(3,522)
(2,200)
(1,800)
778
280

$

9,353
10,016
118
(15,911)
(947)
68

$

332,704
133,314
(3,508)
(3,522)
(18,111)
(1,800)
778
(947)
348

$

436,559

$

2,697

$

439,256

(3,972)
(1,223)

7,425

7

756
103

$

18,531

$

127,098

(72)
$

22

(1,160,118)

$

(12,141)

$

166,177
29,944

(3,467)
(143,307)
112

(1,820)

5
(1,562)

38,025

38

$

18,569

408
115
$

127,733

(109)
$

(3,440)

(1,303,425)

$

(13,961)

$

194,450
123,298

(3,626)
(214,558)
(2,302)

(3,522)

102
(1,800)

51,325

51

727
310

$

18,620

$

126,468

(30)
$

(6,964)

(1,517,983)

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(17,483)

$

315,918

TOTAL
EQUITY

$

10,494
(296,775)

NONCONTROLLING
INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

TOTAL IHC
STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY

INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2016
Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net change in cash from
operating activities:
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax
Gain on sale of subsidiary to joint venture
Gain on disposition of assets
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs
Net realized investment gains
Other-than-temporary impairment losses
Equity income from equity method investments
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred tax expense
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Net purchases (sales) of trading securities
Change in insurance liabilities
Change in deferred acquisition costs
Change in amounts due from reinsurers
Change in premium and claim funds
Change in current income tax liability
Change in due and unpaid premiums
Other operating activities
Net change in cash from operating activities

$

Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Investing Activities:
Net purchases of short-term investments
Net (purchases) sales of securities under resale agreements
Sales of equity securities
Purchases of equity securities
Sales of fixed maturities
Maturities and other repayments of fixed maturities
Purchases of fixed maturities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sales/deconsolidation of subsidiaries, net of cash divested
Proceeds from sale of assets
Change in policy loans
Proceeds on sales of other investments
Purchases of other investments
Other investing activities
Net change in cash from investing activities
Cash Flows Provided By (Used By) Financing Activities:
Repurchases of common stock
Cash paid in acquisitions of noncontrolling interests
Withdrawals of investment-type insurance contracts
Repayments of debt
Dividends paid
Other financing activities
Net change in cash from financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents, including discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year, including discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year, including discontinued operations

$

133,314

$

30,522

2014
$

16,921

(110,337)
319
(4,502)
1,475
(62)
1,831
4,445
7,809

(9,940)
(5,053)
3,524
(3,094)
228
(405)
2,313
614
6,724

4,941
(7,688)
(1,106)
3,000
5,423
10,586

3,727
(120,064)
(296)
42,787
3,094
(9,146)
26,179
(11,571)
(30,998)

5,356
(18,907)
26,774
(202,617)
(1,891)
3,386
(6,447)
4,189
(164,724)

(4,719)
(94,876)
(6,223)
101,987
4,800
2,241
(3,193)
(4,763)
27,331

(6,870)
(677)
3,577
410,983
47,285
(486,398)
135,736
1
4,210
(4,371)
(4,601)
98,875

(11,495)
11,986
(6,601)
629,376
42,630
(521,417)
511
4,518
8,000
10,629
1,000
(809)
168,328

5,804
288
(1,228)
353,143
45,091
(421,285)
660
(900)
2,574
(15,853)

(3,522)
(18,111)
1,898
(42,935)
(1,553)
(815)
(65,038)

(1,820)
(1,734)
(2,306)
(2,617)
(1,392)
353
(9,516)

(3,972)
(2,988)
(2,000)
(1,233)
(431)
(10,624)

2,839
19,171

(5,912)
25,083

854
24,229

22,010

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2015

$

19,171

$

25,083

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1.

Organization, Consolidation, Basis of Presentation and Accounting Policies
(A)

Business and Organization

Independence Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (“IHC”), is a holding company
principally engaged in the life and health insurance business through: (i) its insurance companies,
Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York ("Standard Security Life"), Madison National
Life Insurance Company, Inc. ("Madison National Life"), and Independence American Insurance
Company (“Independence American”); and (ii) its marketing and administrative companies, including
IHC Specialty Benefits Inc. and IHC Carrier Solutions, Inc. IHC also owns a significant equity interest in:
(i) Ebix Health Exchange Holdings, LLC (“Ebix Health Exchange”), an administration exchange for
health insurance; and (ii) an equity interest in a managing general underwriter (“MGU”) that writes
medical stop-loss. On March 31, 2016, the Company sold IHC Risk Solutions, LLC (“Risk Solutions”),
an MGU that was its principal source of medical stop-loss business. In addition, all of the in-force
medical stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and Independence American produced by Risk
Solutions was 100% co-insured as of January 1, 2016 and IHC’s block of medical stop-loss business is in
run-off. Standard Security Life, Madison National Life and Independence American are sometimes
collectively referred to as the “Insurance Group”. IHC and its subsidiaries (including the Insurance
Group) are sometimes collectively referred to as the "Company", or “IHC”, or are implicit in the terms
“we”, “us” and “our”.
Geneve Corporation, a diversified financial holding company, and its affiliated entities, held
approximately 53% of IHC's outstanding common stock at December 31, 2016.
(B)

Consolidation

AMIC Holdings, Inc.
AMIC Holdings, Inc., formerly known as American Independence Corp., (“AMIC”) is an
insurance holding company engaged in the insurance and reinsurance business. At December 31, 2015,
the Company owned approximately 92% of its outstanding common stock. On August 31, 2016, IHC
took AMIC private by way of a statutory “short-form" merger. The Company paid $18,111,000 for the
remaining shares of AMIC common stock owned by noncontrolling interests and as a result, the
Company now owns all of the outstanding common stock of AMIC. In connection with the transaction,
$2,200,000 was charged to paid-in capital representing: (i) the difference between the fair value of the
consideration paid for the shares and the carrying amount of noncontrolling interests; plus (ii) specific,
direct costs of the transaction.
In 2015, IHC purchased shares of AMIC common stock increasing its ownership interest in
AMIC from 90% to approximately 92%.

90

Effects of Ownership Changes in Subsidiaries
The following table summarizes the effects of any changes in the Company’s ownership interests
in its less than wholly owned subsidiaries on IHC’s equity for the years indicated (in thousands).
2016
Changes in IHC’s paid-in capital:
Purchases of AMIC shares
Purchase remaining IPA Family, LLC interests
Net transfers from (to) noncontrolling interests

(C)

2015

2014

$

(2,200)
-

$

(199)
311

$

-

$

(2,200)

$

112

$

-

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of IHC and its consolidated
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect: (i) the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; and (ii) the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
On March 31, 2016, the Company sold Risk Solutions, its managing general underwriter of
excess or stop-loss insurance for self-insured employer groups that desire to manage the risk of large
medical claims (“Medical Stop-Loss”). In addition, under the purchase and sale agreement, all of the inforce stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and Independence American produced by Risk
Solutions was 100% co-insured as of January 1, 2016. IHC’s block of medical stop-loss business is in
run-off. The sale of Risk Solutions and exit from the medical stop-loss business represents a strategic shift
that will have a major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results. The disposal transaction
qualified for reporting as discontinued operations in the first quarter of 2016 as a result of the Board of
Directors commitment to a plan for its disposal in January 2016. The assets, liabilities, and related income
and expenses associated with the disposal group are presented as discontinued operations in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and Notes thereto for all periods presented. The results
of discontinued operations reflect the operations of the disposed MGUs (see Note 3). The run-off of
IHC’s remaining block of medical stop-loss business is in continuing operations.
Effective September 1, 2015 (“Deconsolidation Date”), pursuant to the terms of a contribution
agreement, IHC contributed all of its shares in its subsidiary, IHC Health Solutions, Inc. (“IHC Health
Solutions”) to Ebix Health Exchange, a newly formed joint venture with Ebix, Inc. (“Ebix”), and, as a
result, IHC deconsolidated IHC Health Solutions (see Note 7). In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the operating results of IHC Health Solutions
prior to the Deconsolidation Date. Subsequent to the Deconsolidation Date, the Company’s equity interest
in the joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
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(D)

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior year’s Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto have been
reclassified to conform to the 2016 presentation, primarily for the effects of discontinued operations.
(E)

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value, and include principally
interest-bearing deposits at brokers, money market instruments and U.S. Treasury securities with original
maturities of less than 91 days. Investments with original maturities of 91 days to one year are considered
short-term investments and are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.
The following is a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets to the ending cash and cash equivalents, including discontinued operations, as reported in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as of December 31 of each year indicated (in thousands):
December 31,
2015

2016

2014

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents attributable to discontinued operations

$

22,010
-

$

17,500
1,671

$

23,408
1,675

Cash and cash equivalents, including discontinued operations

$

22,010

$

19,171

$

25,083

(F)

Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

Securities purchased under agreements to resell ("resale agreements") are carried at the amounts
at which the securities will be subsequently resold as specified in the agreements. Resale agreements are
utilized to invest excess funds on a short-term basis. At December 31, 2016, the Company had
$28,962,000 invested in resale agreements, all of which settled on January 3, 2017 and were subsequently
reinvested. The Company maintains control of securities purchased under resale agreements, values the
collateral on a daily basis and obtains additional collateral, if necessary, to protect the Company in the
event of default by the counterparties.
(G)

Investment Securities

(i) Investments in fixed maturities, redeemable preferred securities and equity securities are
accounted for as follows:
(a) Securities that are held for trading purposes are carried at estimated fair value ("fair
value"). Changes in fair value are credited or charged, as appropriate, to net realized investment gains
(losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
(b) Securities not held for trading purposes that may or may not be held to maturity
("available-for-sale securities") are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses deemed temporary,
net of deferred income taxes, are credited or charged, as appropriate, to other comprehensive income or
loss. Premiums and discounts on debt securities purchased at other than par value are amortized and
accreted, respectively, to interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Income, using the constant
yield method over the period to maturity.
(ii) Gains or losses on sales of securities are determined on the basis of specific identification and
are recorded in net realized investment gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Income on the
trade date.
(iii) Fair value is determined using quoted market prices when available. In some cases, we use
quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets and/or model-derived valuations where
inputs are observable in active markets. When there are limited or inactive trading markets, we use
industry-standard pricing methodologies, including discounted cash flow models, whose inputs are based
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on management assumptions and available current market information. Further, we retain independent
pricing vendors to assist in valuing certain instruments. Most of the securities in our portfolio are
classified in either Level 1 or Level 2 of the Fair Value Hierarchy.
The Company periodically reviews and assesses the vendor’s qualifications and the design and
appropriateness of its pricing methodologies. Management will on occasion challenge pricing
information on certain individual securities and, through communications with the vendor, obtain
information about the assumptions, inputs and methodologies used in pricing those securities, and
corroborate it against documented pricing methodologies. Validation procedures are in place to determine
completeness and accuracy of pricing information, including, but not limited to: (i) review of exception
reports that (a) identify any zero or un-priced securities; (b) identify securities with no price change; and
(c) identify securities with significant price changes; (ii) performance of trend analyses; (iii) periodic
comparison of pricing to alternative pricing sources; and (iv) comparison of pricing changes to
expectations based on rating changes, benchmarks or control groups. In certain circumstances, pricing is
unavailable from the vendor and broker-pricing information is used to determine fair value. In these
instances, management will assess the quality of the data sources, the underlying assumptions and the
reasonableness of the broker quotes based on the current market information available. To determine if an
exception represents an error, management will often have to exercise judgment. Procedures to resolve an
exception vary depending on the significance of the security and its related class, the frequency of the
exception, the risk of material misstatement, and the availability of information for the security. These
procedures include, but are not limited to; (i) a price challenge process with the vendor; (ii) pricing from a
different vendor; (iii) a reasonableness review; and (iv) a change in price based on better information,
such as an actual market trade, among other things. Management considers all facts and relevant
information obtained during the above procedures to determine the proper classification of each security
in the Fair Value Hierarchy.
(iv) The Company reviews its investment securities regularly and determines whether other-thantemporary impairments have occurred. The factors considered by management in its regular review to
identify and recognize other-than-temporary impairment losses on fixed maturities include, but are not
limited to: the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; the Company's
intent to sell, or be required to sell, the debt security before the anticipated recovery of its remaining
amortized cost basis; the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in
ratings announced by one or more rating agencies; subordinated credit support; whether the issuer of a
debt security has remained current on principal and interest payments; current expected cash flows;
whether the decline in fair value appears to be issuer specific or, alternatively, a reflection of general
market or industry conditions including the effect of changes in market interest rates. If the Company
intends to sell a debt security, or it is more likely than not that it would be required to sell a debt security
before the recovery of its amortized cost basis, the entire difference between the security's amortized cost
basis and its fair value at the balance sheet date would be recognized by a charge to total other-thantemporary impairment losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income. If a decline in fair value of a debt
security is judged by management to be other-than-temporary and; (i) the Company does not intend to sell
the security; and (ii) it is not more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security prior to
recovery of the security’s amortized cost, the Company assesses whether the present value of the cash
flows to be collected from the security is less than its amortized cost basis. To the extent that the present
value of the cash flows generated by a debt security is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss
exists. For any such security, the impairment is bifurcated into (a) the amount of the total impairment
related to the credit loss, and (b) the amount of the total impairment related to all other factors. The
amount of the other-than-temporary impairment related to the credit loss is recognized by a charge to total
other-than-temporary impairment losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income, establishing a new cost
basis for the security. The amount of the other-than-temporary impairment related to all other factors is
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). It is reasonably possible that further declines in
estimated fair values of such investments, or changes in assumptions or estimates of anticipated
recoveries and/or cash flows, may cause further other-than-temporary impairments in the near term,
which could be significant.
In assessing corporate debt securities for other-than-temporary impairment, the Company
evaluates the ability of the issuer to meet its debt obligations and the value of the company or specific
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collateral securing the debt position. For mortgage-backed securities where loan level data is not
available, the Company uses a cash flow model based on the collateral characteristics. Assumptions about
loss severity and defaults used in the model are primarily based on actual losses experienced and defaults
in the collateral pool. Prepayment speeds, both actual and estimated, are also considered. The cash flows
generated by the collateral securing these securities are then determined with these default, loss severity
and prepayment assumptions. These collateral cash flows are then utilized, along with consideration for
the issue’s position in the overall structure, to determine the cash flows associated with the mortgagebacked security held by the Company. In addition, the Company evaluates other asset-backed securities
for other-than-temporary impairment by examining similar characteristics referenced above for mortgagebacked securities. The Company evaluates U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government
corporations, U.S. Government agencies, and obligations of states and political subdivisions for otherthan-temporary impairment by examining the terms and collateral of the security.
Equity securities may experience other-than-temporary impairment in the future based on the
prospects for full recovery in value in a reasonable period of time and the Company’s ability and intent to
hold the security to recovery. If a decline in fair value is judged by management to be other-thantemporary or management does not have the intent or ability to hold a security, a loss is recognized by a
charge to total other-than-temporary impairment losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income. For the
purpose of other-than-temporary impairment evaluations, redeemable preferred stocks are evaluated in a
manner similar to debt securities. Declines in the creditworthiness of the issuer of debt securities with
both debt and equity-like features are evaluated using the equity model in consideration of other-thantemporary impairment.
Subsequent increases and decreases, if not an other-than-temporary impairment, in the fair value
of available-for-sale securities that were previously impaired, are recorded in other comprehensive
income (loss).
(H)

Other Investments

Other investments primarily consist of limited partnership interests carried on the equity method,
which approximates the Company's equity in the underlying net assets of the partnership. Equity income
or loss on partnership interests is credited or charged, as appropriate, to the Consolidated Statements of
Income. For cost method investments, dividends received are recognized in earnings to the extent that
they were distributed from the net accumulated earnings of the investee. Dividends received in excess of
the investee’s net accumulated earnings are considered a return of investment and are recorded as
reductions of cost of the investment.
(I)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment of $2,029,000 and $1,523,000 are included in other assets at December
31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $3,348,000 and
$6,255,000, respectively.
Improvements are capitalized while repair and maintenance costs are charged to operations as
incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment has been provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements has been provided
on the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.
(J)

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill carrying amounts are evaluated for impairment, at least annually, at the reporting unit
level that is equivalent to an operating segment. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, further evaluation is required to determine if a write-down of goodwill is required. In
determining the fair value of each reporting unit, we used an income approach, applying a discounted
cash flow method that included a residual value. Based on historical experience, we make assumptions as
to: (i) expected future performance and future economic conditions, (ii) projected operating earnings, (iii)
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projected new and renewal business as well as profit margins on such business, and (iv) a discount rate
that incorporated an appropriate risk level for the reporting unit. Any impairment of goodwill would be
charged to expense.
Other intangible assets are amortized to expense over their estimated useful lives and are subject
to impairment testing. Any impairment of other intangible assets would be charged to expense.
(K)

Insurance Liabilities

Policy Benefits and Claims
The Company maintains loss reserves to cover its estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses, where material, including legal, other fees, and costs not associated with specific
claims but related to the claims payment function), for reported and unreported claims incurred as of the
end of each accounting period. These loss reserves are based on actuarial assumptions and are maintained
at levels that are in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Many factors could affect these reserves, including
economic and social conditions, frequency and severity of claims, medical trend resulting from the
influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, and
changes in doctrines of legal liability and damage awards in litigation. Therefore, the Company’s reserves
are necessarily based on estimates, assumptions and analysis of historical experience. The Company’s
results depend upon the variation between actual claims experience and the assumptions used in
determining reserves and pricing products. Reserve assumptions and estimates require significant
judgment and, therefore, are inherently uncertain. The Company cannot determine with precision the
ultimate amounts that will be paid for actual claims or the timing of those payments. The Company's
estimate of loss represents management's best estimate of the Company's liability at the balance sheet
date.
Loss reserves differ for short-duration and long-duration insurance policies, including annuities.
Reserves are based on approved actuarial methods, but necessarily include assumptions about expenses,
mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and future yield on related investments.
All of the Company’s short-duration contracts are generated from its accident, health, disability
and pet insurance business, and are accounted for based on actuarial estimates of the amount of loss
inherent in that period’s claims, including losses incurred for which claims have not been reported. Shortduration contract loss estimates rely on actuarial observations of ultimate loss experience for similar
historical events.
Specialty Health
For the Specialty Health business, incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims liabilities plus
expected development on reported claims are calculated using standard actuarial methods and
practices. The “primary” assumption in the determination of Specialty Health reserves is that historical
Claim Development Patterns are representative of future Claim Development Patterns. Factors that may
affect this assumption include changes in claim payment processing times and procedures, changes in
time delay in submission of claims, and the incidence of unusually large claims. Liabilities for policy
benefits and claims for specialty health medical and disability coverage are computed using completion
factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical premium and claim data. The
reserving analysis includes a review of claim processing statistical measures and large claim early
notifications; the potential impacts of any changes in these factors are not material. The Company has
business that is serviced by third-party administrators. From time to time, there are changes in the timing
of claims processing due to any number of factors including, but not limited to, system conversions and
staffing changes during the year. These changes are monitored by the Company and the effects of these
changes are taken into consideration during the claim reserving process. Other than these considerations,
there have been no significant changes to methodologies and assumptions from the prior year.
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While these calculations are based on standard methodologies, they are estimates based on
historical patterns. To the extent that actual claim payment patterns differ from historical patterns, such
estimated reserves may be redundant or inadequate. The effects of such deviations are evaluated by
considering claim backlog statistics and reviewing the reasonableness of projected claim ratios. Other
factors which may affect the accuracy of policy benefits and claim estimates include the proportion of
large claims which may take longer to adjudicate, changes in billing patterns by providers and changes in
claim management practices such as hospital bill audits.
Disability
The Company’s disability business is primarily comprised of New York short-term disability
(“DBL”) and group disability.
With respect to DBL, the liability for policy benefits and claims for the most recent quarter of
earned premium is established using a Net Loss Ratio methodology. The Net Loss Ratio is determined by
applying the completed prior four quarters of historical Net Loss Ratios to the last quarter of earned
premium. Policy benefits and claims associated with the premium earned prior to the last quarter are
established using a completion factor methodology. The completion factors are developed using the
historical payment patterns for DBL. There have been no significant changes to methodologies and
assumptions from the prior year.
Policy benefits and claims for the Company’s group disability products are developed using
actuarial principles and assumptions that consider, among other things, future offsets and recoveries,
elimination periods, interest rates, probability of rehabilitation or mortality, incidence and termination
rates based on the Company’s experience. The liability for policy benefits and claims is made up of case
reserves, IBNR and reopen reserves and Loss Adjustment Expenses (“LAE”). IBNR and reopen reserves
are calculated by a hind-sight study, which takes historical experience and develops the reserve as a
percentage of premiums from prior years.
The two “primary” assumptions on which group disability reserves are based are: (i) morbidity
levels; and (ii) recovery rates. If morbidity levels increase, for example due to an epidemic or a
recessionary environment, the Company would increase reserves because there would be more new
claims than expected. In regard to the assumed recovery rate, if disabled lives recover more quickly than
anticipated then the existing claims reserves would be reduced; if less quickly, the existing claims
reserves would be increased.
Due to the long-term nature of LTD, in establishing the liability for policy benefits and claims,
the Company must make estimates for case reserves, IBNR, and reserves for LAE. Case reserves
generally equal the actuarial present value of the liability for future benefits to be paid on claims incurred
as of the balance sheet date. The IBNR reserve is established based upon historical trends of existing
incurred claims that were reported after the balance sheet date. The LAE reserve is calculated based on an
actuarial expense study. There have been no significant changes to methodologies and assumptions from
the prior year.
Medical Stop-Loss
Liabilities for policy benefits and claims on medical stop-loss coverage are computed using
completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from actual historical premium and claim data.
Policy benefits and claims for medical stop-loss insurance are more volatile in nature than those for
specialty health medical insurance. This is primarily due to the excess nature of medical stop-loss, with
very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a
given group. The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment
pattern of such claims. Furthermore, these excess claims are highly sensitive to changes in factors such as
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medical trend, provider contracts and medical treatment protocols, adding to the difficulty in predicting
claim values and estimating reserves. Also, because medical stop-loss is in excess of an underlying
benefit plan, there is an additional layer of claim reporting and processing that can affect claim payment
patterns. Finally, changes in the distribution of business by effective month can affect reserve estimates
due to the timing of claim occurrences and the time required to accumulate claims against the stop-loss
deductible.
The two “primary” or “key” assumptions underlying the calculation of policy benefits and claims
for Medical Stop-Loss business are (i) projected Net Loss Ratio, and (ii) claim development patterns. The
projected Net Loss Ratio is set at expected levels consistent with the underlying assumptions (“Projected
Net Loss Ratio”). Claim development patterns are set quarterly as reserve estimates are developed and are
based on recent claim development history (“Claim Development Patterns”). The Company uses the
Projected Net Loss Ratio to establish reserves until developing losses provide a better indication of
ultimate results and it is feasible to set reserves based on Claim Development Patterns. The Company has
concluded that a reasonably likely change in the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity (“Material
Effect”) but a reasonably likely change in the Claim Development Pattern would not have a Material
Effect.
Projected Net Loss Ratio
Generally, during the first twelve months of an underwriting year, policy benefits and claims for
Medical Stop-Loss are first set at the Projected Net Loss Ratio, which is set using assumptions developed
using completed prior experience trended forward. The Projected Net Loss Ratio is the Company’s best
estimate of future performance until such time as developing losses provide a better indication of ultimate
results.
Major factors that affect the Projected Net Loss Ratio assumption in reserving for Medical StopLoss relate to: (i) frequency and severity of claims; (ii) changes in medical trend resulting from the
influences of underlying cost inflation, changes in utilization and demand for medical services, the impact
of new medical technology and changes in medical treatment protocols; and (iii) the adherence to the
Company’s underwriting guidelines.
Claim Development Patterns
Subsequent to the first twelve months of an underwriting year, the Company’s developing losses
provide a better indication of ultimate losses. At this point, claims have developed to a level where Claim
Development Patterns can be applied to generate reasonably reliable estimates of ultimate claim levels.
Development factors based on historical patterns are applied to paid and reported claims to estimate fully
developed claims. Claim Development Patterns are reviewed quarterly as reserve estimates are developed
and are based on recent claim development history. The Company must determine whether changes in
development represent true indications of emerging experience or are simply due to random claim
fluctuations.
The Company also establishes its best estimates of claim development factors to be applied to
more developed treaty year experience. While these factors are based on historical Claim Development
Patterns, actual claim development may vary from these estimates.
Predicting ultimate claims and estimating reserves in Medical Stop-Loss is more complex than
specialty health medical and disability business due to the “excess of loss” nature of these products with
very high deductibles applying to specific claims on any individual claimant and in the aggregate for a
given group. The level of these deductibles makes it more difficult to predict the amount and payment
pattern of such claims. Fluctuations in results for specific coverage are primarily due to the severity and
frequency of individual claims, whereas fluctuations in aggregate coverage are largely attributable to
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frequency of underlying claims rather than severity. Liabilities for first dollar medical reserves and
disability coverages are computed using completion factors and expected Net Loss Ratios derived from
actual historical premium and claim data.
Due to the short-term nature of Medical Stop-Loss, redundancies or deficiencies will typically
emerge during the course of the following year rather than over a number of years. For Medical StopLoss, as noted above, the Company maintains its reserves based on underlying assumptions until it
determines that an adjustment is appropriate based on emerging experience from all of its prior
underwriting years.
Management believes that the Company's methods of estimating the liabilities for policy benefits
and claims provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2016. Changes in the Company's
policy benefits and claims estimates are generally recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.
There have been no significant changes to methodologies and assumptions from the prior year.
Future Policy Benefits
The liability for future policy benefits consists of the liabilities related to insured events for the
Company’s long-duration contracts, primarily its life and annuity products. For traditional life insurance
products, the Company computes the liability for future policy benefits primarily using the net premium
method based on anticipated investment yield, mortality, and withdrawals. These methods are widely
used in the life insurance industry to estimate the liabilities for future policy benefits. Inherent in these
calculations are management and actuarial judgments and estimates that could significantly impact the
ending reserve liabilities and, consequently, operating results. Actual results may differ, and these
estimates are subject to interpretation and change.
Management believes that the Company's methods of estimating the liabilities for future policy
benefits provided appropriate levels of reserves at December 31, 2016. Changes in the Company's future
policy benefits estimates are recorded through a charge or credit to its earnings.
Funds on Deposit
Funds received (net of mortality and expense charges) for certain long-duration contracts
(principally deferred annuities and universal life policies) are credited directly to a policyholder liability
account, funds on deposit. Withdrawals are recorded directly as a reduction of respective policyholders'
funds on deposit. Amounts on deposit were credited at annual rates ranging from 3.0% to 6.0% in 2016,
3.0% to 7.0% in 2015, and 3.0% to 8.0% in 2014.
Other Policyholders’ Funds
Other policyholders’ funds represent interest-bearing liabilities arising from the sale of products,
such as universal life, interest-sensitive life and annuities. Policyholder funds are primarily comprised of
deposits received and interest credited to the benefit of the policyholder less surrenders and withdrawals,
mortality charges and administrative expenses.
Interest credited to policyholder funds represents interest accrued or paid on interest-sensitive life
policies and investment policies. These amounts are reported in insurance benefits, claims and reserves
on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Credit rates for certain annuities and interest-sensitive life
policies are adjusted periodically by the Company to reflect current market conditions, subject to
contractually guaranteed minimum rates.

98

(L)

Deferred Income Taxes

The provision for deferred income taxes is based on the asset and liability method of accounting
for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized by applying enacted statutory
tax rates to temporary differences between amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recognized for the portion of deferred tax
assets that, in management's judgment, is not likely to be realized. A liability for uncertain tax positions
is recorded when it is more likely than not that a tax position will not be sustained upon examination by
taxing authorities. The effect on deferred income taxes of a change in tax rates or laws is recognized in
income tax expense in the period that includes the enactment date.
Interest and penalties are classified as other interest expense and are included in selling, general
and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
(M)

Reinsurance

Amounts paid for or recoverable under reinsurance contracts are included in total assets or total
liabilities as due from reinsurers or due to reinsurers. The cost of reinsurance related to long-duration
contracts is accounted for over the life of the underlying reinsured policies using assumptions consistent
with those used to account for the underlying policies.
(N)

Insurance Premium Revenue Recognition and Policy Charges

Premiums from short-duration medical insurance contracts are intended to cover expected claim
costs resulting from insured events that occur during a fixed period of short duration. The Company has
the ability to not renew the contract or to revise the premium rates at the end of each annual contract
period to cover future insured events. Insurance premiums from annual health contracts are collected
monthly and are recognized as revenue evenly as insurance protection is provided.
Premiums related to long-term and short-term disability contracts are recognized on a pro rata
basis over the applicable contract term.
Traditional life insurance products consist principally of products with fixed and guaranteed
premiums and benefits, primarily term and whole life insurance products. Revenue from these products
are recognized as premium when due.
Annuities and interest-sensitive life contracts, such as universal life and interest sensitive whole
life, are contracts whose terms are not fixed and guaranteed. Premiums from these policies are reported
as funds on deposit. Policy charges consist of fees assessed against the policyholder for cost of insurance
(mortality risk), policy administration and early surrender. These revenues are recognized when assessed
against the policyholder account balance.
Policies that do not subject the Company to significant risk arising from mortality or morbidity
are considered investment contracts. Deposits received for such contracts are reported as other
policyholder funds. Policy charges for investment contracts consist of fees assessed against the
policyholder account for maintenance, administration and surrender of the policy prior to contractually
specified dates, and are recognized when assessed against the policyholder account balance.
(O)

Income Per Common Share

Income per common share is computed using the treasury stock method.
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(P)

Share-Based Compensation

Compensation costs for equity awards, such as stock options and non-vested restricted stock, are
measured based on grant-date fair value and are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income
over the requisite service period (which is usually the vesting period). For such awards with only service
conditions, the Company recognizes the compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period for the entire award.
Compensation costs for liability-classified awards, such as share appreciation rights (“SARs”),
are measured and accrued each reporting period in the Consolidated Statements of Income as the requisite
service or performance conditions are met.
(Q)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In September 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance to
simplify the accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a business
combination and eliminated the requirement to retrospectively account for those adjustments. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
In February 2015, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the evaluation of whether limited
partnerships and similar legal entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities for the
purpose of consolidation. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2015, the FASB issued guidance requiring additional disclosures for short-duration
contracts regarding the liability for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In June 2014, the FASB issued explicit guidance for entities that grant their employees sharebased payments in which the terms of the award include a performance target that affects vesting and
could be achieved after the requisite service period. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
In January 2017, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the test for goodwill impairment by
eliminating Step 2 in the goodwill impairment test. Instead, under the amendments in this Update, an
entity should perform its annual or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount
by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. Additionally, an entity should
consider income tax effects from any tax-deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit
when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. The amendments in this guidance are
effective for public business entities for annual, or any interim, goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued guidance that changes the definition of a business to assist
entities with evaluating when a set of transferred assets and activities is a business. The amendments in
this guidance should be applied prospectively in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017,
including interim periods within those periods, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this
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guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued guidance requiring entities to show the changes in the total
cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalent in the statement of cash flows. The
amendments in this guidance should be applied retrospectively and is effective for public business entities
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with
early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued guidance that amends the consolidation analysis for a
reporting entity that is the single decision maker of a variable interest entity. The amendments in this
guidance require the decision maker’s evaluation of its interests held through related parties that are under
common control on a proportionate basis rather than in their entirety when determining whether it is the
primary beneficiary of that variable interest entity. The amendments in this Update are effective for public
business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within
those fiscal years with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued guidance requiring an entity to recognize the income tax
consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs. The
amendments in this guidance should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulativeeffect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption and are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting
periods within those annual reporting periods. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued guidance that changes how certain cash receipts and cash
payments are presented and classified in the cash flows statement. The amendments in this Update are
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those annual
periods. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance requiring financial assets measured at amortized cost
basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. An allowance for credit losses will be
deducted from the amortized cost basis to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be
collected with changes in the allowance recorded in earnings. Credit losses relating to available-for-sale
debt securities will also be recorded through an allowance for credit losses rather than the currently
applied U.S. GAAP method of taking a permanent impairment of the security, which would be limited to
the amount by which fair value is below the amortized cost. Certain existing requirements used to
evaluate credit losses have been removed. For public entities that are SEC filers, the amendments in this
Update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within
those years. Early adoption is permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The
amendments in this guidance should be applied through a cumulative effect adjustment to retained
earnings upon adoption as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective.
Management is evaluating the requirements and potential impact that the adoption of this guidance will
have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued guidance that simplify several aspects of accounting for sharebased payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either
equity or liabilities, and classification in the statement of cash flows. The amendments in this guidance
are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those
annual periods. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2016, the FASB issued guidance that eliminates the requirement for retroactive
adjustments on the date that a previously held investment qualifies for the equity method of accounting as
a result of an increase in ownership interest or degree of influence. The amendments in this guidance are
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2016 and should be applied prospectively upon their effective date. The adoption of this guidance is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance that requires lessees to recognize the assets and
liabilities that arise from leases, including operating leases, on the statement of financial position. The
amendments in this guidance are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2018, including
interim periods within those fiscal years, using a modified retrospective approach. The adoption of this
guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued guidance that eliminates the requirement to classify equity
securities with readily determinable fair values as trading or available-for-sale. The guidance requires
equity securities, other than those that result in consolidation or are accounted for under the equity
method, (including other ownership interests, such as partnerships, unincorporated joint ventures, and
limited liability companies) to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through
net income, simplifies the impairment assessment of equity securities without readily determinable fair
values and requires changes in disclosure requirements. For public entities, the amendments in this
Update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted in certain circumstances. The amendments in this Update
should be applied by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of
the fiscal year of adoption. The amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable fair
values (including disclosure requirements) should be applied prospectively to equity investments that
exist as of the date of adoption of the guidance. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet or IHC’s stockholders’ equity.
In May 2014, the FASB issued revenue recognition guidance for entities that either enter into
contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enter into contracts for the transfer of
nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards such as insurance
contracts or lease contracts. The amendment provides specific steps that an entity should apply in order to
achieve its main objective which is recognizing revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. In 2016, additional guidance and technical corrections were
issued to clarify certain aspects of the implementation guidance and to clarify the identification of
performance obligations. In August 2015, the effective date of this guidance has been deferred. For public
entities, this guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017,
including interim periods within that reporting period, and requires one of two specified retrospective
methods of application. Earlier application is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. The Company
anticipates that any impact will only relate to contracts with customers outside the scope of Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 944, Financial Services - Insurance. Our administrative and other service
contracts that will be subject to the amendments in this Update are recorded in the Fee Income line item
of the Consolidated Statement of Income and represents approximately 5% of our consolidated revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2016. Management is still in the process of evaluating the impact that
the adoption of this guidance will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the
method of adoption that we will ultimately choose.
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Note 2.

Income Per Common Share

Included in the diluted earnings per share calculation for 2016, 2015 and 2014 are 217,000,
170,000 and 165,000 of incremental common shares, respectively, primarily from the dilutive effect of
share-based payment awards.
The following is a reconciliation of income available to common shareholders used to calculate
income per share for the periods indicated (in thousands):
2016
Income from continuing operations, net of tax
Less: Income from continuing operations attributable to
noncontrolling interests
Income from continuing operations attributable to IHC
common shareholders
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Less: Income from discontinued operations attributable to
noncontrolling interests

$

22,510

2015
$

(458)

27,974

2014
$

(405)

15,021
(451)

$

22,052

$

27,569

$

14,570

$

110,804

$

2,548

$

1,900

(9,558)

(173)

(177)

Income from discontinued operations attributable to
IHC common shareholders

$

101,246

$

2,375

$

1,723

Net income attributable to IHC

$

123,298

$

29,944

$

16,293

Note 3.

Discontinued Operations

On March 31, 2016, IHC and a subsidiary of AMIC sold the stock of Risk Solutions to Swiss Re
Corporate Solutions, a division of Swiss Re (“Swiss Re”). In addition, under the purchase and sale
agreement, all of the in-force stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and Independence American
produced by Risk Solutions is co-insured by Westport Insurance Corporation (“Westport”), Swiss Re’s
largest US carrier, as of January 1, 2016. The aggregate purchase price was $152,500,000 in cash, subject
to adjustments and settlements. Approximately 89% of the purchase price was allocated to AMIC and its
subsidiaries, with the balance being paid to Standard Security Life and other IHC subsidiaries. The
Company recorded a gain of $100,819,000, net of taxes and amounts attributable to noncontrolling
interests, as a result of the transaction. The aforementioned transaction, which includes the sale of Risk
Solutions and the corresponding coinsurance agreement, is collectively referred to as the “Risk Solutions
Sale and Coinsurance Transaction”. IHC’s block of Medical Stop-Loss business is in run-off. The sale of
Risk Solutions and exit from the medical stop-loss business represents a strategic shift that will have a
major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results. The disposal transaction qualified for
reporting as discontinued operations in the first quarter of 2016 as a result of the Board of Directors
commitment to a plan for its disposal in January 2016. Aside from reinsurance and marketing of Westport
small group stop-loss, there will be no further involvement with the discontinued operation.
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The following is a reconciliation of the major line items constituting the pretax profit of
discontinued operations, including adjustments for amounts previously eliminated in consolidation, for
the periods indicated (in thousands):
2016
Revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses

$

Pretax profit of discontinued operations
Gain on disposal of discontinued
operations, pretax
Income from discontinued operations,
before income taxes
Income taxes on discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

6,406
5,689

2015
$

2014

2,373
(1,937)

$

3,585
1,402

717

4,310

2,183

116,900

-

-

117,617
6,813

4,310
1,762

2,183
283

110,804

$

2,548

$

1,900

The following is a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of major classes of assets and liabilities
for discontinued operations, including adjustments for amounts previously eliminated in consolidation,
for the periods indicated (in thousands):
December 31,
2016
2015
Major classes of assets included in discontinued operations:
Cash
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Other assets

$

-

$

1,671
5,664
919
4,677

Assets attributable to discontinued operations

$

-

$

12,931

Major classes of liabilities included in discontinued operations:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

68

$

(15)

$

68

$

(15)

Liabilities attributable to discontinued operations
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Total operating cash flows from discontinued operations for 2016, 2015 and 2014 were $0,
$128,000 and $1,479,000, respectively. Total investing cash flows from discontinued operations for 2016,
2015 and 2014 were $0, $(132,000) and $(154,000), respectively. In 2016, the Company elected to
classify the proceeds received from the sale of discontinued operations in the investing activities section
of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
In connection with the Risk Solutions Sale and Coinsurance Transaction in March 2016, AMIC
utilized a significant amount of its Federal NOL carryforwards and made a corresponding adjustment to
its valuation allowance (see Note 12). On a consolidated basis, the Company recorded income taxes on
discontinued operations of $6,813,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016, consisting of $3,819,000 of
state income taxes and $2,994,000 of Federal taxes. Federal income taxes differ from applying the Federal
statutory income tax rate of 35% to pretax income from discontinued operations principally as the result
of tax benefits from state income taxes and AMIC’s $38,169,000 decrease in its valuation allowance, net
of a tax provision from limits on compensation deductions.
Note 4.

Investment Securities

The cost (amortized cost with respect to certain fixed maturities), gross unrealized gains, gross
unrealized losses and fair value of investment securities are as follows for the periods indicated (in
thousands):
December 31, 2016
GROSS
GROSS
UNREALIZED
UNREALIZED
GAINS
LOSSES

AMORTIZED
COST
FIXED MATURITIES
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:
Corporate securities
CMOs - residential (1)
U.S. Government obligations
Agency MBS - residential (2)
GSEs (3)
States and political subdivisions
Foreign government obligations
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total fixed maturities
EQUITY SECURITIES
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:
Common stocks
Nonredeemable preferred stocks
Total equity securities

FAIR
VALUE

$

192,976
6,021
43,417
22
10,301
191,146
5,098
11,454

$

209
8
133
1
1
780
13
96

$

(5,490)
(116)
(441)
(422)
(5,115)
(157)
(448)

$

187,695
5,913
43,109
23
9,880
186,811
4,954
11,102

$

460,435

$

1,241

$

(12,189)

$

449,487

$

1,612
3,588

$

178
30

$

(75)

$

1,790
3,543

$

5,200

$

208

$

(75)

$

5,333
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December 31, 2015
GROSS
GROSS
UNREALIZED
UNREALIZED
GAINS
LOSSES

AMORTIZED
COST
FIXED MATURITIES
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:
Corporate securities
CMOs - residential (1)
CMOs - commercial
U.S. Government obligations
Agency MBS - residential (2)
GSEs (3)
States and political subdivisions
Foreign government obligations
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total fixed maturities
EQUITY SECURITIES
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:
Common stocks
Nonredeemable preferred stocks
Total equity securities
(1)
(2)
(3)

FAIR
VALUE

$

172,621
3,068
899
44,738
34
11,814
194,364
2,318
4,036

$

93
2
296
120
1
2
2,159
12
101

$

(5,868)
(14)
(64)
(254)
(1,857)
(6)
(14)

$

166,846
3,056
1,195
44,794
35
11,562
194,666
2,324
4,123

$

433,892

$

2,786

$

(8,077)

$

428,601

$

4,926
3,588

$

56

$

(142)
(2)

$

4,784
3,642

$

8,514

$

56

$

(144)

$

8,426

Collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”).
Mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”).
Government-sponsored enterprises (“GSEs’) are private enterprises established and chartered by the Federal
Government or its various insurance and lease programs which carry the full faith and credit obligation of the U.S.
Government.

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturities available-for-sale at December 31, 2016, by
contractual maturity, are shown below (in thousands). Expected maturities will differ from contractual
maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties. CMOs and MBSs are shown separately, as they are not due at a single maturity.
AMORTIZED
COST
Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through ten years
Due after ten years
CMOs and MBSs

FAIR
VALUE

$

4,634
120,448
157,908
161,122
16,323

$

4,639
118,913
154,373
155,747
15,815

$

460,435

$

449,487

106

The following tables summarize, for all available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position,
the aggregate fair value and gross unrealized loss by length of time those securities that have continuously
been in an unrealized loss position for the periods indicated (in thousands):
December 31,, 2016
Less than 12 Months
Fair
Value
Corporate securities
CMOs - residential
U.S. Government obligations
GSEs
States and political subdivisions
Foreign government obligations
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total fixed maturities

$

Nonredeemable preferred stocks
Total equity securities
Total temporarily impaired
securities

145,205
5,038
28,406
3,640
144,357
3,738
330,384

Unrealized
Losses
$

826
826

$

Number of securities in an
unrealized loss position

331,210

12 Months or Longer

3,818
116
441
166
4,561
157
9,259

Fair
Value
$

25
25

$

9,284

Unrealized
Losses

19,841
6,220
18,132
3,315
47,508

$

1,672
256
554
448
2,930

1,277
1,277

$

156

Total
Fair
Value
$

50
50

48,785

$

165,046
5,038
28,406
9,860
162,489
3,738
3,315
377,892

Unrealized
Losses
$

5,490
116
441
422
5,115
157
448
12,189

2,103
2,103

2,980

$

23

379,995

75
75

$

12,264
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December 31, 2015
Less than 12 Months
Fair
Value
Corporate securities
CMO’s - residential
U.S. Government obligations
GSEs
States and political subdivisions
Foreign government obligations
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total fixed maturities

$

Common stocks
Nonredeemable preferred stocks
Total equity securities
Total temporarily impaired
securities
Number of securities in an
unrealized loss position

101,903
2,867
19,809
6,539
68,898
484
3,749
204,249

Unrealized
Losses
$

4,784
1,324
6,108

$

210,357

12 Months or Longer

2,559
14
64
128
780
6
14
3,565

Fair
Value
$

142
2
144

$

3,709

Unrealized
Losses

55,217
4,997
31,351
91,565

$

-

$

99

Total

91,565

31

3,309
126
1,077
4,512

Fair
Value
$

-

$

4,512

157,120
2,867
19,809
11,536
100,249
484
3,749
295,814

Unrealized
Losses
$

4,784
1,324
6,108

$

301,922

142
2
144

$

130

Substantially all of the unrealized losses on fixed maturities available-for-sale at December 31,
2016 and December 31, 2015 relate to investment grade securities and are attributable to changes in
market interest rates. Because the Company does not intend to sell, nor is it more likely than not that the
Company will have to sell such investments before recovery of their amortized cost bases, which may be
maturity, the Company does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at
December 31, 2016.
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5,868
14
64
254
1,857
6
14
8,077

8,221

The following table summarizes the Company’s net investment income for the years indicated (in
thousands):
2016
Fixed maturities
Equity securities
Cash, cash equivalents and other short-term investments
Equity method investments
Other

$

2015

14,960
676
1,088
62
(135)

Investment income, gross
Investment expenses

$

15,364
845
66
405
661

16,651
(81)

Net investment income

$

2014
$

18,504
943
74
1,101
1,071

17,341
(104)

16,570

$

17,237

21,693
(79)
$

21,614

The following table summarizes the Company’s net realized investment gains (losses) for the
years indicated (in thousands):
2016
Available-for-sale securities:
Fixed maturities
Common stocks
Preferred stocks
Total available-for-sale securities

$

Trading securities
Total realized gains
Unrealized gains (losses) on trading securities:
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on trading securities
Total unrealized gains (losses) on trading securities
Gains (losses) on other investments
Net realized investment gains

$

4,275
263
4,538

2015

$

3,533
1,519
151
5,203

2014

$

7,642
(5)
7,637

(409)
4,129

(1,653)
3,550

506
8,143

289
289

(452)
(452)

(451)
(451)

84

(4)

4,502

$

3,094

(4)
$

7,688

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, proceeds from sales of available-for-sale
securities were $414,997,000, $640,902,000 and $355,740,000, respectively, and the company realized
gross gains of $5,356,000, $6,412,000 and $9,289,000, respectively, and gross losses of $480,000,
$805,000 and $741,000, respectively, on those sales.
We recognize other-than-temporary impairment losses in earnings in the period that we
determine: 1) we intend to sell the security; 2) it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the
security before recovery of its amortized cost basis; or 3) the security has a credit loss. Any non-credit
portion of the other-than-temporary impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognized an other-than-temporary impairment
loss of $1,475,000 on certain fixed maturities available-for-sale. The Company determined that it is more
likely than not that we will sell the securities before the recovery of their amortized cost basis. The
Company recognized $228,000 of other-than-temporary impairment losses in earnings on equity
securities available-for-sale during the year ended December 31, 2015 due to the length of time and extent
an equity security was below cost. The Company did not recognize any other-than-temporary
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impairments on available-for-sale securities in 2014.
Credit losses were recognized on certain fixed maturities for which each security also had an
impairment loss recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). The rollforward of these credit losses
were as follows for the years indicated (in thousands):
2016

2015

2014

Balance at beginning of year
Securities sold

$

473
(473)

$

473
-

$

473
-

Balance at end of period

$

-

$

473

$

473

The after-tax portion of other-than-temporary impairments included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 2016 and 2015 consists of $0 and $276,000, respectively,
related to CMO securities.
Note 5.

Fair Value Disclosures

For all financial and non-financial assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Company utilizes valuation techniques based upon observable and unobservable inputs.
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs
reflect our market expectations. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:
Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose
inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.
Level 3 - Instruments where significant value drivers are unobservable.
The following section describes the valuation methodologies we use to measure different assets
and liabilities at fair value.
Investments in fixed maturities and equity securities:
Available-for-sale securities included in Level 1 are equities with quoted market prices. Level 2 is
primarily comprised of our portfolio of government securities, agency mortgage-backed securities,
corporate fixed income securities, foreign government obligations, collateralized mortgage obligations,
municipals and GSEs that were priced with observable market inputs. Level 3 securities consist primarily
of municipal tax credit strips and, in 2015, also include CMO securities backed by commercial mortgages.
For these securities, we use industry-standard pricing methodologies, including discounted cash flow
models, whose inputs are based on management’s assumptions and available market information.
Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of CMO’s are prepayment rates,
probability of default, and loss severity in the event of default. Significant increases (decreases) in any of
those inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement. Generally,
a change in the assumption used for the probability of default is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the assumption used for loss severity and a directionally opposite change in the assumption
used for prepayment rates. Further we retain independent pricing vendors to assist in valuing certain
instruments.
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Trading securities:
Trading securities included in Level 1 are equity securities with quoted market prices.
Contingent liabilities:
At December 31, 2015, contingent liabilities classified in Level 3 include; (i) a contingent
liability assumed in connection with an acquisition (see Note 7) related to an earn-out agreement whereby
significant unobservable inputs were based on projected income; and (ii) a contingent liability recognized
in connection with the deconsolidation of a former subsidiary and joint venture transaction (see Note 7)
whereby significant unobservable inputs were based on projected cash flows.
The following tables present our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis for the periods indicated (in thousands):
December 31, 2016
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Fixed maturities available-for-sale:
Corporate securities
CMOs - residential
US Government obligations
Agency MBS - residential
GSEs
States and political subdivisions
Foreign government obligations
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total fixed maturities

$

Equity securities available-for-sale:
Common stocks
Nonredeemable preferred stocks
Total equity securities
Trading securities - equities
Total trading securities
Total Financial Assets

$

11,102
11,102

$

187,695
5,913
43,109
23
9,880
184,778
4,954
436,352

$

2,033
2,033

Total

$

187,695
5,913
43,109
23
9,880
186,811
4,954
11,102
449,487

1,790
3,543
5,333

-

-

1,790
3,543
5,333

592
592

-

-

592
592

17,027

$

110

436,352

$

2,033

$

455,412

December 31, 2015
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Fixed maturities available-for-sale:
Corporate securities
CMOs - residential
CMOs - commercial
US Government obligations
Agency MBS - residential
GSEs
States and political subdivisions
Foreign government obligations
Redeemable preferred stocks
Total fixed maturities

$

4,123
4,123

$

166,846
3,056
44,794
35
11,562
192,487
2,324
421,104

$

1,195
2,179
3,374

Total

$

166,846
3,056
1,195
44,794
35
11,562
194,666
2,324
4,123
428,601

Equity securities available-for-sale:
Common stocks
Nonredeemable preferred stocks
Total equity securities

4,784
3,642
8,426

-

-

4,784
3,642
8,426

Trading securities - equities
Total trading securities

1,259
1,259

-

-

1,259
1,259

Total Financial Assets
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Interest rate swap
Contingent liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

$

13,808

$

421,104

$

3,374

$

438,286

$

-

$

11
11

$

1,650
1,650

$

11
1,650
1,661

$

$

$

$

It is the Company’s policy to recognize transfers of assets and liabilities between levels of the fair
value hierarchy at the end of a reporting period. The Company does not transfer out of Level 3 and into
Level 2 until such time as observable inputs become available and reliable or the range of available
independent prices narrow.
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The Company did not transfer any securities between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 in 2016 or
2015. The following table presents the changes in fair value of our Level 3 financial instruments for the
periods indicated (in thousands):

CMOs
Commercial
$

Balance at December 31, 2014

953

Financial Assets:
States and
Political
Subdivisions
$

2,314

Financial Liabilities
Total
Contingent
Level 3
Liabilities
Liabilities

Total
Level 3
Assets
$

3,267

$

-

$

-

Assumed in acquisition

-

-

-

1,000

1,000

Increases (decreases) recognized in earnings:
Gain on sale of subsidiary to
joint venture
Net investment income
Other income

-

-

-

1,501
(736)
(115)

1,501
(736)
(115)

Gains (losses) included in other
comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized gains (losses)

318

(47)

271

-

-

Repayments and amortization of
fixed maturities

(76)

(88)

(164)

-

-

Balance at December 31, 2015

1,195

2,179

3,374

1,650

1,650

141
-

-

141
-

(1,038)
88

(1,038)
88

(296)

(40)

(336)

-

-

-

-

-

(700)

(700)

(74)
(966)

(106)
-

(180)
(966)

-

-

Increases (decreases) recognized in earnings:
Net investment income
Net realized investment gains
Other income
Gains (losses) included in other
comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized gains (losses)
Payment of contingent liability
Repayments and amortization of
fixed maturities
Sales
$

Balance at December 31, 2016

-

$

2,033

$

2,033

$

-

$

-

The following table provides information about the carrying values, estimated fair values and
classification in the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s financial instruments that are not carried at
fair value but are subject to fair value disclosure requirements, for the periods indicated (in thousands):
December 31, 2016
Level 2
Fair
Value

Level 1
Fair
Value
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Short-term investments
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Funds on deposit
Debt and junior subordinated
debt securities

Level 1
Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

December 31, 2015
Level 2
Fair
Carrying
Value
Value

$

6,912

$

-

$

6,912

$

50

$

-

$

50

$

-

$

146,098

$

145,749

$

-

$

173,625

$

173,350

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

43,283

$

43,335
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The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial
instruments that are not carried at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements:
(A)

Funds on Deposit

The Company has two types of funds on deposit. The first type is credited with a current market
interest rate, resulting in a fair value which approximates the carrying amount. The second type carries
fixed interest rates which are higher than current market interest rates. The fair value of these deposits
was estimated by discounting the payments using current market interest rates. The Company's universal
life policies are also credited with current market interest rates, resulting in a fair value which
approximates the carrying amount. Both types of funds on deposit are included in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.
(B)

Debt

The fair value of debt with fixed and variable interest rates approximates its carrying amount and
is included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Note 6.

Other Investments, Including Variable Interest Entities
Other investments consist of the following for the periods indicated (in thousands):
December 31,
2016

Equity method investments
Cost method investments
Other investments and securities, at cost

2015

$

19,747
3,750
37

$

18,944
500
2,094

$

23,534

$

21,538

Included in equity method investments above is our investment in Ebix Health Exchange. Ebix
Health Exchange administers various lines of health insurance for IHC’s insurance subsidiaries. Effective
July 1, 2016, Ebix exercised its right to increase its ownership in Ebix Health Exchange by purchasing an
additional 11% of Ebix Health Exchange for $2,000,000. As a result of the transaction, the Company’s
ownership interest in Ebix Health Exchange decreased to 49%. In accordance with the terms of the
original sale and joint venture agreement, IHC was obligated to fund any negative cash flow through
December 31, 2016 in the form of a loan to the joint venture. The remaining balance of the loan at
December 31, 2016 was converted to capital. The carrying value of the Company’s equity investment in
Ebix Health Exchange amounted to $8,770,000 and $9,838,000 at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Ebix Health Exchange reported a net loss of $1,781,000 and $1,007,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and the period ended December 31, 2015, respectively. The Company recorded
$743,000 and $271,000 of the losses for 2016 and 2015 in earnings and reduced the contingent liability,
previously recognized on the acquisition date (see Note 7), by $1,038,000 and $736,000 in 2016 and 2015
for cash operating losses for the period.
At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets includes $570,000
and $1,397,000, respectively, of notes and other amounts receivable from Ebix Health Exchange, and
include $938,000 and $405,000, respectively, of administrative fees and other expenses payable to Ebix
Health Exchange, which are included in other assets and accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company’s Consolidated Statements
of Income include $366,000 and $80,000, respectively, in fee income from Ebix Health Exchange, and
include $5,937,000 and $1,477,000, respectively, of administrative fee expenses to Ebix Health
Exchange, which are included in fee income and selling, general and administrative expenses,
respectively.
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During 2016, the Company acquired several other investments, including an equity method
investment and certain cost method investments, for an aggregate $5,250,000.
Other investments in unconsolidated trust subsidiaries were liquidated in connection with the
Company’s redemption of its junior subordinated debt in 2016 (see Note 11).
Variable Interest Entities
Other investments at December 31, 2016 and 2015 include $8,961,000 and $9,106,000,
respectively, of noncontrolling interests in certain limited partnerships that we have determined to be
Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”). The aforementioned VIEs are not required to be consolidated in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements as we are not the primary beneficiary since we do not have
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIEs’ economic performance.
The Company will periodically reassess whether we are the primary beneficiary in any of these
investments. The reassessment process will consider whether we have acquired the power to direct the
most significant activities of the VIEs through changes in governing documents or other circumstances.
Our maximum loss exposure is limited to our combined $8,961,000 carrying value in these equity
investments and we have no future funding obligations to them.
Note 7.

Acquisition and Deconsolidations of Subsidiaries
Acquisition

On April 30, 2015 (the "Acquisition Date"), through a settlement with a former owner, AMIC
increased its ownership in Global Accident Facilities, LLC (“GAF) from 40% to 80%, in order to obtain
control of the business it produced for Independence American. GAF and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the marketing, underwriting and administration of specialty risk insurance, referred to as
Occupational Accident and Injury on Duty for Independence American, which are offered exclusively in
Texas and Massachusetts, respectively. The consideration transferred in exchange for the additional 40%
voting interest consisted of: (i) $325,000 in cash; and (ii) non-monetary consideration, primarily
consisting of the settlement of a pre-existing relationship with a former owner, with a fair value of
$1,195,000 at the Acquisition Date. The fair value of the settlement of the pre-exiting relationship was
based on projected future underwriting results discounted for collectability. The acquisition resulted in
AMIC obtaining control of GAF. Immediately preceding the transaction, AMIC’s carrying value of its
investment in GAF was $1,908,000.
As a result of AMIC obtaining control, the Company has included GAF’s consolidated assets and
liabilities and results of operations, subsequent to the Acquisition Date, in its consolidated financial
results as of and for the periods ended December 31, 2015. Accordingly, the individual line items on the
Consolidated Statements of Income for 2015 reflect approximately eight months of the operations of GAF
with no corresponding amounts for 2014.
On the Acquisition Date, the Company recognized a net pre-tax gain of $503,000 as follows: (i) a
loss of $692,000 was recognized by AMIC as a result of re-measuring its equity interest in GAF to its fair
value of $1,216,000 immediately before the acquisition; and (ii) a gain of $1,195,000 was recognized by
AMIC as a result of settling the pre-existing relationship with the former owner. The net pre-tax gain of
$503,000 is included in the “Other income” line in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Upon the acquisition of a controlling interest, the Company consolidated the assets and liabilities
of GAF. Accordingly, the Company determined the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed from GAF on the Acquisition Date. The following table presents the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of GAF on the Acquisition Date based on their
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respective fair values (in thousands):

Cash
Intangible assets
Other assets

$

836
5,500
1,405

Total identifiable assets

7,741

Other liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Debt

4,369
1,925
3,806

Total liabilities

10,100

Net identifiable liabilities assumed

$

2,359

Other liabilities assumed include a $1,000,000 contingent liability recorded in connection with an
earn-out agreement with a former owner of a subsidiary of GAF. The fair value of the contingent liability
was estimated based on projected income. See Note 5 for further information regarding fair value
measurements.
In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded $5,703,000 of goodwill and
$5,500,000 of intangible assets (see Note 8). None of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill reflects the synergies between GAF and Independence American as GAF was the primary
writer of Occupational Accident and Injury on Duty business for Independence American. Goodwill was
calculated as the excess of the sum of: (i) the acquisition date fair value of total consideration transferred
of $1,520,000; (ii) the acquisition date fair value of the equity interest in GAF immediately preceding the
acquisition of $1,216,000; and (iii) the fair value of the noncontrolling interest in GAF of $608,000 on the
acquisition date; over (iv) the net liabilities of $2,359,000 that were assumed. The enterprise value of
GAF was determined by an independent appraisal using a discounted cash flow model based upon the
projected future earnings of GAF including a control premium. The fair value of the non-controlling
interest was determined based upon their percentage of the GAF enterprise value discounted for a lack of
control.
For the period from the Acquisition Date to December 31, 2015, the Company’s Consolidated
Statement of Income includes revenues and net income of $6,954,000 and $607,000, respectively, from
GAF.
In 2016, the Company paid off the remaining outstanding balance of the aforementioned
contingent liability, amounting to $700,000, in connection with the sale of Accident Insurance Services,
Inc. (“AIS”) discussed below.
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Deconsolidations
A) Accident Insurance Services
On September 30, 2016, the Company sold the assets and the stock of its wholly owned
subsidiary, AIS, to unrelated parties for an aggregate $9,000,000 of cash. Upon the sale, AIS was
deconsolidated from the Company’s financial statements. The Company recognized a loss of $558,000 on
the transaction, pre-tax, which is included in Other Income on the Consolidated Statement of Income in
2016. The loss was measured as the difference between the fair value of the consideration received and:
(i) the carrying amount of the former subsidiary’s assets and liabilities, including certain intangible assets
(see Note 8); (ii) the divestiture of associated goodwill (see Note 8), and (iii) other expenses directly
attributable to the transaction. There will be no further involvement with AIS other than with respect to
the run-out of the business it produced for our insurance companies.
B)

Ebix Health Administration Exchange, Inc.

Effective September 1, 2015, IHC and Ebix, a non-related party and international supplier of OnDemand software and E-commerce services to the insurance, financial and healthcare industries, entered
into a joint venture in which IHC sold its wholly owned administrative subsidiary, IHC Health Solutions
(now known as Ebix Health Administration Exchange, Inc.), in exchange for a 60% ownership interest in
Ebix Health Exchange and $6,000,000 in cash proceeds. Ebix contributed $6,000,000 of cash and a pet
insurance software license, valued by Ebix Health Exchange at $2,000,000, for its 40%. IHC and Ebix
have equal voting interest on the Board of Managers of Ebix Health Exchange. The transaction resulted in
a loss of control over the subsidiary (due to a lack of the majority of the voting interest on the Board of
Managers) and therefore the subsidiary was deconsolidated from the Company’s financial statements.
In 2015, the Company recognized a gain of $9,940,000, pre-tax, on the transaction consisting of:
(i) a pre-tax gain on the deconsolidation of $11,441,000, measured as the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of the retained investment in Ebix Health Exchange less the carrying amount
of the former subsidiary’s net assets; partially offset by (ii) a contingent liability of $1,501,000
representing the Company’s estimated obligation to fund future cash operating losses through December
31, 2016 per the terms of the joint venture agreement. The fair value of the contingent liability was
estimated based on expected future operating cash shortfalls. Approximately $5,441,000 of the pre-tax
gain is attributable to the re-measurement of the retained investment in the former subsidiary to its current
value. The fair value of the retained investment was determined by an independent appraisal using a
discounted cash flow model based upon the projected future earnings.
See Note 6 for more information about our investment in Ebix Health Exchange subsequent to its
deconsolidation in 2015.
C) Innovative Medical Risk Management, Inc.
On December 31, 2015, the Company sold all of the stock of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Innovative Medical Risk Management, Inc. (“IMRM”), to an unrelated party for $1,084,000 cash
consideration. Upon the sale, IMRM was deconsolidated from the Company’s financial statements. The
Company recognized a gain of $679,000 on the transaction, pre-tax, which is included in Other Income
on the Consolidated Statement of Income in 2015. The gain was measured as the difference between the
fair value of the consideration received and the carrying amount of the former subsidiary’s assets and
liabilities. The sale transaction also included an earn-out agreement with the new owners of IMRM. In
accordance with this agreement, the Company could receive additional consideration in the future based
on certain earnings thresholds in 2016 and 2017. Other than the settlement of the aforementioned earn-out
agreement, there will be no further involvement with IMRM.
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Note 8.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in goodwill and goodwill balances by reportable segment are as follows for the periods
indicated (in thousands):
Specialty
Health
Balance at December 31, 2014
Acquisition (see Note 7)
Sale of subsidiary/business (see Note 7)

$

Balance at December 31, 2015
Sale of subsidiary/business (see Note 7)

44,654
5,703
(3,081)

Total
$

44,654
5,703
(3,081)

47,276
(5,703)

Balance at December 31, 2016

$

41,573

47,276
(5,703)
$

41,573

The Company has net other intangible assets of $10,122,000 and $14,598,000 at December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively, which are included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These
intangible assets consist of: (i) finite-lived intangible assets, principally the fair value of acquired agent
and broker relationships, which are subject to amortization; and (ii) indefinite-lived intangible assets
which consist of the estimated fair value of insurance licenses that are not subject to amortization.
The gross carrying amounts of these other intangible assets are as follows for the periods
indicated (in thousands):
December 31, 2016
Gross
Carrying
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization
Finite-lived Intangible Assets:
Agent and broker relationships
Trademarks
Domain
Total finite-lived

$

$

13,052
1,000
14,052

$

$

11,882
25
11,907

December 31, 2015
Gross
Carrying
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization

$

$

18,201
1,000
19,201

2016
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets:
Insurance licenses
Total indefinite-lived

$
$
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$

$

12,497
83
12,580

December 31,
2015

7,977
7,977

$
$

7,977
7,977

Changes in net other intangible assets are as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
2016

2015

2014

Balance at beginning of year
Intangible assets acquired
Sale of subsidiaries/businesses
Amortization expense

$

14,598
1,000
(4,233)
(1,243)

$

10,620
5,500
(122)
(1,400)

$

12,446
(1,826)

Balance at end of year

$

10,122

$

14,598

$

10,620

Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years is as follows (in thousands):
Amortization
Expense

Year
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Note 9.

$

617
487
251
143
126

Reinsurance

The Insurance Group reinsures portions of certain business in order to limit the assumption of
disproportionate risks. Amounts not retained are ceded to other companies on an automatic or facultative
basis. In addition, the Insurance Group participates in various coinsurance treaties on a quota share or
excess basis. The Company is contingently liable with respect to reinsurance in the unlikely event that the
assuming reinsurers are unable to meet their obligations. The ceding of reinsurance does not discharge
the primary liability of the original insurer to the insured.
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The effects of reinsurance on premiums earned and insurance benefits, claims and reserves are
shown below for the periods indicated (in thousands).
ASSUMED
FROM OTHER
COMPANIES

GROSS
AMOUNT

CEDED
TO OTHER
COMPANIES

NET
AMOUNT

Premiums Earned:
December 31, 2016
Accident and health
Life and annuity
Property and liability

$

461,467
57,938
40,697
560,102

$

513,814
46,699
35,812
596,325

$

$

$

482,511
44,407
30,477
557,395

$
$
$

335,968
365,634
276,634

$
December 31, 2015
Accident and health
Life and annuity
Property and liability

$

$
December 31, 2014
Accident and health
Life and annuity
Property and liability

$

19,744
1,595
21,339

$

28,822
4,330
33,152

$

$

$

52,063
6,128
58,191

$
$
$

(5,512)
24,956
50,441

$

$

276,392
42,078
267
318,737

$

126,613
23,078
252
149,943

$

$

$

116,163
20,214
161
136,538

$

418,411
30,321
30,316
479,048

$
$
$

185,225
83,412
1,040

$
$
$

145,231
307,178
326,035

$

$

$

$

204,819
17,455
40,430
262,704

416,023
27,951
35,560
479,534

Insurance benefits, claims and reserves:
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2014

Effective January 1, 2016, all of the in-force stop-loss business of Standard Security Life and
Independence American produced by Risk Solutions was co-insured in connection with the Risk
Solutions Sale and Coinsurance Transaction (see Note 3).
On July 31, 2015, Madison National Life and Standard Security Life together entered into a
coinsurance and sale agreement with an unaffiliated reinsurer, National Guardian Life Insurance
Company, to: (i) cede substantially all of their individual life and annuity policy blocks currently in runoff; and (ii) sell the related infrastructure associated with the administration of such policies. In 2016, a
large block of assumed policies were novated, thereby relieving the Company of its liability with regards
to those policies.
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Note 10.

Policy Benefits and Claims

Policy benefits and claims is the liability for unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses. It is
comprised of unpaid claims and estimated IBNR reserves. Summarized below are the changes in the total
liability for policy benefits and claims for the periods indicated (in thousands).
2016
Balance at beginning of year
Less: reinsurance recoverable
Net balance at beginning of year

$

245,443
65,362
180,081

Amount assumed

$

-

Amount incurred, related to:
Current year
Prior years
Total incurred
Amount paid, related to:
Current year
Prior years
Total paid
Net balance at end of year
Plus: reinsurance recoverable
Balance at end of year

2015

$

236,803
78,531
158,272

2014
$

10,343

237,754
72,772
164,982
-

155,044
(5,496)

294,390
(8,488)

303,973
(4,552)

149,548

285,902

299,421

78,159
121,210

169,488
104,948

192,001
114,130

199,369

274,436

306,131

130,260
88,853
219,113

180,081
65,362
245,443

158,272
78,531
236,803

$

$

Since unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses are estimates, actual losses incurred may be more
or less than the Company’s previously developed estimates and is referred to as either unfavorable or
favorable development, respectively. The overall net favorable development of $5,496,000 in 2016
related to prior years consists of favorable developments of $1,392,000 in the Specialty Health reserves,
$2,728,000 in the group disability reserves and $1,728,000 in the other individual life, annuities and other
reserves, partially offset by an unfavorable development of $352,000 in Medical Stop-Loss reserves. The
overall net favorable development of $8,488,000 in 2015 related to prior years consists of favorable
developments of $7,977,000 in the Specialty Health reserves and $4,464,000 in the group disability
reserves, partially offset by an unfavorable development of $3,628,000 in Medical Stop-Loss reserves and
$325,000 in other individual accident and health reserves. The overall net favorable development of
$4,552,000 in 2014 related to prior years consists of favorable developments of $3,830,000 in the group
disability reserves, $448,000 in other individual accident and health reserves and $378,000 in the
Specialty Health reserves partially offset by an unfavorable development of $104,000 in Medical StopLoss reserves.
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Specialty Health Segment
The following tables provide undiscounted information about net incurred and paid claims
development by accident year for significant short-duration contract liabilities for policy benefits and
claims in our Specialty Health segment. All amounts are shown net of reinsurance. In addition, the tables
present the total IBNR plus expected development on reported claims by accident year and the
cumulative number of reported claims (in thousands, except number of reported claims). Refer to Note 1
for information on the methods we use to estimate IBNR plus expected development, as well as changes
to those methodologies and assumptions. Five years of claims development data is presented for lines that
are included in our Specialty Health segment since a majority of the claims are fully developed in that
time. Certain information about incurred and paid claims is presented as supplementary information and
unaudited where indicated.
Specialty Health Segment –Claims Development
Incurred Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the years ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014
2015
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
2016

Accident
Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

$

96,634

97,949
180,649

98,250
181,454
146,060

98,379
180,595
140,139
104,497
Total

$

$

98,376
181,114
141,869
100,988
85,426
607,773

$

December 31, 2016
Incurred But
Cumulative
Not Reported
Number of
Plus Expected
Reported
Development
Claims
(Actual)
58
337,650
594
447,761
2,707
397,097
6,231
434,050
39,972
226,608

Specialty Health Segment –Claims Development
Cumulative Paid Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the years ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014
2015
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)

Accident
Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

$

70,746

97,138
131,801

98,008
179,023
103,064

98,180
179,750
134,557
70,090

Total

$

98,318
180,520
139,162
94,757
45,454

$

558,211

Outstanding policy benefits and claims payable before 2012, net of reinsurance
Total policy benefits and claims, net of reinsurance

2016

$

49,562

The claim frequency information consists of the count of claims submitted. Each claim was
counted as one claim whether or not multiple claim lines were submitted with that claim, and each claim
was counted whether or not it resulted in a liability. For those portions of business that did not have claim
records readily available, a reasonable count assumption was made based on a comparison to the known
records of a similar business type. Cumulative claim count information is not a precise tool for calculating
claim severity. Factors, such as changes in provider billing practices, the mix of services, benefit designs
or processing systems could impact this type of analysis. The Company does not necessarily use the
cumulative number of reported claims disclosed above in its claims analysis but has provided this
information to comply with new accounting standards.
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The following is required supplementary information about the average historical policy claims
duration for the Specialty Health segment as of December 31, 2016:
Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance (unaudited)

Specialty Health Segment

Year 1
68.0%

Year 2
24.9%

Year 3
1.5%

Year 4
0.3%

Year 5
0.1%

The liability for policy benefits and claims associated with the Company’s health insurance lines
are embedded within the Specialty Health segment. The table below summarizes the components of the
change in the liability for policy benefits and claims that are specific to the health insurance claims that
are included in our Specialty Health segment for the periods indicated (in thousands).

2016

Balance at beginning of year
Less: reinsurance recoverable
Net balance at beginning of year

$

23,425
1,362
22,063

Amount incurred, related to:
Current year
Prior years
Total incurred
Amount paid, related to:
Current year
Prior years
Total paid
Net balance at end of year
Plus: reinsurance recoverable
Balance at end of year

$

Specialty Health Segment
Health Insurance Claims
2015

2014

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

$

35,620
3,584
32,036

$

48,687
4,856
43,831

44,243
(4,702)

63,122
(8,410)

107,460
(600)

39,541

54,712

106,860

19,371
16,229

42,419
22,266

76,678
41,977

35,600

64,685

118,655

26,004
1,179
27,183

22,063
1,362
23,425

32,036
3,584
35,620

$

$

The liability for the IBNR plus expected development on reported claims associated with the
Company’s health insurance claims was $26,004,000 at December 31, 2016.
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Group Disability; Life and DBL Segment
The following tables provide undiscounted information about net incurred and paid claims
development by accident year for significant short-duration contract liabilities for policy benefits and
claims related to our DBL and group disability policy claims (in thousands). All amounts are shown net
of reinsurance. Refer to Note 1 for information on the methods we use to estimate IBNR plus expected
development, as well as changes to those methodologies.
One year of claims development data is presented for our DBL claim liabilities since claims are
developed in less than six months. The liability for IBNR plus expected development related to our DBL
business was $6,243,000 at December 31, 2016. The cumulative number of reported claims was
approximately 11,000 at December 31, 2016 and consists of the number of claims either paid or accrued.
Group disability; life and DBL Segment – DBL Claims Development
Incurred Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the year ended December 31,
Accident
Year

2016

2016

Total

$

19,812

Group disability; life and DBL Segment – DBL Claims Development
Cumulative Paid Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the year ended December 31,
Accident
Year

2016

2016

Total

$

13,569

Total policy benefits and claims, net of reinsurance

$

6,243

Seven years of undiscounted claims development data is presented for our group disability
contract liabilities (in thousands) and we will add one year going forward for each subsequent year until
we reach ten years of disclosure. In addition, total IBNR plus expected development on reported claims
by accident year is presented with the cumulative number of reported claims (in thousands, except
number of reported claims). Certain information about incurred and paid claims is presented as
supplementary information and unaudited where indicated.
Group disability; life and DBL Segment – Group Disability Claims Development

Accident
Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

2010
(unaudited)
$

12,329

Incurred Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the years ended December 31,
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
11,218
18,669

7,142
17,301
15,510

5,222
16,569
13,999
33,143

5,049
15,699
12,522
31,323
16,469

4,220
16,179
12,535
30,546
13,678
25,621
Total

123

2016
$

$

7,925
17,157
12,965
32,888
15,228
19,929
28,907
134,999

$

December 31, 2016
Incurred But
Cumulative
Not Reported
Number of
Plus Expected
Reported
Development
Claims
(Actual)
46
2,311
137
2,337
201
2,263
249
2,628
434
2,776
3,032
3,211
7,273
2,664

Group disability; life and DBL Segment – Group Disability Claims Development

Accident
Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

2010
(unaudited)
$

Cumulative Paid Claims and Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance
For the years ended December 31,
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)

3,288

8,456
3,463

10,135
8,544
3,222

10,700
10,025
7,294
5,645

11,135
10,613
8,367
13,032
3,818

2016

11,678
11,186
8,949
17,077
8,823
7,111

Total

$

12,219
11,847
9,377
20,246
10,355
14,715
8,790

$

87,549

Outstanding policy benefits and claims payable before 2010, net of reinsurance
Total policy benefits and claims, net of reinsurance

24,219
$

The incurred claims and claim adjustment expenses, net, for the 2013 accident year include the
acquisition of $15,384,000 of disability policy benefits and claims liabilities from a Receivership.
Claim frequency information consists of the count of unique claims where a benefit has been
paid, whether that benefit was paid for one month or multiple months. Any claims where a benefit has
not been paid are not in the count. Cumulative claim count information is not a precise tool for calculating
claim severity. Changes in reinsurance and other factors, such as those described in Note 1, could impact
this type of analysis with regards to our group disability business. The Company does not necessarily use
the cumulative number of reported claims disclosed above in its claims analysis but has provided this
information to comply with new accounting standards.
Unpaid claim liabilities related to our group disability policies is presented at present value. The
following is additional information on unpaid claims liabilities presented at present value (in thousands):
Carrying Value of
Unpaid Claim Liabilities
December 31,
2016
2015

Aggregate Amount
of Discount
December 31
2016
2015

(unaudited)

Group disability

$

60,194

$

47,604

(unaudited)

$

11,475

$

13,277

Discount rates for each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 ranged from 3% to 6%.
Insurance benefits, claims and reserves on the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, include the accretion of interest amounting to $1,571,000,
$1,451,000 and $1,556,000, respectively.
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71,669

The following is required supplementary information about the average historical claims duration
for our group disability business as of December 31, 2016:
Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance (unaudited)

Group disability

Year 1
20.2%

Year 2
23.5%

Year 3
7.9%

Year 4
4.2%

Year 5
2.5%

Year 6
3.1%

Year 7
3.4%

The following table reconciles the above disclosures of undiscounted net incurred and paid claims
development for significant short-duration contract liabilities to the liability for policy benefits and claims
on the consolidated balance sheet (in thousands).
December 31, 2016
Net outstanding balances:
Specialty Health Segment
DBL
Group disability
Other short-duration insurance lines

$

Policy benefits and claims, net of reinsurance

49,562
6,243
71,669
13,417
140,891

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid claims:
Specialty Health Segment
DBL
Group disability
Other short-duration insurance lines

1,358
932
27,414
52,971

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid claims

82,675

Insurance lines other than short-duration
Aggregate discount

7,022
(11,475)

Total policy benefit and claims

$
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219,113

Note 11.
(A)

Debt and Junior Subordinated Debt Securities
Debt

Outstanding debt, for the periods indicated, consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2016
2015
Term loan payable to bank
Other term loans
Line of credit

$

-

$

2,000
2,964
225

$

-

$

5,189

The Company made aggregate cash payments of $4,789,000 and $2,617,000 for the repayment
of debt during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The remaining $400,000 of
debt is included in other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2016.
(B)

Junior Subordinated Debt Issued to Trust Preferred Subsidiaries

At December 31, 2015, the Company had three statutory business trusts that were formed for the
purpose of issuing trust preferred securities, totaling $37,000,000, to institutional investors in pooled
issuances. Although the Company owned all of the trusts' common securities, it was not the primary
beneficiary and, therefore, the trusts were unconsolidated subsidiaries for financial reporting purposes. As
a result, the Company recorded liabilities of $38,146,000 for junior subordinated debt and assets of
$1,146,000 for the investments in trust subsidiaries (included in other investments on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheet) at December 31, 2015. The Company's subordinated debt securities, which
were the sole assets of the subsidiary trusts, were unsecured obligations of the Company and were
subordinate and junior in right of payment to all senior indebtedness of the Company. The Company
provided a full and unconditional guarantee of amounts due on the trust preferred securities. The terms of
the junior subordinated debt securities, including interest rates and maturities, were the same as the
related trust preferred securities.
In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company made aggregate cash payments of $38,146,000 to
redeem all of the outstanding junior subordinated debt securities at the redemption price of 100%.
Aggregate cash payments for interest on debt and junior subordinated debt securities totaled
$1,865,000, $1,738,000 and $1,804,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.
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Note 12.

Income Taxes

IHC and its subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return on a June 30 fiscal year.
Prior to January 15, 2013, AMIC and its subsidiaries filed a separate consolidated Federal income tax
return on a September 30 fiscal year. The provision for income tax expense (benefit) attributable to
income from continuing operations, as shown in the Consolidated Statements of Income, is as follows for
the years indicated (in thousands):
2016
CURRENT:
U.S. Federal
State and Local

$

DEFERRED:
U.S. Federal
State and Local

4,637
473
5,110

2015

$

4,390
55
4,445
$

9,555

14,278
1,012
15,290

2014

$

673
(59)
614
$

15,904

(58)
743
685

5,205
218
5,423
$

6,108

Taxes computed at the Federal statutory rate of 35% in 2016, 2015 and 2014, attributable to
pretax income, are reconciled to the Company's actual income tax expense as follows for the years
indicated (in thousands):
2016
Tax computed at the statutory rate
Dividends received deduction and tax
exempt interest
State and local income taxes, net of Federal effect
Subsidiary stock basis write-off
Health insurance excise tax
Health insurer compensation limit
AMIC valuation allowance adjustment
Other, net

$

Income tax expense

$

11,223

2015
$

(641)
331
(3,903)
146
594
1,805
9,555

15,357

2014
$

(796)
619
526
379
(181)
$

15,904

7,395
(1,384)
625
696
583
(1,881)
74

$

6,108

As a result of the dissolution of Health Plan Administrators, Inc. (“HPA”), a subsidiary of IHC,
tax benefits of approximately $3,903,000 were recognized for IHC’s unrecovered investment in HPA in
2016.
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Temporary differences between the Consolidated Financial Statement carrying amounts and tax
bases of assets and liabilities that give rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2016
and 2015 are summarized below (in thousands). The net deferred tax asset or liability is included in Other
Assets or Other Liabilities, as appropriate, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. IHC and its subsidiaries,
excluding AMIC and its subsidiaries, have certain tax-planning strategies that were used in determining
that a valuation allowance was not necessary on their deferred tax assets at December 31, 2016 or 2015.
The net deferred tax asset relative to AMIC and its subsidiaries included in other assets on IHC’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $15,427,000 and $13,944,000,
respectively.
2016
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS:
Unrealized losses on investment securities
Investment write-downs
Loss carryforwards
Insurance reserves
Other
Total gross deferred tax assets
Less AMIC valuation allowance

$

Net deferred tax assets
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES:
Deferred insurance policy acquisition costs
Insurance reserves
Goodwill and intangible assets
Other
Total gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax asset

$

3,851
596
50,735
4,322
59,504
(35,918)

2015
$

1,935
205
91,558
461
3,287
97,446
(74,087)

23,586

23,359

(114)
(4,947)
(5,274)
(4,097)

(111)
(4,180)
(6,119)
(3,213)

(14,432)

(13,623)

9,154

$

9,736

As of December 31, 2016, IHC and its non-life subsidiaries, excluding AMIC and its subsidiaries,
had NOL carryforwards arising from limitations on offsetting non-life insurance company losses against
life insurance company income. The non-life insurance company Federal NOL carryforwards amount to
approximately $432,000 at December 31, 2016, which expire in 2033.
At December 31, 2016, AMIC had Federal NOL carryforwards of approximately $144,525,000,
which expire in varying amounts through the year 2028, with a significant portion expiring in 2020.
As a result of the Risk Solutions Sale and Coinsurance Transaction (see Note 3), AMIC utilized
approximately $109,055,000 of its operating loss carryforwards. AMIC’s valuation allowance at
December 31, 2016 and 2015 was primarily related to net operating loss carryforwards that, in the
judgment of management, were not considered realizable.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the
period in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making
this assessment. Management believes that it is more likely than not that IHC and its subsidiaries,
including AMIC and its subsidiaries, will realize the benefits of these net deferred tax assets recorded at
December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2016, IHC and its subsidiaries, and AMIC and its subsidiaries,
believe there were no material uncertain tax positions that would require disclosure under U.S. GAAP.
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Interest expense and penalties for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are
insignificant. Tax years ending June 30, 2013 and forward are subject to examination by the Internal
Revenue Service.
Net cash payments (receipts) for income taxes were $12,585,000, $10,974,000 and $(2,448,000)
in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Note 13.

Stockholders’ Equity

Treasury Stock
In 1991, IHC initiated a program of repurchasing shares of its common stock. In August 2016, the
Board of Directors increased the number of shares that can be repurchased to 3,000,000 share of IHC
common stock. At December 31, 2016, there were 2,895,442 shares still authorized to be repurchased
under the plan authorized by the Board of Directors.
In the first quarter of 2017, the Company has repurchased 703,000 shares of its common stock in
private transactions for an aggregate cost of $13,975,000.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The components of other comprehensive income (loss) include the after-tax net unrealized gains
and losses on investment securities available-for-sale, including the subsequent increases and decreases in
fair value of available-for-sale securities previously impaired and the non-credit related component of
other-than-temporary impairments of fixed maturities.
Changes in the balances for each component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),
shown net of taxes, for the years indicated were as follows (in thousands):
2016
$

Beginning balance
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from accumulated OCI
Net other comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Other comprehensive loss attributable
to noncontrolling interests
Acquired from noncontrolling interests

$

Ending balance
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(3,440)

2015
$

22

2014
$

(10,472)

(1,582)
(1,926)
(3,508)

(256)
(3,206)
(3,462)

15,944
(5,251)
10,693

(118)
102

(5)
5

(199)
-

(6,964)

$

(3,440)

$

22

Presented below are the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) and recognized in earnings for each of the years indicated (in thousands):
2016
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities
reclassified during the period to the following income
statement line items:
Net realized investment gains
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings

$

Income before income tax
Tax effect

$

3,063
1,137

Net income

Note 14.

4,538
(1,475)

2015

$

1,926

5,202
(228)

2014

$

4,974
1,768
$

3,206

7,637
7,637
2,386

$

5,251

Share-Based Compensation

IHC and AMIC each have a share-based compensation plan. The following is a summary of the
activity pertaining to each of these plans.
(A) IHC Share-Based Compensation Plan
In November 2016, the stockholders approved the Independence Holding Company 2016 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan"). The 2016 Plan permits grants of options, SARs, restricted shares,
restricted share units, unrestricted shares, deferred share units and performance awards. Under the terms
of the 2016 Plan: (i) the exercise price of an option may not be less than the fair market value of an IHC
share on the grant date and the terms of an option may not exceed 10 years from the grant date; and (ii)
the exercise price of a SAR may not be less than the fair market value of an IHC share on the grant date
and SAR terms may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant.
The fair value of an option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. In general, the vesting period for an option grant is three years. Restricted share units are
valued at the quoted market price of the shares at the date of grant and generally vest over three years.
Compensation costs for options and restricted share units are recognized over the stated vesting periods
on a straight-line basis. The fair value of a SAR is calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model at
the grant date and each subsequent reporting period until settlement. Compensation cost is based on the
proportionate amount of the requisite service that has been rendered to date. Once fully vested, changes in
the fair value of a SAR continue to be recognized as compensation expense in the period of the change
until settlement.
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At December 31, 2016, there were 1,133,100 shares available for future stock-based
compensation grants under the 2016 Plan. The following table summarizes share-based compensation
expense, which is included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated
Statements of Income, applicable to the IHC plans (by award type) for each of the years indicated (in
thousands):
2016
IHC’s Share-based Compensation Plan:
Stock options
Restricted stock units
SARs

$

Share-based compensation expense, pre-tax
Tax benefits

181
83
435

2015
$

699
279

Share-based compensation expense, net

$

420

2014

55
89
13

$

157
63
$

669
85
14
768
306

94

$

462

Stock Options
The Company’s stock option activity during 2016 was as follows:
Shares
Under Option
December 31, 2015
Granted
Exercised
December 31, 2016

584,080
157,000
(43,900)
697,180

Weighted- Average
Exercise Price
$

$

9.35
19.95
9.09
11.75

The weighted average grant-date fair-value of options granted during the year ended December
31, 2016 was $2.65. No options were granted in 2015 or 2014. The assumptions set forth in the table
below were used to value the stock options granted during the period indicated:
2016
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate
Expected annual dividend rate per share
Expected volatility factor of the Company's common stock
Weighted-average expected term of options

1.87%
0.60%
12.95%
4.5 years

In 2016, option agreements affecting 13 employees were modified to extend the expirations of
their terms from 2017 to 2019 and as a result, the Company recorded incremental compensation costs of
$170,000. In 2016, IHC received $399,000 in cash from the exercise of stock options with an aggregate
intrinsic value of $416,000 and realized $104,000 of tax benefits. In 2015, IHC received $278,000 in cash
from the exercise of stock options with an aggregate intrinsic value of $132,000 and realized $22,000 of
tax benefits. In May 2014, option agreements affecting 15 employees were modified to extend the
expirations of their terms from 2015 to 2017 and as a result, the Company recorded incremental
compensation costs of $405,000.
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The following table summarizes information regarding options outstanding and exercisable:
December 31, 2016
Outstanding
Exercisable
Number of options
Weighted average exercise price per share
Aggregate intrinsic value for all options (in thousands)
Weighted average contractual term remaining

$
$

697,180
11.75
5,501
2.5 years

$
$

540,180
9.37
5,501
1.8 years

At December 31, 2016, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to IHC’s non-vested
stock options was $404,000 and it is expected to be recognized as compensation expense over a weighted
average period of 2.9 years.
Restricted Stock
The following table summarizes IHC’s restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31,
2016:
No. of
Non-vested
Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

December 31, 2015
Granted
Vested

14,850
9,900
(7,425)

$

12.26
19.15
12.24

December 31, 2016

17,325

$

16.20

IHC granted 9,900, 7,425 and 7,425 of restricted stock units during each of the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, with weighted-average grant-date fair values of $19.15,
$11.78 and $13.27 per share, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock units that vested in 2016,
2015 and 2014 was $120,000, $89,000 and $103,000, respectively.
At December 31, 2016, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted
stock unit awards was $235,000 which is expected to be recognized as compensation expense over a
weighted average period of 2.1 years.
SARs and Share-Based Performance Awards
IHC had 71,500 and 125,850 SAR awards outstanding at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. In 2016, 54,350 SARs were exercised with an aggregate intrinsic value of $449,000. In
2015, 11,000 SARs were exercised with an aggregate intrinsic value of $61,000. In 2014, 112,200 SARs
were exercised with an aggregate intrinsic value of $529,000; and 2,750 SARs were forfeited. Included in
Other Liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2016 and December 31,
2015 are liabilities of $876,000 and $743,000, respectively, pertaining to SARs.
(B) AMIC Share-Based Compensation Plans
As a result of a short-form merger discussed in Note 1 (B), AMIC’s 2009 Stock Incentive Plan
(“AMIC 2009 Plan”) was terminated. Under the terms of the AMIC 2009 Plan, prior to its termination,
option exercise prices were equal to the quoted market price of the shares at the date of grant; option
terms were a maximum of ten years; and vesting periods generally ranged from three to four years. The
fair value of an option award was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model.
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The following table summarizes AMIC’s share-based compensation expense, which is included
in selling, general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income, by award type
for each of the years indicated (in thousands):
2016
AMIC’s Share-based Compensation Plans:
Stock options

$

Share-based compensation expense, pre-tax
Tax benefits

2015

21

$

21
7

Share-based compensation expense, net

$

14

2014

43

$

43
15
$

52
52
18

28

$

34

Stock Options
AMIC’s stock option activity during 2016 was as follows:
Shares
Under Option
71,558
(30,446)
(41,112)
-

December 31, 2015
Exercised
Cancelled
December 31, 2016

Weighted- Average
Exercise Price
$

$

8.88
8.62
9.07
-

No options were granted in 2016 or 2015. The weighted average grant-date fair-value of options
granted during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $5.70. The assumptions set forth in the table below
were used to value the stock options granted during the period indicated:
2014
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate
Annual dividend rate per share
Weighted-average volatility factor of the Company's common stock
Weighted-average expected term of options

2.72%
38.27%
5 years

In 2016, AMIC received $262,000 in cash from the exercise of stock options with an aggregate
intrinsic value of $212,000. In connection with the short-form merger transaction discussed in Note 1 (B),
option agreements affecting 7 employees and directors were cancelled and as a result, the Company
recorded incremental compensation costs of $646,000. These costs were accounted for as part of the
equity transaction to take AMIC private. During 2015 and 2014, AMIC received $52,000 and $33,000 in
cash from the exercise of stock options with aggregate intrinsic values of $37,000 and $38,000.
Note 15.

Commitments and Contingencies

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are obligated under non-cancelable operating lease
agreements for office space. Total rental expense for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014 for operating leases
was $2,316,000, $3,088,000 and $3,214,000, respectively.
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The approximate minimum annual rental payments under operating leases that have remaining
non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2016 are as follows (in thousands):
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022 and thereafter

$

2,168
1,939
957
739
372
63

Total

$

6,238

We are involved in legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our
businesses. We have established reserves that we believe are sufficient given information presently
available relating to our outstanding legal proceedings and claims. We do not anticipate that the result of
any pending legal proceeding or claim will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
cash flows, although there could be such an effect on our results of operations for any particular period.
A third party administrator with whom we formerly did business (“Plaintiff”) filed a Complaint
dated May 17, 2017 in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division,
naming IHC, Madison National Life, Standard Security Life, and IHC Carrier Solutions, Inc. (collectively
referred to as “Defendants”). The Complaint concerns agreements entered into by Standard Security Life
and Madison National Life with Plaintiff, as well as other allegations made by Plaintiff against the
Defendants. The Complaint seeks injunctive relief and damages in an amount exceeding $50,000,000,
profit share payments allegedly owed to Plaintiff under the agreements totaling at least $3,082,000
through 2014, plus additional amounts for 2015 and 2016, and exemplary and punitive damages as
allowed by law and fees and costs. The Defendants have not yet been served, but if they are served they
intend to vigorously contest the claims, which we believe to be without merit. The Defendants will file
significant counterclaims against Plaintiff demanding reimbursement from the Plaintiff for damages and
expenses.
Note 16.

Concentration of Credit Risk

At December 31, 2016, the Company had no investment securities of any one issuer or in any one
industry which exceeded 10% of stockholders' equity, except for investments in obligations of the U.S.
Government and its agencies and mortgage-backed securities issued by GSEs, as summarized in Note 4.
Fixed maturities with a carrying value of $12,577,000 and $12,552,000 were on deposit with
various state insurance departments at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
At December 31, 2016, the Company had reinsurance recoverable from the following reinsurers
that individually exceed 10% of stockholders’ equity (in thousands):
AM Best
Rating

Reinsurer
National Guardian Life Insurance Company
Guggenheim Life and Annuity Company
Westport Insurance Corporation

AB++
A+

The Company believes that these receivables are fully collectible.
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Due from
Reinsurer
$

219,897
102,217
49,991

Note 17.

Dividend Payment Restrictions and Statutory Information

Our insurance subsidiaries are restricted by state laws and regulations as to the amount of
dividends they may pay to their parent without regulatory approval in any year. Any dividends in excess
of limits are deemed “extraordinary” and require approval. Based on statutory results as of December 31,
2016, in accordance with applicable dividend restrictions, our insurance subsidiaries could pay dividends
of approximately $24,801,000 in 2017 without obtaining regulatory approval. There are no regulatory
restrictions on the ability of our holding company, IHC, to pay dividends. Under Delaware law, IHC is
permitted to pay dividends from surplus or net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared
and/or the preceding fiscal year. Dividends to shareholders are paid from funds available at the corporate
holding company level.
In December 2016, regulatory approvals were received for the following “extraordinary”
dividend payments: (i) Madison National Life declared and paid an “extraordinary” dividend in the
amount of $10,546,000 to its parent; and (ii) Standard Security Life declared and paid an “extraordinary”
dividend in the amount of $60,000,000 to its parent.
Non-“extraordinary” dividend payments were as follows: (i) Madison National Life declared and
paid cash dividends of $5,290,000, $4,600,000 and $4,000,000 to its parent in 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively; (ii) Standard Security Life declared and paid dividends of $12,500,000, $6,000,000 and
$6,000,000 to its parent in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively; and (iii) Independence American did not
declare or pay dividends to its parent in 2016, 2015 or 2014. IHC declared cash dividends of $1,800,000
in 2016, $1,562,000 in 2015 and $1,223,000 in 2014.
The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are required to prepare statutory financial statements in
accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the insurance department of
their state of domicile. Statutory accounting practices differ from U.S. GAAP in several respects causing
differences in reported net income and stockholder’s equity. The Company’s insurance subsidiaries have
no permitted accounting practices, which encompass all accounting practices not so prescribed that have
been specifically allowed by the state insurance authorities.
The statutory net income and statutory capital and surplus for each of the Company’s insurance
subsidiaries are as follows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
2016
Statutory net income:
Madison National Life
Standard Security Life
Independence American

$

(1,615)
(10,480)
4,048

Years Ended December 31,
2015

$

20,326
13,198
2,960

$

2014

9,876
12,074
3,127

December 31,
2016
Statutory capital and surplus:
Madison National Life
Standard Security Life
Independence American

$

178,978
70,620
66,812

2015

$

116,652
125,070
63,412

The insurance subsidiaries are also required to maintain certain minimum amounts of statutory
surplus to satisfy their various state insurance departments of domicile. Risk-based capital (“RBC”)
requirements are designed to assess capital adequacy and to raise the level of protection that statutory
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surplus provides for policyholders. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the statutory capital of our insurance
subsidiaries is significantly in excess of their regulatory RBC requirements.
Note 18.

Segment Reporting

The Insurance Group principally engages in the life and health insurance business. Interest
expense, taxes, and general expenses associated with parent company activities are included in Corporate.
Identifiable assets by segment are those assets that are utilized in each segment and are allocated based
upon the mean reserves and liabilities of each such segment. Corporate assets are composed principally of
cash equivalents, resale agreements, fixed maturities, equity securities, partnership interests and certain
other investments.
Information by business segment is presented below for the years indicated (in thousands).
2016
Revenues:
Medical Stop-Loss (A)
Specialty Health
Group disability; life and DBL
Individual life, annuities and other
Corporate

Income from continuing operations before income taxes:
Medical Stop-Loss (A)
Specialty Health (B)
Group disability; life and DBL
Individual life, annuities and other(C)
Corporate

25,614
173,147
103,535
2,756
2,925
307,977
4,502
(1,475)

$

214,139
185,912
90,314
27,119
205
517,689
9,940
3,094
(228)

$

181,190
239,101
67,641
34,551
177
522,660
7,688
-

$

311,004

$

530,495

$

530,348

$

16,733
7,202
17,904
(2,540)
(8,727)
30,572
4,502
(1,475)
(1,534)

$

18,828
6,490
15,811
(122)
(8,137)
32,870
9,940
3,094
(228)
(1,798)

$

19,750
(1,987)
12,168
(6,618)
(8,075)
15,238
7,688
(1,797)

$

32,065

$

43,878

$

21,129

Gain on sale of subsidiary to joint venture
Net realized investment gains
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Interest expense
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
(A)

2014

$

Gain on sale of subsidiary to joint venture
Net realized investment gains
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Total revenues

2015

Substantially all of the business in the segment is coinsured. The current year’s activity primarily
reflects income or expenses related to the coinsurance and the run-off of any remaining blocks
that were not coinsured.

(B)

The Specialty Health segment includes amortization of intangible assets recorded as a result of
purchase accounting for previous acquisitions. Total amortization expense was $1,243,000,
$1,488,000 and $1,948,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
There is no amortization expense attributable to the other segments.

(C)

The Individual life, annuities and other segment includes amortization of deferred charges in
connection with the assumptions of certain ceded life and annuity policies amounting to
$2,340,000, $1,323,000 and $3,540,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.
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December 31,
2016
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS AT YEAR END
Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability; life and DBL
Individual life, annuities and other
Corporate

2015

$

200,026
172,275
243,421
363,119
155,623

$

291,330
159,826
268,606
436,941
41,260

$

1,134,464

$

1,197,963

The identifiable assets of the Medical Stop-loss segment include $0 and $12,931,000 of assets
attributable to discontinued operations at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Note 19.

Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The quarterly results of operations for the years indicated are summarized below (in thousands,
except per share data):
FIRST
QUARTER

SECOND
QUARTER

THIRD
QUARTER

FOURTH
QUARTER

2016
Total revenues

$

75,895

$

77,696

$

78,542

$

78,871

Income from continuing operations, net of tax
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Less income from noncontrolling interests
in subsidiaries

$

5,896
109,770
115,666

$

4,495
142
4,637

$

4,366
4,366

$

7,753
892
8,645

Net income attributable to IHC

$

106,010

$

4,436

$

4,323

$

8,529

$

.34
5.81
6.15

$

.25
.01
.26

$

.25
.00
.25

$

.45
.05
.50

.33
5.75
6.08

$

.25
.01
.26

$

.25
.00
.25

$

Basic income per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Basic income per common share
Diluted income per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Diluted income per common share

(9,656)

$

$
$

(201)

$

$

137

(43)

$

$

(116)

$

$

.44
.05
.49

FIRST
QUARTER

SECOND
QUARTER

THIRD
QUARTER

FOURTH
QUARTER

2015
Total revenues

$

133,105

$

133,015

$

139,773

$

124,602

Income from continuing operations, net of tax
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Less income from noncontrolling interests
in subsidiaries

$

4,701
630
5,331

$

5,222
(66)
5,156

$

14,159
729
14,888

$

3,892
1,255
5,147

Net income attributable to IHC

$

5,219

$

5,032

$

14,760

$

4,933

$

.27
.03
.30

$

.29
(.00)
.29

$

.81
.04
.85

$

.22
.07
.29

.27
.03
.30

$

.29
(.00)
.29

$

.81
.04
.85

$

Basic income per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Basic income per common share
Diluted income per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Diluted income per common share

Note 20.

(112)

$

$
$

(124)

$

$

(128)

$

$

(214)

$

$

Subsequent Events

In March 2017, the Company acquired 85% of the stock of PetPartners, Inc., a pet insurance
marketing and administration company, for a purchase price of $12,500,000, subject to certain closing
adjustments.
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.21
.07
.28

SCHEDULE I
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS – OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
DECEMBER 31, 2016
(In thousands)

TYPE OF INVESTMENT

COST

FIXED MATURITIES - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE:
Bonds:
United States Government and Government
agencies and authorities
States, municipalities and political subdivisions
Foreign governments
Public utilities
All other corporate bonds
Redeemable preferred stock

$

53,740
191,146
5,098
17,903
181,094
11,454

AMOUNT
SHOWN IN
BALANCE
SHEET

VALUE

$

53,012
186,811
4,954
17,657
175,951
11,102

$

53,012
186,811
4,954
17,657
175,951
11,102

460,435

449,487

449,487

EQUITY SECURITIES - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
AND TRADING:
Common stocks:
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other
Non-redeemable preferred stocks

2,612
3,588

2,382
3,543

2,382
3,543

TOTAL EQUITY SECURITIES

6,200

5,925

5,925

35,874
23,534

35,874
23,534

35,874
23,534

TOTAL FIXED MATURITIES

Short-term investments and resale agreements
Other long-term investments
$

TOTAL INVESTMENTS
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526,043

$

514,820 $

514,820

SCHEDULE II
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands, except share data)
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
DECEMBER 31,
2016
2015
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Trading securities
Fixed maturities, available-for-sale
Other investments, at cost
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries
Other assets
Assets attributable to discontinued operations (Note 3)
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Amounts due to consolidated subsidiaries, net
Income taxes payable
Junior subordinated debt securities
Dividends payable
Liabilities attributable to discontinued operations (Note 3)

$

3,667
3,500
48,819
425,677
408
-

$

512
620
24,549
1,146
355,799
359
13,037

$

482,071

$

396,022

$

8,732
28,697
4,236
1,082
68

$

8,182
12,417
3,674
38,146
809
90

42,815

63,318

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock (none issued)(A)
Common stock (B)
Paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, at cost (C)
Retained earnings

18,620
126,468
(6,964)
(17,483)
315,918

18,569
127,733
(3,440)
(13,961)
194,450

TOTAL IHC’S STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

436,559
2,697

323,351
9,353

TOTAL EQUITY

439,256

332,704

TOTAL LIABILITIES

$

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

482,071

$

396,022

(A) Preferred stock $1.00 par value, 100,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding.
(B) Common stock $1.00 par value, 23,000,000 shares authorized; 18,620,508 and 18,569,183 shares
issued, respectively, 17,102,525 and 17,265,758 shares outstanding, respectively.
(C) Treasury stock, at cost; 1,517,983 and 1,303,425 shares, respectively, outstanding.
The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only) should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II
(Continued)
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (In thousands)
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
2016
REVENUES:
Net investment income
Net realized investment losses
Other income

$

146
(121)
1,619

2015
$

112
(506)
1,800

2014
$

112
(78)
2,129

1,644

1,406

2,163

1,443
8,837

1,567
5,506

1,546
5,606

10,280

7,073

7,152

Loss from continuing operations before income tax benefits and
equity in net income from continuing operations of subsidiaries

(8,636)

(5,667)

(4,989)

Equity in net income from continuing operations of subsidiaries

28,843

32,118

17,564

Income from continuing operations before income tax benefits

20,207

26,451

12,575

Income tax (benefits)

(2,303)

(1,523)

(2,446)

Income from continuing operations, net of tax

22,510

27,974

15,021

Discontinued operations (Note 3):
Income from discontinued operations, before income taxes
Income taxes on discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

117,617
6,813
110,804

4,310
1,762
2,548

2,183
283
1,900

Net income

133,314

30,522

16,921

Less income from noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries

(10,016)

(578)

(628)

Net income attributable to IHC

123,298

29,944

16,293

133,314

30,522

16,921

114

(51)

16

(3,622)
(3,508)

(3,411)
(3,462)

10,677
10,693

129,806
(10,134)

27,060
(583)

27,614
(827)

EXPENSES:
Interest expense on debt
General and administrative expenses

Comprehensive Income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities
Equity in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale
securities of subsidiaries
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income, net of tax
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
$

Comprehensive income, net of tax, attributable to IHC

119,672

$

26,477

$

26,787

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only) should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE II
(Continued)
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
2016
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to net income:
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax
Equity in net income of subsidiaries, including discontinued operations
Other
Changes in other assets and liabilities

$

133,314

2015

$

30,522

2014

$

16,921

(110,337)
(28,843)
3,396
(1,939)

(34,698)
9,204
550

(19,521)
3,748
440

(4,409)

5,578

1,588

81,762
(3,501)
(94,850)
70,745
(2,995)

12,398
(20,857)
5,915
-

11,138
(9,953)
2,751
-

51,161

(2,544)

3,936

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchases of common stock
Cash paid in acquisitions of noncontrolling interests
Repayments of debt
Dividends paid
Other financing activities

(3,925)
(486)
(38,146)
(1,553)
513

(1,820)
-

(3,972)
-

(1,392)
301

(1,233)
9

Net change in cash from financing activities

(43,597)

(2,911)

(5,196)

3,155
512

123
389

328
61

Net change in cash from operating activities
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED BY)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Change in investments in and advances to subsidiaries
Net purchases of short-term investments
Purchases of fixed maturities
Sales of fixed maturities
Other investing activities
Net change in cash from investing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

3,667

$

512

$

389

The financial information of Independence Holding Company (Parent Company Only) should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE III
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
(in thousands)

DEFERRED
ACQUISITION
COSTS (1)
December 31, 2016
Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability; life
and DBL
Individual life, annuities
and other
Corporate

$

$
December 31, 2015
Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability; life
and DBL
Individual life, annuities
and other
Corporate

$

$
December 31, 2014
Medical Stop-Loss
Specialty Health
Group disability; life
and DBL
Individual life, annuities
and other
Corporate

$

$

(1)

(2)
(3)

FUTURE
POLICY
BENEFITS,
LOSSES &
CLAIMS

UNEARNED
PREMIUMS

NET
PREMIUMS
EARNED

NET
INVESTMENT
INCOME (2)

INSURANCE
BENEFITS,
CLAIMS &
RESERVES

AMORTIZATION
OF DEFERRED
ACQUISTION
COSTS (1)

SELLING
GENERAL &
ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSES (3)

NET
PREMIUMS
WRITTEN

-

54,760
50,943

6,320

12,070
154,397

1,700
3,272

10,427
81,215

-

(1,546)
84,730

$

-

137,428

3,305

96,190

6,469

52,245

-

33,386

96,454

-

341,181
584,312

161
9,786

47
262,704

2,255
2,874
16,570

1,344
145,231

-

3,952
11,652
132,174

46
262,903

-

100,088
42,165

7,005

209,765
171,912

4,374
1,813

153,919
93,916

-

41,392
85,506

-

141,837

3,060

85,953

3,699

47,646

-

26,857

86,304

-

405,327
689,417

171
10,236

11,904
479,534

7,146
205
17,237

11,697
307,178

-

15,544
8,342
177,641

11,901
479,701

-

80,128
50,767

6,568

176,941
218,949

4,249
2,202

122,469
146,431

-

38,971
94,657

-

147,823

2,700

64,260

3,156

37,537

-

17,936

64,632

-

421,908
700,626

187
9,455

18,898
479,048

11,830
177
21,614

19,598
326,035

-

21,571
8,252
181,387

18,894
476,311

$

$

$

$

$

12,070
154,333

209,765
171,731

176,941
215,844

In 2015, the Company ceded substantially all of its individual life and annuity policy blocks in run-off and as a result, the remaining balance of deferred acquisition costs is insignificant
at December 31, 2015 and 2016 and is included in other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2014, the Company had $30,806,000 of deferred
acquisition costs on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. Amortization of deferred acquisition costs was $319,000, $3,524,000 and $4,941,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively, and is included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income for those periods.
Net investment income is allocated between product lines based on the mean reserve method.
Where possible, direct operating expenses are specifically identified and charged to product lines. Indirect expenses are allocated based on time studies; however, other acceptable
methods of allocation might produce different results.

143

SCHEDULE IV
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY
REINSURANCE
(In thousands)

ASSUMED
FROM OTHER
COMPANIES

GROSS
AMOUNT

CEDED
TO OTHER
COMPANIES

NET
AMOUNT

PERCENTAGE
OF AMOUNT
ASSUMED
TO NET

Life Insurance In-Force:
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2014

$
$
$

12,466,127
12,063,911
11,054,484

$
$
$

7,848
129,231
418,775

$
$
$

6,303,742
6,365,993
6,128,608

$
$
$

6,170,233
5,827,149
5,344,651

0.1%
2.2%
7.8%

$

461,467
57,938
40,697
560,102

$

19,744
1,595
21,339

$

276,392
42,078
267
318,737

$

204,819
17,455
40,430
262,704

9.6%
9.1%
0.0%
8.1%

513,814
46,699
35,812
596,325

$

28,822
4,330
33,152

$

126,613
23,078
252
149,943

$

416,023
27,951
35,560
479,534

6.9%
15.5%
0.0%
6.9%

482,511
44,407
30,477
557,395

$

52,063
6,128
58,191

$

116,163
20,214
161
136,538

$

418,411
30,321
30,316
479,048

12.4%
20.2%
0.0%
12.1%

Premiums Earned:
December 31, 2016
Accident and health
Life and annuity
Property and liability (1)

$
December 31, 2015
Accident and health
Life and annuity
Property and liability (1)

$

$
December 31, 2014
Accident and health
Life and annuity
Property and liability (1)

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

(1) Property and liability products consist primarily of our pet and liability portion of our occupational accident insurance
lines.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Number
3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Independence Holding Company (Filed as Exhibit 3(i) to
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996 and incorporated herein
by reference).

3.2

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Independence Holding
Company (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 29,
2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.3

By-Laws of Independence Holding Company (Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference), as amended
by Amendment to By-Laws of Independence Holding Company (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.1

Officer Employment Agreement, made as of April 18, 2011, by and among Independence
Holding Company, Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York and Mr. David T.
Kettig (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 22,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.2

Officer Employment Agreement, made as of April 18, 2011, by and among Independence
Holding Company, Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. and Mr. Larry R. Graber
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 22, 2011
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.3

Officer Employment Agreement, made as of April 18, 2011, by and between Independence
Holding Company and Ms. Teresa A. Herbert (Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.4

Officer Employment Agreement, made as of May 11, 2011, by and between Independence
Holding Company and Mr. Roy T.K. Thung (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2011 that was filed with the SEC on May 12, 2011,
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5

Officer Employment Agreement, by and among Independence Holding Company, IHC Risk
Solutions, LLC and Mr. Michael A. Kemp, dated as of May 22, 2012 (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 29, 2012, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.6

Retirement Benefit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 1991, between Independence Holding
Company and Mr. Roy T.K. Thung, as amended. (Filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference;
Amendment No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(4a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference; Amendment No. 2 filed as
Exhibit 10(iii)(4)(b) to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 22, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference; Amendment No. 3 filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.7

Purchase Agreement, made and entered into on June 15, 2015, by and among Madison National
Life Insurance Company, Inc., Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York and
National Guardian Life Insurance Company (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on June 16, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.8

Sale Bonus Agreement, dated November 7, 2016, by and between Independence American
Holdings Corp. and David T. Kettig (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.9

Officer Employment Agreement, made as of May 25, 2011, by and among Independence Holding
Company, Standard Security Life and Mr. Gary J. Balzofiore. *

21

Subsidiaries of Independence Holding Company, as of December 31, 2016.*

23.1

Consent of RSM US LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.*

23.2

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.*

31.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and President Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

31.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. *

32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document. *

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. *

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. *

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. *

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. *

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. *

* Filed herewith.
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EXHIBIT 21
INDEPENDENCE HOLDING COMPANY

Subsidiary

Jurisdiction

Independence Capital Corp.
Standard Security Life Insurance Company of New York
IHC Health Holdings Corp.
IHC Administrative Services, Inc.
IHC Carrier Solutions, Inc.
Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc.
Madison Investors Corporation
AMIC Holdings, Inc.
Independence American Holdings Corp.
Independence American Insurance Company
HealthInsurance.org, LLC
IHC SB Holdings, LLC
IHC Specialty Benefits, Inc.
Global Accident Facilities, LLC
Cook & Company Insurance Services, Inc.
Madison Standard Corp.
Independence Preferred Trust I
Independence Preferred Trust III

Delaware
New York
Delaware
Arizona
Delaware
Wisconsin
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Massachusetts
Wisconsin
Delaware
Delaware
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Independence Holding Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-3 (No. 333134424) and Forms S-8 (No. 33-23302, 333-117792, 333-118388, and 333-135070) of Independence
Holding Company of our report dated May 22, 2017, relating to the consolidated financial statements and
the financial statement schedules of Independence Holding Company, and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Independence Holding Company, appearing in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Independence Holding Company for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Our report dated May 22, 2017, on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2016, expressed an opinion that Independence Holding Company had not maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting for income taxes as of December 31, 2016, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013.

/s/ RSM US LLP
Jacksonville, Florida
May 22, 2017
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EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Independence Holding Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements Form S-3 (No. 333-134424)
and Forms S-8 (No. 33-23302, 333-117792, 333-118388 and 333-135070) of Independence Holding
Company of our report dated June 3, 2016, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of
Independence Holding Company as of December 31, 2015, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2015, and all related financial statement schedules,
which report appears in the December 31, 2016 annual report on Form 10-K of Independence Holding
Company.
Our report refers to our audit of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and for the
two years then ended before the effects of the adjustments to retrospectively reflect discontinued
operations disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. We were not engaged to audit,
review or apply any procedures to the adjustments to retrospectively reflect discontinued operations
discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
/s/ KPMG LLP
New York, New York
May 22, 2017
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRESIDENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
I, Roy T. K. Thung certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Independence Holding Company;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 22, 2017

/s/ Roy T. K. Thung
Roy T. K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer and President
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
I, Teresa A. Herbert, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Independence Holding Company;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 22, 2017

/s/ Teresa A. Herbert
Teresa A Herbert
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Independence Holding Company (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on the date hereof (the "Report"),
I, Roy T. K. Thung, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

May 22, 2017

/s/ Roy T. K. Thung *
Roy T. K. Thung
Chief Executive Officer and President

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Independence Holding Company (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on the date hereof (the "Report"),
I, Teresa A. Herbert, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

May 22, 2017

/s/ Teresa A. Herbert *
Teresa A. Herbert
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

* A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Transfer Agent
Please direct communications regarding individual stock records and address changes to: Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions,
P.O. Box 1342, Brentwood, NY 11717 (website: www.shareholder.broadridge.com). You can also call our transfer agent at (844)
898-7017.
Investor Relations
Securities analysts and investors should contact Investor Relations by writing to the Company’s headquarters or by calling
(646) 509-2107.
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
RSM US LLP, One South Wacker Drive, Suite 800, Chicago, IL 60606.
Corporate Headquarters
Our corporate headquarters is located at 96 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, CT 06902.
Corporate Governance
The Company maintains a website at www.ihcgroup.com. Visitors to the Company website can view and print copies of the
Company’s SEC filings, including Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, as soon as reasonably practicable after those filings are made with
the SEC. Copies of the charters for the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee, and the Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Ethics and Corporate Code of Conduct are all available on the Company’s website.
Alternatively, shareholders may obtain, without charge, copies of all of these documents, as well as additional copies of this report,
by writing to Investor Relations at the Company’s headquarters. Please note that the information contained on the Company’s
website is not incorporated by reference in, or considered to be a part of, this document.
Management Certifications
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided certifications to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which certifications are included in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. As required by the New York Stock
Exchange (the “NYSE”) regulations, in December 2016, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer submitted to the NYSE his annual
CEO certification regarding the Company’s compliance with the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards, without
qualification.
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